One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300
St. Louis, Missouri 63141
(314) 994-2700
March 20, 2006
To Our Stockholders:

You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Arch
Coal, Inc. which will be held at our headquarters at CityPlace One, One CityPlace
Drive, St. Louis, Missouri, in the lower level auditorium, on Thursday, April 27, 2006,
at 10:00 a.m, local time. The formal Notice of the Annual Meeting, the Proxy
Statement and a proxy card accompany this letter. Our Annual Report for 2005 is
contained in this document and begins on page II-1.
We hope that you will be present at the meeting. Whether or not you plan to
attend, please cast your vote by telephone or on the Internet, or complete, sign and
return the enclosed proxy card in the postage-prepaid envelope, also enclosed. The
prompt execution of your proxy will be greatly appreciated.

Sincerely yours,

JAMES R. BOYD
Chairman of the Board

STEVEN F. LEER
President and Chief Executive Officer

One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300
St. Louis, Missouri 63141
(314) 994-2700

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
DATE:

Thursday, April 27, 2006

TIME:

10:00 a.m., St. Louis time

PLACE:

CityPlace One
One CityPlace Drive
Lower Level Auditorium
St. Louis, Missouri 63141

Matters to be voted on:
) Election of five directors
) Approval of an amendment to our certificate of incorporation to increase our authorized shares
) Any other matters if properly raised
Only stockholders of record at the close of business on March 1, 2006 may vote at the meeting.
Your vote is important. Whether you plan to attend the annual meeting or not, please cast your vote by
phone or on the Internet, or complete, date and sign your proxy card and return it in the envelope
provided. If you attend the meeting and prefer to vote in person, you may do so even if you have
previously voted by proxy. Directions to the annual meeting are on page I-33 of the proxy statement.
It is our policy that all proxies, ballots and vote tabulations that identify the vote of any stockholder
will be kept strictly confidential until after a final vote is tabulated and announced, except in extremely
limited circumstances. Such limited circumstances include contested solicitation of proxies, when
disclosure is required by law, to defend a claim against us or to assert a claim by us, and when a
stockholder’s written comments appear on a proxy or other voting material.

ROBERT G. JONES
Vice President — Law, General Counsel and Secretary
March 20, 2006
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PART I.

PROXY STATEMENT FOR THE ARCH COAL, INC. 2006 ANNUAL MEETING OF
STOCKHOLDERS
INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING

Why Am I Receiving These Proxy Materials?
Our Board of Directors is soliciting proxies to be voted at the 2006 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders. This proxy statement includes information about the issues to be voted upon at the
meeting.
On March 20, 2006, we began mailing these proxy materials to all stockholders of record at the
close of business on March 1, 2006. On March 1, 2006, there were 71,383,765 shares of our common
stock outstanding. As required by Delaware law, a list of stockholders entitled to vote at the annual
meeting will be available at the annual meeting and for 10 days prior to the meeting, during normal
business hours, at our offices, One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300, St. Louis, Missouri 63141.
Where And When Is The Annual Meeting?
The Annual Meeting of Stockholders will take place on April 27, 2006 in the Lower
Level Auditorium at our headquarters, located at CityPlace One, One CityPlace Drive, St. Louis,
Missouri 63141. The meeting will begin at 10:00 a.m., St. Louis time.
What Am I Voting on?
We are aware of two items to be voted on by stockholders at the annual meeting:
) Election of five directors: Frank M. Burke, John W. Eaves, Patricia F. Godley, Thomas A.
Lockhart and Wesley M. Taylor.
) Approval of an amendment to our certificate of incorporation to increase our authorized shares.
How Many Votes Do I Have?
You have one vote for each share of our common stock that you owned at the close of business on
March 1, 2006, the record date. These shares include:
) Shares held directly in your name as the ‘‘stockholder of record;’’
) Shares held for you as the beneficial owner through a broker, bank, or other nominee in ‘‘street
name;’’ and
) Shares credited to your account in the Arch Coal, Inc. Employee Thrift Plan or the Mingo Logan
Savings Plan.
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If I Am a Stockholder of Record, How Can I Vote My Shares?
You can vote by proxy or in person.
How Do I Vote by Proxy?
If you are a stockholder of record, you may vote your proxy by telephone, Internet, or mail. Our
telephone and Internet voting procedures are designed to authenticate stockholders by using individual
control numbers. Voting by telephone or Internet will help us reduce costs.
) Voting Your Proxy by Telephone
In the U.S. and Canada, you can vote your shares by telephone by calling the toll-free telephone
number on your proxy card. Telephone voting is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, up
through the day before the meeting. Easy-to-follow voice prompts allow you to vote your shares
and confirm that your instructions have been properly recorded. If you vote by telephone, you do
not need to return your proxy card.
) Voting Your Proxy By Internet
You can also choose to vote via the Internet. The web site for Internet voting is on your proxy
card. Internet voting is also available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, up through the day before
the meeting. If you vote via the Internet, you do not need to return your proxy card.
) Voting Your Proxy By Mail
If you choose to vote by mail, simply mark your proxy card, date and sign it, and return it in the
postage-paid envelope provided.
If you vote by proxy using any of these three methods, the persons named on the card (your
‘‘proxies’’) will vote your shares in the manner you indicate. You may specify whether your shares should
be voted for all, some, or none of the nominees for director. If you vote by telephone or Internet and
choose to vote with the recommendation of our board of directors, or if you vote by mail, sign your
proxy card, and do not indicate specific choices, your shares will be voted ‘‘FOR’’ the election of all five
nominees for director and ‘‘FOR’’ the approval of the amendment to our certificate of incorporation to
increase our authorized shares.
If any other matter is presented, your proxies will vote in accordance with their best judgment. At
the time this proxy statement went to press, we knew of no matters that needed to be acted on at the
annual meeting other than those discussed in this proxy statement.
If you wish to give a proxy to someone other than the persons named on the enclosed proxy card,
you may strike out the names appearing on the card and write in the name of any other person, sign the
proxy, and deliver it to the person whose name has been substituted.
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May I Revoke My Proxy?
If you give a proxy, you may revoke it in any one of three ways:
) Submit a valid, later-dated proxy;
) Notify our Secretary in writing before the annual meeting that you have revoked your proxy; or
) Vote in person at the annual meeting.
How Do I Vote in Person?
If you are a stockholder of record, you may cast your vote in person at the annual meeting.
If I Hold Shares in Street Name, How Can I Vote My Shares?
You can submit voting instructions to your broker or nominee. In most instances, you will be able
to do this over the Internet, by telephone, or by mail. Please refer to the voting instruction card included
in these materials by your broker or nominee.
How Do I Vote My Shares Held in the Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase and Sale
Plan?
If you are a participant in the Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase and Sale Plan,
your proxy will also serve as an instruction to vote the whole shares you hold under this plan in the
manner indicated on the proxy. If your proxy is not received, your shares held in the plan will not be
voted.
How Do I Vote My Shares Held in the Employee Thrift Plan or the Mingo Logan Savings Plan?
If you are both a registered stockholder and a participant in our Employee Thrift Plan or the Mingo
Logan Savings Plan, you will receive a single proxy card that covers shares of our common stock credited
to your plan account as well as shares of record registered in exactly the same name. Accordingly, your
proxy card also serves as a voting instruction for the trustee of the plan. If your plan account is not
carried in exactly the same name as your shares of record, you will receive separate proxy cards for
individual and plan holdings. If you own shares through one of these plans and you do not return your
proxy by Monday, April 17, 2006, the trustee will vote your shares in the same proportion as the shares
that are voted by the other participants in the plan. The trustee will also vote unallocated shares of our
common stock held in the plan in direct proportion to the voting of allocated shares in the plan for
which voting instructions have been received unless doing so would be inconsistent with the trustee’s
duties.
Is My Vote Confidential?
Yes. Voting tabulations are confidential except in extremely limited circumstances. Such limited
circumstances include contested solicitation of proxies, when disclosure is required by law, to defend a
claim against us or to assert a claim by us, and when a stockholder’s written comments appear on a
proxy or other voting material.
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What Vote Is Required to Approve Each Proposal?
Election of five directors (Proxy Item No. 1)
The nominees who receive the most votes for the
available positions will be elected. If you indicate
‘‘withhold authority to vote’’ for a particular
nominee on your proxy card, your vote will not
count either ‘‘for’’ or ‘‘against’’ the nominee
Approval of the amendment to our certificate of
The affirmative vote of not less than two-thirds of
incorporation to increase our authorized shares
the shares present in person or by proxy at the
(Proxy Item No. 2)
annual meeting is required to approve the
amendment to our certificate of incorporation. If
you ‘‘abstain’’ from voting, it will have the same
effect as if you voted ‘‘against’’ this proposal
In order to have a valid stockholder vote, a stockholder quorum must exist at the annual meeting. A
quorum will exist when stockholders holding a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock
are present at the meeting, either in person or by proxy.
If a broker indicates on its proxy that it does not have authority to vote certain shares held in ‘‘street
name’’ on particular proposals, the shares not voted (‘‘broker non-votes’’) will have no effect on the
proposals. Broker non-votes occur when brokers do not have discretionary voting authority on certain
proposals under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange and the beneficial owner has not instructed
the broker how to vote on these proposals.
Who is Paying for the Costs of Soliciting These Proxies?
We are paying the cost of preparing, printing, and mailing these proxy materials. We will reimburse
banks, brokerage firms, and others for their reasonable expenses in forwarding proxy materials to
beneficial owners and obtaining their instructions. A few of our officers and employees may also
participate in the solicitation, without additional compensation, by telephone, e-mail or other electronic
means or in person.
Where Can I Find the Voting Results of the Meeting?
We intend to announce preliminary voting results at the meeting. We will publish the final results in
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the first quarter of 2006, which we expect to file on or before
May 10, 2006. You can obtain a copy of the Form 10-Q by logging on to our website at archcoal.com,
by calling the Securities and Exchange Commission at (800) SEC-0330 for the location of the nearest
public reference room, or through the EDGAR system at sec.gov. Our website does not constitute part of
this proxy statement.
How Can I Reduce the Number of Copies of Proxy Materials Delivered to My Household?
Securities and Exchange Commission rules allow delivery of a single annual report and proxy
statement to households at which two or more stockholders reside. Accordingly, stockholders sharing an
address who have been previously notified by their broker or its intermediary will receive only one copy
of the annual report and proxy statement, unless the stockholder has provided contrary instructions.
Individual proxy cards or voting instruction forms (or electronic voting facilities) will, however, continue
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to be provided for each stockholder account. This procedure, known as ‘‘householding,’’ reduces the
volume of duplicate information you receive, as well as our expenses. If your family has multiple
accounts, you may have received householding notification from your broker earlier this year and,
consequently, you may receive only one annual report and proxy statement. If you prefer to receive
separate copies of our annual report and proxy statement, either now or in the future, we will promptly
deliver, upon your written or oral request, a separate copy of the annual report and proxy statement, as
requested, to any stockholder at your address to which a single copy was delivered. Notice should be
given to us by mail at One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300, St. Louis, Missouri 63141, attention: Vice
President — Law, General Counsel and Secretary, or by telephone at (314) 994-2700. If you are currently
a stockholder sharing an address with another stockholder and wish to have only one annual report and
proxy statement delivered to the household in the future, please contact us at the same address and
telephone number.
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ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
(PROXY ITEM NO. 1)
Corporate Governance
We are dedicated to being a market-driven global leader in the coal industry and to creating superior
long-term stockholder value. It is our policy to conduct our business with integrity and an unrelenting
passion for providing the best value to our customers. The board of directors’ Corporate Governance
Guidelines, which include guidelines for determining director independence and qualifications for
directors, are enclosed with this proxy statement as Exhibit A. All of our corporate governance materials,
including the corporate governance guidelines and board committee charters, are published under
‘‘Corporate Governance’’ in the Investors section of our website at archcoal.com. These materials are also
available in print to any stockholder upon request. The board continually reviews these guidelines,
Delaware law, the rules and listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange and SEC regulations, as
well as best practices suggested by recognized governance authorities and modifies the corporate
governance guidelines, committee charters and key principles as warranted. Any modifications are
reflected on our website.
On February 23, 2006, as part of its succession planning process and upon the recommendation of
the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, our board of directors elected Steven F. Leer as
chairman of the board of directors, effective April 28, 2006. Mr. Leer will continue to act as our
president and chief executive officer until April 28, 2006, at which time he will assume the
responsibilities of chairman of the board and chief executive officer. In connection with Mr. Leer’s
election, our board of directors also approved certain revisions to its Corporate Governance Guidelines
designating the chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee to serve as lead
director when the board of directors meets in executive session and to serve as the primary contact for
other directors or stockholders who have questions or concerns regarding management. The board of
directors has also appointed James R. Boyd, the current chairman of the board of directors, as chairman
of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, effective April 28, 2006.
Independent Directors
It is the board of director’s objective to have an overwhelming majority of directors who are
independent. The board of directors has determined, in its judgment, that nine of the eleven members of
the board of directors meet the New York Stock Exchange standard for independence. Other than John
W. Eaves and Steven F. Leer, who are executive officers, each of the other members of our board of
directors satisfies the independence standards in the corporate governance guidelines. The independent
members of the board meet regularly without any members of management present. Such sessions are
normally held following or in conjunction with regular board meetings. Mr. James R. Boyd, chairman of
the board of directors, serves as the presiding director at such executive sessions. When Mr. Leer becomes
our chairman of the board on April 28, 2006, Mr. Boyd, as chairman of the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee and as lead director, will serve as presiding director at such sessions.
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All members of our Audit, Nominating and Corporate Governance and Personnel and
Compensation committees must be independent directors as defined by our corporate governance
guidelines. Members of the Audit Committee must also satisfy a separate Securities and Exchange
Commission independence requirement, which provides that they may not accept directly or indirectly
any consulting, advisory or other compensatory fee from us or any of our subsidiaries other than their
directors’ compensation.
Code of Ethics
All of our officers and employees must act ethically at all times and in accordance with the policies
comprising our code of conduct, which is published under ‘‘Corporate Governance’’ in the Investors
section of our website at archcoal.com and available in print to any stockholder upon request. We intend
to post amendments to or waivers from (to the extent applicable to an executive officer of the company)
the code on our website.
Communicating with the Board
Our board of directors has established procedures to enable anyone who has a concern about our
conduct, or any employee who has a concern about our accounting, internal accounting controls or
auditing matters, to communicate that concern directly to the board of directors, to the non-employee
directors or to the Audit Committee. Such communications may be confidential or anonymous, and may
be reported by phone to our confidential hotline at 1-866-519-1881 or by writing to the individual
directors or group in care of Arch Coal, Inc., One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300, St. Louis, Missouri 63141,
Attention: Vice President — Law, General Counsel and Secretary. All such communications are promptly
communicated to our Director of Internal Audit and the Chairman of the Audit Committee. It is our
policy not to take any disciplinary or other retaliatory action against any employee for raising or helping
to resolve an integrity concern.
Structure of the Board
Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provide for a board of directors that is divided into three
classes as equal in size as possible. The classes have three-year terms, and the term of one class expires
each year in rotation at that year’s annual meeting. The size of the board can be changed by a two-thirds
vote of the entire board and is currently set at eleven members. Vacancies on the board may be filled by
a majority of the remaining directors. A director elected by the board to fill a vacancy, or a new
directorship created by an increase in the size of the board, serves for the remainder of the full term of
the class of directors in which the vacancy or newly created directorship occurred. As a matter of policy,
the board will submit the nomination of a director elected to fill a vacancy to the vote of our
stockholders at the next annual meeting.
In July 2005, our board of directors increased the size of our board of directors to ten and elected
Wesley M. Taylor to fill the vacancy created by the increase. In searching for a new director, the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee retained an executive search firm to identify potential
I-7

candidates meeting certain qualifications. The executive search firm then prepared a list of potential
candidates and reviewed that list with the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. After
interviewing several candidates, including Mr. Taylor, the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee recommended to the full board that Mr. Taylor be invited to join. Mr. Perry then contacted
Mr. Taylor to extend an invitation to join the board.
In February 2006, as part of its succession planning process and upon the recommendation of the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, our board of directors increased the size of our
board of directors to eleven and elected John W. Eaves to fill the vacancy created by the increase.
Our board of directors has nominated four individuals for election as directors for a three-year term
that will expire in 2009: Frank M. Burke, Patricia F. Godley, Thomas A. Lockhart and Wesley M.
Taylor. In addition, our board of directors has nominated John W. Eaves for election as a director for a
two-year term that will expire in 2008. All nominees are currently serving as directors.
The board is not aware that any nominee named in this proxy statement will be unwilling or unable
to serve as a director. All nominees have consented to be named in the proxy statement and to serve if
elected. If, however, a nominee is unavailable for election, your proxy authorizes us to vote for a
replacement nominee if the board names one. As an alternative, the board may reduce the number of
directors to be elected at the meeting. Proxies may not be voted for a greater number of persons than the
nominees identified below.
Nominees for a Three-Year Term That Will Expire in 2009
Frank M. Burke, 66, has been a director of Arch Coal since September 2000. He has served as
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Managing General Partner of Burke, Mayborn Company, Ltd., a
private investment and consulting company since 1984. Mr. Burke is also a director of Crosstex Energy
GP, LLC (general partner of Crosstex Energy, L.P.), and Crosstex Energy, Inc., and is a member of the
National Petroleum Council.
Patricia F. Godley, 57, has been a director of Arch Coal since 2004. Since 1998, Ms. Godley has
been a partner with the law firm of Van Ness Feldman in Washington, D.C., practicing in the areas of
economic and environmental regulation of electric utilities and natural gas companies. From 1994 until
1998, Ms. Godley served as the Assistant Secretary for Fossil Energy at the U.S. Department of Energy.
Ms. Godley is also a director of the United States Energy Association.
Thomas A. Lockhart, 70, has been a director of Arch Coal since February 2003 and a member of the
Wyoming State House of Representatives since 2000. Mr. Lockhart worked for PacifiCorp, an electric
utility, for over 30 years and retired in 1998 as a Vice President. Mr. Lockhart is also a director of First
Interstate Bank of Casper, Wyoming and Blue Cross Blue Shield of Wyoming.
Wesley M. Taylor, 63, has been a director of Arch Coal since July 2005. Mr. Taylor was President of
TXU Generation, a company engaged in electricity infrastructure ownership and management. Mr. Taylor
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served for 38 years at TXU prior to his retirement in 2004. Mr. Taylor is also a director of FirstEnergy
Corporation.
Nominee for a Two-Year Term That Will Expire in 2008
John W. Eaves, 47, has been our Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer since
December 2002. Mr. Eaves has been a director of Arch Coal since February 2006. From February 2000
to December 2002, Mr. Eaves served as our Senior Vice President — Marketing and from September
1995 to December 2002 as President of our Arch Coal Sales Company, Inc. subsidiary. Mr. Eaves also
served as our Vice President — Marketing from July 1997 through February 2000. Mr. Eaves serves on
the board of directors of ADA-ES, Inc.

Your board of directors recommends a vote ‘‘For’’ these nominees.
Directors Whose Terms Will Expire in 2007
Steven F. Leer, 53, has been President and Chief Executive Officer and a director of Arch Coal since
1992. He also serves on the boards of the Norfolk Southern Corporation, USG Corp., the Western
Business Roundtable and the University of the Pacific. Mr. Leer is past chairman and continues to serve
on the boards of the Center for Energy and Economic Development, the National Coal Council and the
National Mining Association.
Robert G. Potter, 66, has been a director of Arch Coal since April 2001. Mr. Potter was Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of Solutia Inc., a producer and marketer of a variety of high performance
chemical-based materials, from 1997 to his retirement in 1999. Mr. Potter served for 32 years with
Monsanto Company prior to its spin-off of Solutia in 1997, most recently as the Chief Executive of its
chemical businesses. Mr. Potter is a private investor and Director of Stepan Company.
Theodore D. Sands, 60, has been a director of Arch Coal since 1999 and, since February 1999, has
served as President of HAAS Capital, LLC, a private consulting and investment company. Mr. Sands is
also a director of Protein Sciences Corporation and Terra Nitrogen Corporation. Mr. Sands served as
Managing Director, Investment Banking for the Global Metals /Mining Group of Merrill Lynch & Co.
from 1982 until February 1999.
Directors Whose Terms Will Expire in 2008
James R. Boyd, 59, Chairman of the Board, has been a director of Arch Coal since 1990. He served
as Senior Vice President and Group Operating Officer of Ashland Inc., a multi-industry company with
operations in chemicals, motor oil, car care products and highway construction, from 1989 until his
retirement in January 2002. Mr. Boyd is also a director of The Farmers Bank Corp. Inc.
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Douglas H. Hunt, 52, has been a director of Arch Coal since 1995 and, since May 1995, has served
as Director of Acquisitions of Petro-Hunt, LLC, a private oil and gas exploration and production
company.
A. Michael Perry, 69, has been a director of Arch Coal since 1998. He served as Chairman of Bank
One, West Virginia, N.A. from 1993 and as its Chief Executive Officer from 1983 to his retirement in
June 2001. Mr. Perry is also a director of Champion Industries, Inc., and Portec Rail Products, Inc.
Board Meetings and Committees
The board of directors has the following four committees: Nominating and Corporate Governance,
Finance, Personnel and Compensation and Audit. Below is a table indicating the membership of each of
the committees and how many times the board and each committee met during 2005. Except for
Mr. Taylor, who was elected to the board of directors in July 2005, and Mr. Eaves, who was elected to
the board of directors in February 2006, each director attended at least 75% of the total number of
meetings of the board and of the committees on which he or she serves. In addition, our corporate
governance guidelines reflect the board’s policy that all directors are expected to attend the annual
meeting of stockholders, and, except for Mr. Taylor, who was elected after last year’s annual meeting, all
of them attended last year’s annual meeting.
Board

Mr. Boyd ************************
Mr. Burke ***********************
Mr. Eaves ************************
Ms. Godley **********************
Mr. Hunt ************************
Mr. Leer*************************
Mr. Lockhart *********************
Mr. Perry ************************
Mr. Potter ***********************
Mr. Sands************************
Mr. Taylor ***********************
Number of 2005 meetings***********

Nominating and
Corporate
Governance

Finance

Member

Member

Chair
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
12

Member
Member
Member
Member
Chair
Member

12

Personnel and
Compensation

Audit

Member

Member
Chair
Member

Member
Member
Member

Chair
Member
5

Chair
Member
Member
6

10

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee develops criteria for membership on the
board, recommends candidates for membership on the board and its committees, evaluates the structure
and composition of the board, reviews and recommends compensation of non-employee directors and
reviews the effectiveness of board governance. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
will consider a candidate for director proposed by a stockholder. A candidate should possess the highest
personal and professional ethics, integrity and values and be committed to representing the long-term
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interests of our stockholders. In evaluating the suitability of individual nominees, the Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee will also take into account, among other things, the person’s strength
of character, practical wisdom, mature judgment and ability to respect and maintain adherence to the
Corporate Governance Guidelines. A stockholder wishing to propose a candidate for the committee’s
consideration should forward the candidate’s name and information about the candidate’s qualifications
to our Secretary. The board has determined, in its judgment, that the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee is composed entirely of independent directors as defined in the New York Stock
Exchange listing standards and operates under a written charter adopted by the entire board, a copy of
which is published under ‘‘Corporate Governance’’ in the Investors section of our website at archcoal.com
and is available in print to any stockholder upon request.
Finance Committee
The Finance Committee reviews and approves fiscal policies relating to our financial structure,
including our debt, cash and risk management policies. The Finance Committee also reviews and
recommends to the board appropriate action with respect to significant financial matters, major capital
expenditures and acquisitions, and funding policies of our employee benefit plans.
Personnel and Compensation Committee
The Personnel and Compensation Committee’s primary responsibility is to establish the executive
officers’ compensation. The Personnel and Compensation Committee also reviews changes in the
compensation of other key management employees, approves the participation of executives and other key
management employees in the various compensation plans, reviews our compensation programs, and
monitors our succession planning and management development practices. The board has determined, in
its judgment, that the Personnel and Compensation Committee is composed entirely of independent
directors as defined in the New York Stock Exchange listing standards and operates under a written
charter adopted by the entire board, a copy of which is published under ‘‘Corporate Governance’’ in the
Investors section of our website at archcoal.com and is available in print to any stockholder upon request.
The report of the Personnel and Compensation Committee can be found on page I-18 of this proxy
statement.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee’s primary responsibilities are to monitor (i) the integrity of our consolidated
financial statements, internal accounting, financial controls, disclosure controls and financial reporting
processes, (ii) the qualifications and independence of our independent registered public accounting firm,
(iii) the performance of our internal audit function and our independent registered public accounting
firm and (iv) our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee is directly
responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of the work of our independent registered
public accounting firm. The board has determined, in its judgment, that the Audit Committee is
composed entirely of independent directors as defined in the New York Stock Exchange listing standards
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and Rule 10A-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and operates under a written charter adopted by
the entire board, a copy of which is enclosed with this proxy statement as Exhibit B. The charter is also
published under ‘‘Corporate Governance’’ in the Investors section of our website at archcoal.com and is
available in print to any stockholder upon request.
The board of directors has also determined, in its judgment, that Mr. Burke is an ‘‘audit committee
financial expert’’ and that each member of the Audit Committee is ‘‘financially literate.’’ Our Corporate
Governance Guidelines do not currently restrict the number of audit committees of public companies on
which members of our Audit Committee may serve. The report of the Audit Committee can be found
below.
Audit Committee Report
The Audit Committee oversees our financial reporting process on behalf of the board of directors.
Management is primarily responsible for the financial statements and reporting process, including the
systems of internal controls, while the independent registered public accounting firm is responsible for
performing an independent audit of our financial statements in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States and expressing an opinion on the conformity of those financial
statements with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
In this context, the Audit Committee has met with and held discussions with management, our
internal auditors and with Ernst & Young, LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm. The
Audit Committee reviewed with our internal and independent auditors the overall scope and plans for
their respective audits. The Audit Committee also met, at least quarterly, with the independent registered
public accounting firm, with and without management present, to discuss the results of its examinations,
its evaluations of our internal controls and the overall quality of our financial reporting. The Audit
Committee also reviewed with the independent registered public accounting firm its judgment as to the
quality and the appropriateness of our accounting principles and financial controls and such other matters
as are required to be discussed with the Audit Committee under auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States.
Our independent registered public accounting firm also provided to the Audit Committee the
written disclosures required by the Independence Standards Board Standards No. 1 (Independence
Discussions with Audit Committees), and the Audit Committee discussed with the independent registered
public accounting firm that firm’s independence, including those matters required by be discussed by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as amended by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 90. The
Audit Committee considered whether the performance by the independent registered public accounting
firm of non-audit services was compatible with its independence.
In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to
the board of directors, and the board of directors has approved including the audited consolidated
financial statements in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 for
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filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Audit Committee has retained Ernst & Young
LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2006.
While the Audit Committee has the responsibilities and powers set forth in its charter, it is not the
duty of the Audit Committee to plan or conduct audits or to determine that our financial statements are
complete and accurate or are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. This is the
responsibility of management and the independent registered public accounting firm.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Frank M. Burke, Chairman
James R. Boyd
Patricia F. Godley
A. Michael Perry
Compensation of Directors
The current compensation and benefit program for non-employee directors is designed to achieve
the following objectives:
) compensate non-employee directors fairly for the amount of work required for a company of our
size and scope;
) align the interests of our non-employee directors with the long-term interests of our
stockholders; and
) provide a simple, transparent and understandable compensation structure.
During 2005, we compensated each non-employee director for his or her service to us. The key
elements of non-employee director compensation include the following:
) an annual retainer of $75,000, paid quarterly;
) a board and committee attendance fee of $1,250 for each meeting attended;
) an additional annual retainer for the chairperson of each committee of $5,000, except that the
chairman of the board of directors is paid an additional annual retainer of $100,000 and the
chairman of our audit committee is paid an additional annual retainer of $30,000; and
) a new director fee of $30,000.
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The following table sets forth the annual retainer and other cash compensation paid to nonemployee directors during 2005:

Name

Retainer(1)

Chair Fees

Board/
Committee
Attendance
Fees

James R. Boyd ************************
Frank M. Burke ***********************
Patricia F. Godley *********************
Douglas H. Hunt *********************
Thomas A. Lockhart *******************
A. Michael Perry **********************
Robert G. Potter **********************
Theodore G. Sands ********************
Wesley M. Taylor**********************

$75,000
75,000
75,000
75,000
75,000
75,000
75,000
75,000
37,500

$100,000
30,000
—
—
—
5,000
5,000
5,000
—

$48,750
35,000
35,000
28,750
28,750
42,500
36,250
28,750
18,750

Other(1)

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
30,000

Total

$223,750
140,000
110,000
103,750
103,750
122,500
116,250
108,750
86,250

(1) We require our non-employee directors to defer receipt of at least $40,000 of their annual retainer
and all of the new director fee into a hypothetical investment in shares of our common stock.
The board of directors has adopted a deferred compensation plan for non-employee directors. Under
the plan, non-employee directors may choose to defer receipt of any or all of the cash compensation paid
to them in a cash account that mirrors the gains and/or losses of a number of different investment funds,
including a hypothetical investment in shares of our common stock. As described above, our nonemployee directors are required to defer a portion of the non-employee directors’ compensation under the
plan. The portion of the compensation that the non-employee directors are required to defer under the
plan is automatically allocated to a hypothetical investment in shares of our common stock. Under the
plan, we credit each non-employee director’s account with the number of units which is equal to the
number of shares or units that the non-employee director could purchase or receive with the amount of
the deferred compensation on the date the non-employee director’s account is credited, based upon the
fair market value of the underlying investment on that date. When the participating director terminates
his or her service as a director, we will pay to him or her such deferred compensation (or to his or her
designated beneficiary in the event of his or her death) in annual installments over a five-year or ten-year
period, or in a lump sum, at the director’s election. The amount paid will be based on the number of
units of deferred compensation credited to the participating director’s account, valued on the basis of the
fair market value of an equivalent number of shares or units on the date payment occurs. The plan also
provides for earlier payment of a participating director’s account if the board determines that the
participant has a demonstrated financial hardship.
We also reimburse each director for their travel expenses incurred in connection with attendance at
board and committee meetings and other matters related to service on our board. We also reimburse nonemployee directors for attending continuing education seminars. These amounts are not included in the
table above. Under our director matching gift program, we also donate $2.00 for each dollar contributed
by directors to accredited institutions of higher education up to a maximum of $6,000 each year. We also
pay the premiums for directors’ liability insurance and travel accident insurance for each director. We do
not maintain a directors’ retirement plan, and non-employee directors do not participate in our benefit
plans. A director who is our employee does not receive payment for service as a director.
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OWNERSHIP OF ARCH COAL COMMON STOCK
Ownership by Directors and Executive Officers
The following table sets forth, as of March 1, 2006, information concerning the beneficial
ownership of our common stock by each director, each of the executive officers named in this proxy
statement and all current directors and executive officers as a group. In general, ‘‘beneficial ownership’’
includes those shares a director or executive officer has or shares the power to vote or transfer, including
shares which may be acquired under stock options that are currently exercisable or become exercisable
within 60 days.

Name

James R. Boyd, Chairman of the Board
and Director(4) *****************
Frank M. Burke, Director(5) ********
John W. Eaves, Executive Vice
President, Chief Operating Officer
and Director *******************
Patricia F. Godley, Director *********
Douglas H. Hunt, Director(6) *******
Steven F. Leer, President, CEO and
Director(4) ********************
Thomas A. Lockhart, Director *******
A. Michael Perry, Director **********
Robert G. Potter, Director(7) ********
Theodore D. Sands, Director ********
Wesley M. Taylor, Director *********
Robert J. Messey, Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer *******
Robert G. Jones, Vice President —
Law, General Counsel and Secretary
C. Henry Besten, Senior Vice
President — Strategic Development
All of our directors and executive
officers as a group (18 persons) ****

Number of
Actual Shares
Owned
Directly or
Indirectly(1)

Options
Exercisable Within
60 Days(2)

Total
Beneficial
Ownership

Share Units(3)

Total
StockBased
Ownership

64,218
66,821

—
—

*
*

—
—

64,218
66,821

44,445
2,105
159,589

117,500
—
—

*
*
*

66,711
—
—

228,656
2,105
159,589

128,124
4,961
16,335
26,280
49,780
6,220

430,600
—
—
—
—
—

*
*
*
*
*
*

111,715
—
—
—
—
—

670,439
4,961
16,335
26,280
49,780
6,220

33,454

17,124

*

48,410

98,988

15,602

89,350

*

16,713

121,665

12,522

14,050

*

14,431

41,003

660,106

726,551

10.0%

349,835

1,736,492

* Less than one percent of the outstanding shares.
(1) Includes, for directors, the following indirect interests in our common stock held under the deferred
compensation plan for non-employee directors: Mr. Boyd — 30,532; Mr. Burke — 16,821;
Ms. Godley — 2,105; Mr. Hunt — 18,912; Mr. Lockhart — 4,861; Mr. Perry — 10,056;
Mr. Potter — 16,280; Mr. Sands — 24,780; Mr. Taylor — 1,206; and all directors as a group —
125,050. Includes, for executive officers, the following indirect interests in our common stock held
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under our Employee Thrift Plan and under our deferred compensation plan for executive officers:
Mr. Leer — 127,114; Mr. Eaves — 24,316; Mr. Messey — 14,410; Mr. Jones — 11,726;
Mr. Besten — 3,614; and all executive officers as a group — 187,529.
(2) Includes shares that could be acquired by exercising stock options through April 30, 2006.
(3) Includes unvested restricted stock units and/or performance-contingent phantom stock awarded to
executive officers under our equity-based compensation plans. We have included performancecontingent phantom stock awards at their maximum payout amounts. While restricted stock units
and performance-contingent phantom stock may not be voted or transferred, we have included them
in the table as they represent an economic interest in our common stock that is subject to the same
market risk as ownership of actual shares of our common stock.
(4) Includes shares held jointly with such person’s spouse in the following amounts: Mr. Boyd — 1,045
and Mr. Leer — 1,010.
(5) Includes 20,000 shares held by Burke, Mayborn Co., Ltd. and 30,000 shares held in Mr. Burke’s
separate individual retirement account.
(6) Mr. Hunt also has a beneficial ownership interest in a trust known as the Lyda Hunt-Herbert
Trusts — Douglas Herbert Hunt in the amount of 129,677 shares. Mr. Hunt does not control the
trust.
(7) Includes 10,000 shares held in Robert G. Potter Trust dated 11/05/1992, Robert G. Potter as trustee.
Ownership by Others
The following table shows all persons or entities that we know were ‘‘beneficial owners’’ of more
than five percent of our common stock on March 1, 2006.
Number of
Shares

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner

FMR Corp.
82 Devonshire Street
Boston, Massachusetts 02109****************************** 8,054,804(1)
Neuberger & Berman L.P.
605 Third Avenue
New York, New York 10158 ****************************** 7,421,524(2)
Wellington Management Company, LLP
75 State Street
Boston, Massachusetts 02109****************************** 4,071,760(3)

% of Shares
Outstanding

12.5%

11.5%

6.3%

(1) Based on its filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Fidelity Management & Research
Company, a subsidiary of FMR Corp. and an investment adviser registered under Section 203 of the
Investment Advisors Act of 1940, is the beneficial owner of 7,434,804 shares of our common stock
as a result of acting as investment advisor to various investment companies registered under the
Investment Company Act of 1940. Edward C. Johnson 3d and FMR Corp., through its control of
Fidelity Management & Research Company, each has sole power to dispose of 7,434,804 shares of
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common stock. The boards of trustees of the Fidelity funds has the power to vote or direct the
voting of the 7,434,804 shares of common stock held by the Fidelity funds.
Fidelity Management Trust Company, a subsidiary of FMR Corp. and a bank as defined in
Section 3(a)(6) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, is the beneficial owner of 52,800 shares of
our common stock as a result of its serving as investment manager of certain institutional accounts.
Edward C. Johnson 3d and FMR Corp., through its control of Fidelity Management Trust
Company, each has the sole power to vote and dispose of 52,800 shares of common stock owned by
the institutional accounts.
Fidelity International Limited, and various foreign-based subsidiaries of FMR Corp. provide
investment advisory and management services to a number of non-U.S. investment companies and
certain institutional investors. Fidelity International Limited is the beneficial owner of 567,200 shares
of our common stock. A partnership controlled by members of the family of Edward C. Johnson 3d,
or trusts for their benefit, owns shares of voting stock of Fidelity International Limited with the right
to cast approximately 38% of the total votes which may be cast by all such holders.
(2) Based on its filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Neuberger & Berman L.P. is an
investment advisor registered under Section 203 of the Investment Advisors Act of 1940.
Neuberger & Berman L.P. and Neuberger & Berman Management Inc. may be deemed the
beneficial owners of shares of common stock since they both have shared power to make decisions
whether to retain or dispose of the shares. Neuberger & Berman L.P. has the sole power to
vote 5,009,818 shares of common stock and shares the power to vote 2,046,500 shares of common
stock and to dispose of 7,421,524 shares of common stock.
(3) Based on its filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Wellington Management
Company, LLP is an investment advisor registered under Section 203 of the Investment Advisors Act
of 1940. Wellington Management Company, LLP, in its capacity as investment advisor, may be
deemed to beneficially own the shares of common stock held of record by its clients. Wellington
Management Company, LLP shares the power to vote 2,961,059 shares of common stock and shares
the power to dispose of 4,071,760 shares of common stock.
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COMPENSATION OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Report of the Personnel and Compensation Committee
The Personnel and Compensation Committee is comprised entirely of independent directors and has
the responsibility for reviewing and approving changes to our executive compensation policies and
programs. The committee also reviews and makes recommendations for all compensation payments to our
chief executive officer and other executive officers, which are approved by the board of directors as a
whole.
Overview
The fundamental objective of our executive compensation program is to attract, retain and motivate
key executives to enhance long-term profitability and stockholder value. Specifically, the objectives of our
executive compensation program are to:
) Offer a total compensation program that is competitive with other similarly-sized, publicly-traded
companies, with particular emphasis on those in the mining and extractive industries;
) Tie a significant portion of executive compensation to our achievement of pre-established
operating and financial objectives;
) Align the interests of our executives with those of our stockholders; and
) Provide incentives that promote executive retention.
We achieve these objectives by:
) Providing compensation that is comparable to the compensation provided by a group of peer
companies of similar size and diversity to us in analogous or related businesses, as well as general
industry indices;
) Linking significant elements of executive compensation to our overall performance;
) Rewarding executives for both short- and long-term enhancement of stockholder value; and
) Emphasizing variable pay and long-term incentives.
Elements of Executive Compensation
Our compensation program for executives consists of three key elements:
) A base salary;
) A performance-based annual bonus; and
) A long-term incentive program consisting primarily of periodic grants of performance shares or
units and/or restricted stock units.
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Base Salary. The committee reviews and determines the base salaries of our chief executive officer
and other key executives in furtherance of the executive compensation objectives established by the
committee. In determining base salaries, the committee considers overall company performance, individual
performance, competitive compensation and target total compensation.
Performance-Based Annual Incentive Awards. Our incentive compensation plan provides opportunities for our executives to earn annual incentive compensation based upon the successful achievement of
pre-established financial and operating performance objectives. Approximately 200 employees were eligible
to participate in the plan in 2005. For 2005, the committee established certain performance objectives for
the named executive officers based on adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and
amortization (adjusted EBITDA), earnings per share (EPS), safety, and environmental compliance.
In the first quarter of each year, the committee sets target annual incentive awards, expressed as a
percentage of base salary, for each key executive based on job responsibilities. For 2005, the committee
determined each participant’s annual incentive opportunity based on the participant’s potential to affect
operations or profitability. For 2005, award targets for the executive officers named in this proxy
statement as a percentage of base salary ranged from 50% to 60% (for the chief executive officer).
Incentive award payments for the year could have ranged from zero to 200% of the target, based on our
performance compared to the pre-established performance goals set by the committee. The committee
may, in its discretion, adjust the awards to recognize outstanding performance or achievement during the
performance period. For 2005, we paid aggregate annual incentive amounts equal to $798,400 to the
executive officers named in this proxy statement.
Long-Term Incentive Awards. The committee has determined that a long-term incentive opportunity
for each of our executive officers should be delivered primarily through awards of restricted stock units,
performance-contingent phantom stock and performance units. The committee intends that these longterm incentive opportunities be competitive and based primarily on actual company operating and stock
performance.
Restricted stock units. In determining the number of restricted stock units to be awarded to
executive officers, the committee determines the percentage of executive officer compensation to be
comprised of restricted stock unit awards. The committee then determines the number of restricted stock
units based on the average closing price of our stock during the last 20 trading days of the preceding
year. Restricted stock units vest ratably over a three-year period, with one-third vesting on each
anniversary of the grant date.
Performance-contingent phantom stock. Performance-contingent phantom stock grants vest upon the
achievement of a pre-determined average closing price of our common stock for a period of 20
consecutive trading days during the forty-one months following the date of grant and a pre-determined
adjusted EBITDA, calculated on a trailing 12-month basis. We determined the targeted payout amounts
for the named executive officers as a percentage of base salary. The actual payout under these awards may
vary from zero to 133% of an executive’s targeted payout amount, based on our actual performance
compared to the pre-established performance goals set by the committee.
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Performance units. Performance units vest after three years and are tied to our performance against
pre-established targets, including our EBITDA growth compared to a peer group, safety performance and
environmental performance. We determined the targeted payout amounts for the named executive officers
as a percentage of base salary. The actual payout under these awards may vary from zero to 200% of an
executive’s targeted payout amount, based on our actual performance over the three-year performance
period.
Deferred Compensation Plan
We maintain a non-qualified deferred compensation plan that allows eligible employees to defer
receipt of his or her base salary and/or annual incentive payment until the date or dates elected by the
participant. We have included a description of the material terms of the deferred compensation plan
under ‘‘Deferred Compensation Plan’’ on page I-27.
Other Benefits
We also provide certain other benefits to our executive officers that are not tied to any formal
individual or corporate performance objectives and are intended to be part of a competitive overall
compensation program. For example, we maintain an employee thrift plan, a cash balance pension plan,
insurance and other benefit plans for our employees. Executives, including the executive officers named in
this proxy statement, participate in these plans on the same terms as other eligible employees, subject to
any legal limits on the amounts that may be contributed by or paid to executives under the plans.
Employment Agreements
We have entered into employment agreements with each of the executive officers named in this
proxy statement. We have included a description of the material terms of these agreements under
‘‘Employment Agreements’’ on page I-27. Our obligations under these agreements are subject to the
limitations of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code, which was added as a result of the American
Jobs Creation Act of 2004. During 2006, the committee will review these agreements and amend them
to the extent necessary to comply with the requirements of Section 409A.
Compensation of the Chief Executive Officer
The committee meets annually to discuss the performance of Mr. Leer, our chief executive officer.
The committee then determines Mr. Leer’s compensation in accordance with the compensation policies
described above. In 2005, the committee approved an increase to Mr. Leer’s annual salary from $650,000
to $715,000. For 2005, Mr. Leer’s maximum incentive opportunity under our annual incentive
compensation plan was 120% of his base salary. The committee also approved long-term incentive awards
to Mr. Leer consisting of 6,900 restricted stock units, performance-contingent phantom stock having a
maximum payout of 89,700 shares and performance units having a maximum payout of 1,430,000 units.
The committee determined Mr. Leer’s annual salary, annual incentive award opportunity and long-term
incentive award after reviewing competitive market data and Mr. Leer’s individual performance. In 2006,
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the committee awarded Mr. Leer a $257,400 annual incentive award with respect to 2005, representing
60% of Mr. Leer’s target award. In setting this award, the committee reviewed our overall financial and
operating performance during the year.
Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m)
Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code precludes us from taking a federal income tax
deduction for compensation paid in excess of $1 million paid to one or more of the executive officers
named in this proxy statement. The committee considers the anticipated tax treatment to us and to our
executive officers when reviewing executive compensation and our compensation programs. The
deductibility of some types of compensation payments can depend upon the timing of an executive
officer’s vesting or exercise of previously granted rights. Interpretations of and changes in applicable tax
laws and regulations, as well as other factors beyond the committee’s control, can also affect deductibility
of compensation. The committee will continue to assess alternatives for preserving the deductibility of
compensation payments and benefits, consistent with sound executive compensation principles and the
needs of the company.
General
This report is submitted by the committee with respect to all matters set forth in the report, except
for those matters related to stock based compensation awards and by the entire board of directors, but
only with respect to stock based compensation awards. Mr. Leer excused himself from board meetings
and abstained from voting with respect to all matters relating to his own compensation and to stockbased compensation. Mr. Eaves was not elected to the board of directors until after the committee and
the board of directors had made their decisions concerning compensation and stock-based compensation
for 2005.
Personnel and
Compensation Committee

Robert G. Potter, Chairman
Frank M. Burke
Douglas H. Hunt
Thomas A. Lockhart
Theodore D. Sands
Wesley M. Taylor

Arch Coal, Inc. Board of Directors

James R. Boyd, Chairman
Frank M. Burke
John W. Eaves
Patricia F. Godley
Douglas H. Hunt
Steven F. Leer
Thomas A. Lockhart
A. Michael Perry
Robert G. Potter
Theodore G. Sands
Wesley M. Taylor
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Summary Compensation Table
The following table is a summary of compensation information for each of the last three years for
our chief executive officer and each of the other four most highly compensated executive officers based
upon annual salary and bonus for the year 2005:

Name and
Principal Position

Year

Steven F. Leer ************ 2005
President & Chief
2004
Executive Officer
2003
John W. Eaves************
Executive Vice
President & Chief
Operating Officer
Robert J. Messey **********
Senior Vice
President and Chief
Financial Officer
Robert G. Jones **********
Vice President —
Law, General
Counsel & Secretary
C. Henry Besten **********
Senior Vice President —
Strategic Development

Long-Term Compensation
Awards
Payouts
Annual Compensation
Securities
Other Annual
Restricted
Underlying
Compensation
Stock
Option
LTIP
Salary($)(1) Bonus($)(1)
($)(2)
Awards($)(3) Awards(#) Payouts($)(4)

All Other
Compensation
($)(5)

$715,000
650,000
650,000

$ 257,400
388,100
158,000

$17,072
13,753
18,328

$ 307,257
1,205,303
—

—
—
—

$3,212,274
1,820,411
—

$22,239
51,733
39,600

2005
2004
2003

425,000
400,000
400,000

127,500
238,900
81,000

22,739
23,989
11,695

182,573
741,731
1,055,500

—
—
—

1,976,750
663,444
—

34,870
39,836
24,185

2005
2004
2003

305,000
305,000
305,000

91,500
182,100
49,500

17,343
21,592
21,644

131,364
565,578
—

—
—
—

1,507,295
278,622
—

17,234
24,275
18,300

2005
2004
2003

290,000
290,000
290,000

147,000
173,200
37,600

9,527
16,536
11,695

124,684
229,709
—

—
—
—

429,080
386,072
—

11,357
19,763
18,186

2005
2004
2003

250,000
250,000
250,000

135,000
149,300
32,400

10,187
14,279
13,842

106,872
198,009
—

—
—
—

369,892
487,275
—

12,734
17,037
15,974

(1) Amounts shown include salary and bonuses earned and accrued by the named executive officers
during the fiscal year indicated. Bonuses are paid subsequent to year-end pursuant to our incentive
compensation plan for executive officers. The salary and bonus amounts shown include amounts that
the executive officer elected to defer, on a discretionary basis, pursuant to our executive deferred
compensation plan described under ‘‘Deferred Compensation Plan’’ on page I-27.
(2) The executive officers named above receive various perquisites provided by or paid for by us. These
perquisites can include financial planning services, annual physicals, memberships in social and
professional clubs and gross up payments equal to the taxes payable on certain perquisites. The
aggregate amount of perquisites received by any of the executive officers named in this proxy
statement during any of the years presented did not exceed the lesser of $50,000 or 10% of the total
annual salary and bonus reported for the executive officer.
(3) Restricted stock units are valued by multiplying the closing market price of our common stock on
the date of grant by the number of shares awarded. The value given does not reflect any adjustments
for risk of forfeiture or restrictions on transferability. The restricted stock units vest ratably over three
years. We make dividend equivalent payouts on the number of unvested restricted stock units
outstanding. A portion of the 2004 grants were converted from vested performance-contingent
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phantom stock grants. On March 1, 2006, the named executive officers held the following number of
unvested restricted stock units with the corresponding market value as of that date:
Name

Steven F. Leer *****************************************
John W. Eaves *****************************************
Robert J. Messey ***************************************
Robert G. Jones****************************************
C. Henry Besten ***************************************

No. of Restricted
Stock Units

Value

22,015
13,411
10,110
5,813
5,031

$1,665,435
1,014,542
764,821
439,753
380,595

(4) In 2005, we paid compensation under the long-term incentive plan in the form of cash and shares of
our common stock pursuant to the performance-contingent phantom stock awards made in 2004. We
valued these awards by multiplying the closing market price of our common stock on the date of
issuance by the number of shares issued. The amounts shown include amounts that the executive
officer elected to defer, on a discretionary basis, pursuant to our executive deferred compensation plan
described under ‘‘Deferred Compensation Plan’’ on page I-27.
In 2004, we paid compensation under the long-term incentive plan in the form of cash pursuant to
the performance share awards that were made in 2000. We determined the value of these awards by
multiplying the closing market price of our common stock on June 27, 2001 by the number of shares
earned. The amounts shown include amounts that the executive officer elected to defer, on a
discretionary basis, pursuant to our executive deferred compensation plan described under ‘‘Deferred
Compensation Plan’’ on page I-27.
(5) The amounts shown in this column include, for all years, matching contributions made to our thrift
plan, for 2004 and 2003, credits made under our deferred compensation plan and, for 2005 and
2004, dividend equivalent payouts on unvested restricted stock units.
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Option Grants in Last Fiscal Year
We did not grant any stock options to the named executive officers during 2005.
Stock Option Exercises and Year-End Values
The following table shows information relating to the exercise of stock options by the named
executive officers during 2005, as well as the number and value of their unexercised options at
December 31, 2005.

Name

Shares
Acquired
on
Exercise(#)

Value
Realized($)

Steven F. Leer ***********
John W. Eaves***********
Robert J. Messey *********
Robert G. Jones**********
C. Henry Besten *********

100,700
53,100
67,950
10,000
89,750

$2,204,590
1,453,161
2,694,036
221,000
3,118,350

Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised
Options at
Fiscal Year End (#)(1)
Exercisable Unexercisable

375,876
99,526
—
74,750
—

54,724
17,974
17,124
14,600
14,050

Value of Unexercised
In-the-Money Options at
Fiscal Year End ($)(2)
Exercisable
Unexercisable

$22,425,741
5,834,517
—
4,416,160
—

$3,235,557
1,062,713
1,012,457
863,225
830,706

(1) Option awards to the named executive officers generally have a term of 10 years. Certain options
granted to the named executive officers in June 2001 had a term of five years.
(2) The value of unexercised options represents the difference between the closing stock price of our
common stock on the last trading day of 2005 of $79.50 and the exercise price of each unexercised
in-the-money option held by the named executive officers.
Long-Term Incentive Plans — Performance-Contingent Phantom Stock Awards in Last Fiscal Year
The following table shows information with respect to shares of performance-contingent phantom
stock awarded to each of the named executive officers in 2005 under our long-term incentive program.
Performance-contingent phantom stock awards vest upon the achievement of a pre-determined average
closing price of our common stock for a period of 20 consecutive trading days during the forty-one
months following the date of grant and a pre-determined adjusted EBITDA, calculated on a trailing
12-month basis. The actual number of shares issuable may range from zero to 133% of an executive’s
targeted payout amount, based on our actual performance compared to the pre-established performance
goals. The named executive officers may elect to defer any or all of the actual payouts under the awards.
We will pay one–half of any payout amount that a named executive officer elects not to defer in the
form of cash and the other one-half in shares of our common stock. We will pay the payout amount that
a named executive officer elects to defer in shares of our common stock. Share amounts shown below
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represent the maximum amounts that could be issued under these awards. You should see the description
of our executive deferred compensation plan under ‘‘Deferred Compensation Plan’’ on page I-27.

Name

Steven F. Leer ****************
John W. Eaves ***************
Robert J. Messey**************
Robert G. Jones **************
C. Henry Besten**************

Number of
Shares, Units, or
Other Rights(#)

89,700
53,300
38,300
10,900
9,400

Performance
or Other
Period Until
Maturation or
Payout

41
41
41
41
41

months
months
months
months
months

Estimated Future Payouts Under Non-Stock
Price-Based Plans
Threshhold(#)
Target(#)
Maximum(#)

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

Long-Term Incentive Plans — Performance Unit Awards in Last Fiscal Year
The following table shows information with respect to performance units awarded to each of the
named executive officers in 2005 under our long-term incentive program. The performance period with
respect to such awards is January 1, 2005 through December 31, 2007. The actual payout amount under
these awards may vary from zero to 200% of an executive’s targeted payout amount of the units awarded,
based on our actual performance over the three-year performance period. We determine the number of
units earned after three years based on the results of the following performance measures during the
period: Arch Coal EBITDA growth v. a peer group, Arch Coal safety performance and Arch Coal
environmental performance. Each performance unit represents the right to receive $1.00 per unit, payable
in cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock.

Name

Steven F. Leer ***************
John W. Eaves ***************
Robert J. Messey *************
Robert G. Jones**************
C. Henry Besten *************

Number of Shares,
Units, or Other
Rights(#)

Performance
or Other
Period Until
Maturation
or Payout

1,430,000
850,000
610,000
773,140
666,500

3
3
3
3
3

years
years
years
years
years

Estimated Future Payouts Under Non-Stock
Price-Based Plans
Threshhold(#)
Target(#)
Maximum(#)

143,000
85,000
61,000
77,314
66,650

715,000
425,000
305,000
386,570
333,250

1,430,000
850,000
610,000
773,140
666,500

Pension Plans
On January 1, 1998, we replaced our existing pension plans with a new cash balance pension plan.
The benefits of participating individuals under the former plans were vested as of that date and his or her
cash balance account was credited with the present value of his or her earned pension benefit, payable at
age 65. Salaried employees hired after January 1, 1998 become vested after three years of employment.
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On an annual basis (or a shorter period if a participant’s employment is terminated), each participant’s
account is credited with the following:
) contribution credits equal to a percent of total pay;
) transition credits for a period equal to a participant’s credited service under the prior pension plan
as of December 31, 1997 (to a maximum of 15 years from December 31, 1997); and
) interest credits based on one-year treasury yields plus 1%.
The percentage amounts of the contribution and transition credits, which are shown in the following
chart, are based on the participant’s age at year-end:
Age at Year End

Contribution
Credits as %
of Total Pay(1)

Transition Credits as %
of Total Pay(2)

3%
4%
4%
5%
6%
7%
8%

1%
1%
2%
3%
4%
4%
4%

Under 30 ***************************************
30 to 34 ****************************************
35 to 39 ****************************************
40 to 44 ****************************************
45 to 49 ****************************************
50 to 54 ****************************************
55 and over**************************************

(1) Plus an additional 3% of pay above the Social Security wage base.
(2) Total pay means regular salary plus annual incentive bonus payments paid during the subject calendar
year.
As of December 31, 2005, the estimated annual annuities (based on one-year U.S. Treasury yields)
payable at age 65 to the named executive officers are as follows:
Estimated Annual
Payments*

Name

Steven F. Leer*****************************************************
John W. Eaves ****************************************************
Robert J. Messey***************************************************
Robert G. Jones ***************************************************
C. Henry Besten***************************************************

$370,990
226,608
40,366
126,480
122,189

* Assumes the executive officer works until age 65, annual base compensation remains unchanged from
2005, and that future incentive compensation is equal to the average of that awarded over the last four
years. The interest rate used for determining the annuity was 4.68%. The interest credits for 2006 and
future years was 5.18%.
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Deferred Compensation Plan
We maintain a non-qualified deferred compensation plan that allows eligible employees to defer
receipt of his or her base salary and/or annual incentive payment until the date or dates elected by the
participant. The amounts deferred are invested in cash accounts that mirror the gains and/or losses of a
number of different investment funds, including a hypothetical investment in shares of our common
stock. The deferred compensation plan offers participants a wide-range of publicly-available investment
funds, including international, U.S. equity, bond and money market funds. The plan does not offer any
above-market rates of return to the executive officers named in this proxy statement.
Participants in the plan may defer up to 85% of their base salary and up to 100% of their annual
incentive awards. The plan also allows participants to defer receipt of up to 100% of the shares issuable
under any restricted stock units, performance-contingent phantom stock or performance units granted to
executive officers under our long-term incentive program.
We have established a grantor trust to fund our obligations under the deferred compensation plan.
The trust has purchased corporate-owned life insurance to offset these obligations. Participants have an
unsecured contractual commitment by us to pay the amounts due under the deferred compensation plan.
Employment Agreements
We have employment agreements with each of our executive officers, including Mr. Leer. Each of
the employment agreements has a term of one year that is automatically extended for successive one-year
periods unless either party terminates the agreement upon at least one year notice prior to the end of any
one-year term. We may terminate an employee’s employment for cause (as defined) or without cause at
any time. If an employee’s employment is terminated for cause, the employee will be entitled to receive
accrued and unpaid base salary, credit for unused vacation time and all other amounts earned and
unpaid. If an employee’s employment is terminated without cause prior to a change of control (as
defined) or more than two years after a change of control, or if he or she voluntarily terminates his or
her employment for good reason (such as reduction in salary or position) the employee will also be
entitled to receive his or her base salary at the highest rate in effect at any time during the three years
immediately preceding termination (including targeted bonus) for 12 months (24 months in the case of
Mr. Leer), coverage under our medical, dental and group life plans and other programs for 12 months,
continuation of his or her then existing participation in our thrift plan, cash balance pension plan, nonqualified supplemental pension plan, deferred compensation plan and financial counseling services plan
for 12 months (24 months in the case of Mr. Leer), outplacement services for a period not to exceed
12 months (24 months in the case of Mr. Leer) and credit for unused vacation time and all other
amounts earned and unpaid. In addition, all stock options held by the employee at the time his or her
employment is terminated will immediately vest and remain exercisable for 120 days following the
expiration of the 12 month period (the 24 month period in the case of Mr. Leer) after such termination.
If, within 24 months after a change of control, an employee’s employment is terminated without cause or
he or she terminates his or her employment for good reason, the employee will be entitled to receive a
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lump sum cash payment of two times the higher of his or her base salary immediately prior to
termination, his or her base salary at the highest rate in effect at any time during the three years
immediately preceding termination or immediately preceding the change of control (including targeted
bonus), coverage under our medical, dental and group life plans and other programs for 24 months
(36 months in the case of Mr. Leer), provide for full payment in cash of any performance unit or
performance share awards, outplacement services for a period not to exceed 24 months (36 months in the
case of Mr. Leer), financial planning services for a period of two years (three years in the case of
Mr. Leer) and credit for unused vacation time and all other amounts earned and unpaid. In addition, all
stock options held by the employee at the time his or her employment is terminated will immediately
vest and remain exercisable for the remaining terms of the options. Certain of these benefits are subject to
the employee complying with certain post — termination restrictions, including, but not limited to, his or
her not providing any executive-level services to a competitor. If any payment to the employee would
subject him or her to excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, the employee would
be entitled to receive an additional payment in an amount sufficient to compensate him or her therefor.
Our obligations under these employment agreements are subject to the limitations of Section 409A
of the Internal Revenue Code which was added as a result of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.
During 2006, we will amend these employment agreements to the extent necessary to comply with the
requirements of Section 409A.
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
The members of the Compensation Committee for 2005 were those indicated in the table on
page I-10 of this proxy statement. None of the members of the Compensation Committee has been an
officer or employee of ours. No executive officer of ours has served on the board of directors or
compensation committee of any other entity that has or has had one or more executive officers serving as
a member of our board.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our directors, executive officers and
any persons beneficially holding more than ten percent of our common stock to report their ownership of
common stock and any changes in that ownership to the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
New York Stock Exchange. The Securities and Exchange Commission has established specific due dates
for these reports, and we are required to report in this proxy statement any failure to file by these dates.
Each of our directors and executive officers who defers compensation into a hypothetical investment in
shares of our common stock pursuant to our deferred compensation plan inadvertently reported the
deferral of compensation and payment of dividends during 2005 on a Form 5 filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission in 2006 instead of a Form 4 at the time of the transactions. Based solely on a
review of the copies of the reports furnished to us and written representations that no other such
statements were required, we believe that all such other reports of our directors and executive officers
were filed on a timely basis.
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Stock Price Performance Graph
The following performance graph compares the cumulative total return to stockholders on our
common stock with the cumulative total return on two indices: a peer group and the Standard & Poor’s
(S&P) 400 (Midcap) Index. The graph assumes that:
) you invested $100 in Arch Coal common stock and in each index at the closing price on
December 31, 2000;
) all dividends were reinvested;
) annual reweighting of the peer group; and
) you continued to hold your investment through December 31, 2005.
Our peer group consists of Consol Energy, Inc., Freeport McMoran Copper&Gold, Massey Energy
Co., Newmont Mining Corp., Peabody Energy Corp. and Southern Copper Corp. You are cautioned
against drawing any conclusions from the data contained in this graph, as past results are not necessarily
indicative of future performance. The indices used are included for comparative purposes only and do not
indicate an opinion of management that such indices are necessarily an appropriate measure of the
relative performance of our stock.
5-YEAR TOTAL SHAREHOLDER RETURN
ARCH COAL, INC. V. S&P 400 (MIDCAP) INDEX AND INDUSTRY PEER GROUP
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Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Ernst & Young LLP was our independent registered public accounting firm for 2005. The Audit
Committee of the board of directors has engaged Ernst & Young LLP as independent registered public
accounting firm for 2006. Representatives of Ernst & Young LLP will attend the annual meeting and will
have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so.
During 2005 and 2004, Ernst & Young LLP charged fees for services rendered to us as follows:
Fee
Service

Audit(1) ************************************************
Audit-related(2) ******************************************
Tax(3) **************************************************
All Other ***********************************************

2005

2004

$1,292,500
711,650
—
—

$1,588,494
—
240,000
—

(1) Audit services performed by Ernst & Young LLP in 2005 and 2004 included the annual financial
statement audit (including required quarterly reviews) and other procedures performed by Ernst &
Young LLP to form an opinion on our consolidated financial statements. In addition, audit services
performed by Ernst & Young in 2004 included assistance with our preferred stock offering and the
debt offering of Arch Western Finance, LLC, accounting consultation related to our implementation
of FAS 143, and consultation related to implementation of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
(2) Audit-related services performed by Ernst & Young in 2005 included procedures related to our sale of
properties to Magnum Coal Company, including financial statement audits of the disposed properties
and consultation related to FAS 106 and related accounting issues.
(3) Fees for tax services in 2004 represent the final payment related to a state property tax engagement.
The Audit Committee has adopted an audit and non-audit services pre-approval policy that requires
the committee, or the chairman of the committee, to pre-approve services to be provided by our
independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee will consider whether the services
to be provided by the independent registered public accounting firm are prohibited by the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s rules on auditor independence and whether the independent registered public
accounting firm is best positioned to provide the most effective and efficient service. The Audit
Committee is mindful of the relationship between fees for audit and non-audit services in deciding
whether to pre-approve such services. The Audit Committee has delegated to the chair of the committee
pre-approval authority between committee meetings and the chair must report any pre-approval decisions
to the committee at the next regularly scheduled committee meeting.
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APPROVAL OF AN AMENDMENT TO OUR AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION TO INCREASE OUR AUTHORIZED SHARES
(PROXY ITEM NO. 2)
On February 23, 2006, our board of directors approved an amendment to Article Fourth of our
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of shares of common stock
which we are authorized to issue from 100,000,000 to 260,000,000 and directed that the amendment be
submitted to our stockholders for their approval. We have included the full text of the proposed
amendment below.
Purposes and Effects of Proposed Increase in the Number of Authorized Shares of Common Stock
The proposed amendment would increase the number of shares of common stock we are authorized
to issue from 100,000,000 to 260,000,000. On March 1, 2006, 71,383,765 shares of common stock
were outstanding. Our board of directors believes it is desirable to increase the number of shares of
common stock that we are authorized to issue in order to provide us with adequate flexibility in the
future. We have no present commitments, agreements or intent to issue additional shares of common
stock, other than with respect to currently reserved shares, in connection with transactions in the ordinary
course of business or shares which may be issued under our equity-based compensation plans. However,
we believe that if an increase in the authorized number of shares of common stock were to be postponed
until a specific need arose, the delay and expense associated with obtaining the approval of our
stockholders at that time could significantly impair our ability to meet our financing requirements or
other objectives.
Under our certificate of incorporation, we are authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of preferred
stock. We previously issued 2,875,000 shares of preferred stock, and 150,508 shares of preferred stock
were outstanding at March 1, 2006. The proposed amendment will not affect the number of shares of
preferred stock we are authorized to issue.
The proposed amendment would permit the issuance of additional shares of common stock up to
the new 260,000,000 maximum authorization without further action or authorization by stockholders
(except as may be required by law or by the New York Stock Exchange). Holders of our common stock
are not entitled to preemptive rights or cumulative voting. Accordingly, the issuance of additional shares
of common stock might dilute, under certain circumstances, the ownership and voting rights of
stockholders. The availability for issuance of additional shares of our common stock could discourage, or
make more difficult, efforts to obtain control over us. For example, the issuance of shares of common
stock in a public or private sale, merger or similar transaction would increase the number of outstanding
shares, thereby possibly diluting the interest of a party attempting to obtain control over us. This
proposal is not made in response to any effort of which we are aware to accumulate our stock or to
obtain control over us nor do we intend to use the additional shares of common stock to oppose a
hostile takeover attempt or to delay or prevent changes in control of management.
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Effective Date of Proposed Amendment
The proposed amendment to our certificate of incorporation, if adopted by the required vote of the
stockholders, will become effective upon filing with the Secretary of State of Delaware.
Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
If approved, Article Fourth of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation would be
amended and restated as follows:
FOURTH: The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have
authority to issue is Two Hundred Seventy Million (270,000,000), which shall be divided into two
classes as follows:
A. Two Hundred Sixty Million (260,000,000) shares of Common Stock, the par value of
which is One Cent ($.01) per share; and
B. Ten Million (10,000,000) shares of Preferred Stock, the par value of which shares is
One Cent ($.01) per share. The Corporation’s Board of Directors is hereby expressly authorized
to provide by resolution or resolutions from time to time for the issuance of the Preferred Stock
in one or more series, the shares of each which series to have such voting rights and the terms
and conditions for the exercise thereof, provided that the holders of shares of Preferred Stock
(1) will not be entitled to more than the lesser of (x) one vote per $100 of liquidation value or
(y) one vote per share, when voting as a class with the holders of shares of other capital stock,
and (2) will not be entitled to vote on any matter separately as a class, except to the extent
required by law or as specified with respect to each series with respect to (x) any amendment or
alteration of the provisions of this Certificate of Incorporation that would adversely affect the
powers, preferences or special rights of the applicable series of Preferred Stock or (y) the failure
of the Corporation to pay dividends on any series of Preferred Stock in full for any six
quarterly dividend payment periods, whether or not consecutive, in which event the number of
directors may be increased by two and the holders of outstanding shares of Preferred Stock then
similarly entitled shall be entitled to elect the two additional directors until full accumulated
dividends on all such shares of Preferred Stock shall have been paid; and such designations,
preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, and qualifications,
limitations or restrictions thereof, as shall be permitted under the General Corporation Law of
the State of Delaware and as shall be stated in the resolution or resolutions providing for the
issuance of such stock adopted by the Board of Directors pursuant to the authority expressly
vested in the Board of Directors in the Bylaws.
Vote Required
The affirmative vote of the holders of not less than two-thirds of the shares present in person or by
proxy at the meeting is required to approve the proposed amendment. If the amendment is not approved
by the stockholders, our certificate of incorporation, which currently authorizes the issuance of
100,000,000 shares of common stock, will continue in effect.
Your board of directors recommends a vote ‘‘For’’ approval of the amendment to our certificate of
incorporation to increase our authorized shares.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
Information About Stockholder Proposals
If you wish to submit proposals for possible inclusion in our 2007 proxy materials, we must receive
them at our principal executive offices no later than the close of business on November 20, 2006.
Proposals should be addressed to Robert G. Jones, Vice President — Law, General Counsel and Secretary,
Arch Coal, Inc., One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300, St. Louis, Missouri 63141.
If you wish to nominate directors and/or propose proper business from the floor for consideration at
the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, our bylaws provide that:
) You must notify Arch Coal’s Secretary in writing;
) Your notice must have been received at Arch Coal’s headquarters not earlier than January 27,
2007 and not later than February 16, 2007; and
) Your notice must contain the specific information required in our bylaws.
We will send copies of these requirements to any stockholder who writes to us requesting this
information. Please note that these three requirements apply only to matters that you wish to bring
before your fellow stockholders at the 2007 Annual Meeting without submitting them for possible
inclusion in our 2007 proxy materials.
Directions to the Annual Meeting
From Downtown St. Louis: Take Highway 40 West to Interstate 270 North. Exit at Olive
Boulevard. Take Olive Boulevard East to CityPlace Drive. North on CityPlace Drive to Arch Coal’s
headquarters at CityPlace One.
From Lambert International Airport: Take Highway 70 West to Interstate 270 South. Exit at Olive
Boulevard. Take Olive Boulevard East to CityPlace Drive. North on CityPlace Drive to Arch Coal’s
headquarters at CityPlace One.

ROBERT G. JONES
Vice President — Law, General Counsel and Secretary
March 20, 2006
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APPENDIX A
ARCH COAL, INC.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES
The Vision of Arch Coal is:
To create superior customer and shareholder value as the safest, lowest cost and most environmentally
responsible supplier of coal-based energy in the world.
In Furtherance of that Vision, our Mission is:
Arch Coal is dedicated to being a market-driven global leader in the coal industry and to
creating superior long-term shareholder value. We will conduct our business with integrity and an
unrelenting passion for providing the best value to our customers. We will foster an innovative,
motivating work environment and operate safe, low cost mines, utilizing our resources effectively
and efficiently.
The directors are employed by stockholders to oversee management so as to hold managers
accountable for the pursuit of the corporate vision and mission.
I.

DIRECTOR QUALIFICATION STANDARDS

The principal qualities of an effective corporate director include strength of character, an inquiring
and independent mind, practical wisdom, and mature judgment. In addition to these qualities, Arch
Coal’s criteria include recognized achievement, an ability to contribute to some aspect of the company’s
business, and the willingness to make the commitment of time and effort required of an Arch Coal
director. In order to find the most valuable talent available to meet these criteria, the Board considers
candidates diverse in geographic origin, gender, ethnic background, and professional experience (private,
public, and non-profit). The goal is to include members with the skills and characteristics that taken
together will assure a strong Board.
The number of directors that constitutes the Board is fixed from time to time by a resolution
adopted by a two-thirds majority of the Board.
It is the policy of the Board to have an overwhelming majority of directors who meet the applicable
independence requirements of the New York Stock Exchange (‘‘NYSE’’), the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the
Securities and Exchange Commission (‘‘SEC’’). In addition, it is the policy of the Board to have
significant representation on the Board of individuals not affiliated with a significant shareholder of Arch
Coal.
The Board itself is responsible, in fact as well as procedure, for selecting new Board members who
will join the Board between shareholder meetings as well as those to be nominated by the Board for
election by shareholders. The Board delegates the screening process to the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee, with direct input from the CEO and Chairman. Candidates may be
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recommended to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee by other directors, employees,
and shareholders.
Arch Coal does not have term limits for its directors, but does have mandatory retirement for
outside directors at the annual meeting following such director’s 72nd birthday. Further, the Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee reviews each director’s performance on the Board when the
director’s Board term has expired and the slate of director candidates is being developed for inclusion in
the proxy.
Non-employee directors inform the chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee and the CEO of any principal occupation change, including retirement, and offer their
resignation to the chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. The chairman of
the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, in turn, advises the Committee of such change
of status so that the Committee with the aid of the CEO and Chairman can decide whether to accept
the resignation.
The Board has no policy with respect to the separation of the offices of Chairman and the CEO.
The Board believes that it should have the ability to make this determination on a case-by-case basis in a
manner it deems in the best interest of Arch Coal. If the chairman is not the CEO, and is an
independent director, then there shall be no Lead Director. If the chairman is the CEO or is not an
independent director, then the chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee shall
act as the Lead Director.
II.

DIRECTOR DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
In fulfilling its responsibilities, Arch Coal’s Board performs the following principal functions:
1. Ensuring legal and ethical conduct;
2. Selecting, evaluating, compensating, and, where necessary, replacing the CEO and other
senior executives;
3. Approving corporate strategy;
4. Providing general oversight of the business;
5. Evaluating Board processes and performance;
6. Selecting and nominating candidates for the election to the Board of Directors; and
7. Compensating directors.

Directors are expected to attend Board meetings and meetings of committees on which they serve,
and to spend the time needed and meet as frequently as necessary to properly discharge their
responsibilities. The CEO, in consultation with the Chairman, or the Lead Director if the chairman is
the CEO, establishes the agenda for each Board meeting. Any director is entitled to add to the agenda
any matter that the director reasonably believes should be on the agenda. Prior to each Board meeting,
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the Board members receive an agenda for the meeting, along with advance copies (when possible) of any
written materials to be discussed. In addition, the CEO regularly distributes to all Board members items
of topical interest relating to Arch Coal, its operating environment, and the markets that it serves.
The non-management directors meet regularly in executive session, with such meetings led by the
Lead Director. The Board also meets regularly in open session joined by selected members of Arch Coal’s
senior management. All of Arch Coal’s senior officers make presentations to the Board on a regular basis.
In addition, from time to time various other corporate personnel attend open Board sessions and make
presentations.
Board members have complete access to corporate management at all times. Board members use
judgment to be sure that this contact is not distracting to the business operation of the company. In
addition, the Board and each committee have the power to hire independent legal, financial or other
advisors as they may deem necessary, without consulting or obtaining the approval of any officer of the
Company in advance.
III.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Arch Coal has four standing committees: Audit, Nominating and Corporate Governance, Finance,
and Personnel and Compensation (‘‘P&C’’). Pursuant to Arch Coal’s bylaws, the Board may create or
discharge any committee at any time, subject to the rules and regulations of the NYSE, the SarbanesOxley Act and the SEC.
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, after consultation with the Chairman and
CEO and with consideration of the desires of individual Board members, recommends committee
assignments including the chairmanships to the full Board for approval.
Committee chairmanships usually are rotated every three years. Other committee members are
rotated periodically as the Board deems appropriate, although membership on a committee is normally
limited to six years for one assignment. Exceptions to these guidelines are made as the Board deems
appropriate. In determining potential committee chair and membership rotations, the Board takes into
account (a) each Board member’s interests, tenure and subject-matter expertise, (b) the need for both
continuity and fresh ideas and perspectives, and (c) applicable independence and qualification
requirements.
The Audit Committee, Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and the P&C
Committee consist only of independent directors under criteria established by the NYSE. Each of these
committees has its own charter which sets forth the purposes, goals and responsibilities of such
committee. The charters also provide that each committee will annually evaluate its performance.
The CEO and Secretary of Arch Coal, in consultation with the Chairman and each committee
chairman, sets the committee meeting calendar for the upcoming calendar year. Each committee reports
to the Board at the next meeting of the Board following the committee meeting.
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Prior to each committee meeting, the committee members receive an agenda for the meeting, along
with advance copies (when possible) of any written materials to be discussed.
Each committee chairman convenes as appropriate executive sessions of non-employee or outside
Board members of the committee to discuss its operations.
IV.

DIRECTOR ORIENTATION AND EDUCATION

Management will provide new Directors with an initial orientation in order to familiarize them with
their responsibilities as Directors under law and the New York Stock Exchange Listing Standards, and
with the Company and its strategic plans, its significant financial, accounting and risk management
policies and procedures, its compliance programs, its Business Code of Conduct, its senior management,
and its internal and independent auditors.
In addition, on an ongoing basis, Directors are encouraged to attend continuing education
opportunities to provide knowledge of current developments in relevant matters or to improve critical
skills.
V.

EVALUATING BOARD PROCESSES AND PERFORMANCE

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee reports annually to the Board on an
assessment of the Board’s performance. This is discussed by the Board at first with the CEO in
attendance; then, if desired by the chairman of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee or
any other director, it is discussed in an executive session of non-employee directors. This assessment is of
the Board’s contribution as a whole and reviews areas in which the Board and/or the management
believes a better contribution could be made. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is
responsible for evaluating the performance of current Board members at the time they are considered for
re-nomination to the Board.
VI.

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board concerning directors’ compensation, including benefits. In undertaking its
review, this Committee may receive advice from the CEO and internal staff and engage outside
consultants to provide reports on trends in director compensation, including compensation paid to
outside directors of other companies.
The Board seeks to avoid compensation elements that may compromise the independence of
directors, such as consulting contracts or other indirect forms of compensation to a director or an
organization with which the director is affiliated.
VII. CONFLICT OF INTEREST
A director’s business or family relationships may occasionally give rise to that director’s material
personal interest on a particular issue. The Board, after consultation with counsel, determines whether
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such a conflict of interest exists on a case-by-case basis. The Board takes appropriate steps to identify
such potential conflicts and to assure that all directors voting on an issue are disinterested with respect to
that issue.
VIII.

THE CEO AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The full Board of non-employee directors makes an annual evaluation of the CEO’s performance,
taking into account both the financial performance of the business and the qualitative performance of the
CEO, including, for example, vision and leadership, accomplishment of long-term strategic objectives,
and development of management. The results are used to identify strengths and areas needing
improvements and to provide input to the P&C Committee’s evaluation of the CEO for compensation
purposes.
The CEO reviews annually with the Board the current goals of the other senior officers and the
extent to which these officers have accomplished their previous goals.
The P&C Committee annually evaluates the performance of the CEO and other senior officers for
compensation purposes and makes compensation recommendations to the Board (non-employee
directors). The Board reviews these evaluations and recommendations and determines the compensation,
including incentive pay.
The CEO makes an annual report to the Board on succession planning and management
development. In this report, the CEO recommends at least one individual who could assume the CEO
position if the CEO unexpectedly should be unavailable for service, updating this recommendation as
appropriate.
The CEO and other senior officers obtain the approval of the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee prior to accepting an invitation to serve on the Board of another public company
or on the Board of any private company that would represent a material commitment of time. It is
generally advisable to limit such outside directorships to no more than two.
The CEO and other senior officers of Arch Coal do not serve on the Board of a company for which
an Arch Coal non-employee director serves as an officer.

These principles and policies are in addition to and are not intended to change or interpret any Federal or state
law or regulation, including the Delaware General Corporation Law, or the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Company. The Board of Directors will review these Guidelines at least annually and, if
appropriate, revise these Guidelines from time to time.
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APPENDIX B
ARCH COAL, INC.
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER
Purpose
The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight over
(1) the integrity of the financial statements, internal accounting, financial controls, disclosure controls and
financial reporting processes of the Company, (2) the independent auditors’ qualifications and
independence, (3) the performance of the Company’s internal audit function and independent auditors,
and (4) the compliance by the Company with legal and regulatory requirements.
The Committee shall prepare, or cause to be prepared, the report required by the rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission to be included in the Company’s annual proxy statement.
Limitation of Audit Committee’s Role
While the Committee has the responsibilities and powers set forth in this Charter, it is not the duty
of the Committee to plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Company’s financial statements and
disclosures are complete and accurate and are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
and applicable rules and regulations. These are the responsibilities of management and the independent
auditors.
Additionally, the Board and the Committee recognize that financial management (including the
internal audit staff), as well as the independent auditors, have more time, knowledge and more detailed
information on the Company than do Committee members; consequently, in carrying out its oversight
responsibilities, the Committee is not providing any expert or special assurances as to the Company’s
financial statements or any professional certification as to the independent auditors’ work.
Committee Membership
The Committee shall consist of no fewer than three members. All Committee members shall be
financially literate, as determined by the Board, and at least one member of the Committee shall have a
background in financial reporting, accounting and auditing. All members of the Committee shall meet all
other independence, experience and expertise requirements of the New York Stock Exchange. The
Committee shall endeavor to at all times have at least one member who is an ‘‘audit committee financial
expert,’’ as defined by SEC regulations.
The members of the Committee shall be appointed by the Board on the recommendation of the
Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee. Committee members may be replaced by the Board.
The Board shall appoint one of the members of the Audit Committee as Chairperson. It is the
responsibility of the Chairperson to schedule all meetings of the Committee and to provide the
Committee with a written agenda prior to each meeting.
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Compensation shall be limited to director fees and committee fees (including committee
chairmanship fees).
Committee Authority and Responsibilities
The independent auditors shall report directly to the Audit Committee. In that regard, the
Committee is directly responsible for engagement of the independent auditors, has the sole authority to
appoint or replace the independent auditors (subject to shareholder ratification), and shall pre-approve all
audit engagement fees and terms and all non-audit engagements with the independent auditors and shall
disclose its policies for approval of such engagements in the Company’s periodic reports filed with the
SEC. In addition, it is a direct responsibility of the Audit Committee for resolution of disagreements
between management and the independent auditors regarding accounting and financial matters.
The Committee shall meet as often as it determines, but not less frequently than quarterly. The
Committee may delegate authority to the Chair of the Committee and/or a subcommittee of the Audit
Committee when appropriate.
All actions taken pursuant to a delegation of authority described in the previous sentence shall be
presented to the full Committee at its next regularly scheduled meeting for review and ratification.
The Committee shall have the authority, to the extent it deems necessary or appropriate, to retain
its own special legal, accounting or other consultants to advise the Committee and the Company will
provide adequate funding for such activities. In addition, the Committee may request any officer or
employee of the Company or the Company’s outside counsel or independent auditors to attend a
meeting of the Committee or to meet with any members of, or consultants to, the Committee. The
Committee shall meet with management, the internal auditors and the independent auditors in separate
executive sessions at least quarterly. The Committee may also, to the extent it deems necessary or
appropriate, meet with the Company’s investment bankers or financial analysts who follow the Company.
The Committee shall make regular reports to the Board and provide copies of the minutes of each
meeting to the Board as soon as practical after each Committee meeting. The Committee shall review
and reassess the adequacy of this Charter annually and recommend any proposed changes to the Board
for approval. The Committee shall annually review the Committee’s own performance.
The Committee, to the extent it deems necessary or appropriate, shall:
1. Discuss with management and the independent auditors the annual audited financial
statements, including (a) disclosures made in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations, (b) their judgment about the quality, not just the
acceptability, of accounting principles, (c) the reasonableness of significant judgments, (d) the clarity
of the disclosures in the financial statements and(e) the results of the audit, and recommend to the
Board whether the audited financial statements should be included in the Company’s Form 10-K.
2. Discuss with management and the independent auditors the Company’s quarterly financial
statements and disclosures under Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
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Results of Operations, including the results of the independent auditors’ reviews of the quarterly
financial statements, prior to the filing of such financial statements.
3. Discuss with management and the independent auditors, at the conclusion of the annual
audit, significant financial reporting issues and judgments made in connection with the preparation
of the Company’s financial statements, including any significant changes in the Company’s selection
or application of accounting principles, any major issues as to the adequacy of the Company’s
internal controls, the development, selection and disclosure of critical accounting estimates, and
analyses of the effect of alternative assumptions, estimates or GAAP methods on the Company’s
financial statements. To further this goal, the Committee shall receive reports at least quarterly from
the independent auditors, and prior to the filing of its report with the SEC, on all critical
accounting policies and practices of the Company, all alternative treatments of financial information
within GAAP that have been discussed with management, including the ramifications of the use of
such alternative treatments and disclosures and the treatment preferred by the independent auditor,
and other material written communications between the independent auditor and management.
4. Discuss with management the Company’s earnings press releases, including the use of ‘‘pro
forma’’ or ‘‘adjusted’’ non-GAAP information, as well as financial information and earnings guidance
provided to analysts and rating agencies. The Committee need not discuss in advance each earnings
release or each instance in which the Company may provide earnings guidance.
5. Discuss with management and the independent auditors the effect of regulatory and
accounting initiatives as well as off-balance sheet structures on the Company’s financial statements.
6. Discuss with the independent auditors the matters required to be discussed by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 61 relating to the conduct of the audit. In particular, discuss:
a. The adoption of, or changes to, the Company’s significant auditing and accounting
principles and practices as suggested by the independent auditors, internal auditors or
management.
b. The management letter provided by the independent auditors and the Company’s
response to that letter.
c. Any difficulties encountered in the course of the audit work, including any restrictions
on the scope of activities or access to requested information, and any significant disagreements
with management.
7. Meet with the independent auditors prior to the audit to discuss the planning and staffing
of the audit.
8. Discuss the experience, qualifications and independence of the Company’s independent
auditor, including all relationships between the auditing firm and the Company and its Directors
and officers. Discuss the experience, qualifications and independence of the lead partner as well as
the senior members of the independent auditors’ team.
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9. Obtain and review a report from the independent auditors at least annually regarding (a) the
independent auditors’ internal quality-control procedures, (b) any material issues raised by the most
recent quality-control review, or peer review, of the firm, or by any inquiry or investigation by
governmental or professional authorities within the preceding five years respecting one or more
independent audits carried out by the firm, (c) any steps taken to deal with any such issues, and
(d) all relationships between the independent auditors and the Company.
10. At least annually, discuss the overall performance of the independent auditors, taking into
account the opinions of management and the internal auditors.
11. At least annually, present the Committee’s conclusions regarding the independence and
performance of the independent auditors to the Board and, if so determined by the Committee,
recommend that the Board take additional action to satisfy itself as to the qualifications,
performance and independence of the independent auditors.
12. Discuss whether, in order to assure continuing auditor independence, it is appropriate to
adopt a policy of rotating the lead audit partner more often that required by law, or even the
independent auditing firm itself on a regular basis.
13. Set policies for the Company’s hiring of employees or former employees of the
independent auditors who were engaged on the Company’s account.
14. Obtain and review a quarterly report on matters discussed by the independent auditors
with its national office regarding the Company.
15. Review with the independent auditors any audit problems or difficulties and management’s
response, including the independent auditors’ responses regarding accounting adjustments noted or
proposed but passed (as immaterial or otherwise).
16. Review with the independent auditors any audit problems or difficulties in management’s
response regarding ‘‘management’’ or ‘‘internal control’’ letter matters.
17. Discuss internal audit plan and review assistance to be provided independent accountants
by internal audit staff.
18. Discuss the appointment and replacement of the senior internal auditing executive.
19. Discuss the significant reports to management prepared by the internal audit department
and management’s responses.
20. Discuss with the independent auditors and the internal audit department the responsibilities of the internal audit department, as well as the internal audit program, budget and staffing and
any recommended changes in the planned scope of the internal audit.
21. Discuss the Internal Audit Charter at least annually.
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22. Discuss with management, the internal auditors and the independent auditors the adequacy
and effectiveness of accounting and financial controls, including the Company’s policies and
procedures to assess, monitor, and manage business risk, and legal and ethical compliance programs
(e.g., the Company’s Code of Business Conduct) and any special audit steps adopted in light of
material control deficiencies.
23. Discuss with the Board the Company’s policies and procedures regarding compliance with
applicable laws and regulations and with the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics.
24. Discuss management’s assertion on its assessment of the effectiveness of internal controls as
of the end of the most recent fiscal year and the independent auditors’ report on management’s
assertion.
25. Establish and discuss annually procedures for the receipt, retention, and treatment of
complaints received by the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing
matters, and the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of concerns
regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.
26. Discuss with management and the independent auditors any correspondence with
regulators or governmental agencies and any employee complaints or published reports which raise
material issues regarding the Company’s financial statements or accounting policies.
27. Discuss with the Company’s General Counsel legal matters that may have a significant
impact on the financial statements or the Company’s compliance policies.
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Part II — Annual Report
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation
This document contains ‘‘forward-looking statements’’ — that is, statements related to future, not past, events. In
this context, forward-looking statements often address our expected future business and financial performance, and
often contain words such as ‘‘expects,’’ ‘‘anticipates,’’ ‘‘intends,’’ ‘‘plans,’’ ‘‘believes,’’ ‘‘seeks,’’ or ‘‘will.’’ Forward-looking
statements by their nature address matters that are, to different degrees, uncertain. For us, particular uncertainties
arise from changes in the demand for our coal by the domestic electric generation industry; from legislation and
regulations relating to the Clean Air Act and other environmental initiatives; from operational, geological, permit,
labor and weather-related factors; from fluctuations in the amount of cash we generate from operations; from future
integration of acquired businesses; and from numerous other matters of national, regional and global scale, including
those of a political, economic, business, competitive or regulatory nature. These uncertainties may cause our actual
future results to be materially different than those expressed in our forward-looking statements. We do not undertake
to update our forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except
as may be required by law.
Executive Overview
We focus on taking steps to increase shareholder returns by improving earnings, strengthening cash
generation and improving productivity at our large-scale mines, while building on our strategic position in each
of the nation’s principal low-sulfur coal basins. We believe that success in the coal industry is largely dependent
on leadership in three crucial areas of performance — safety, environmental stewardship and shareholder return.
At the same time, we are sustaining our long-standing focus on being a low-cost producer in the regions where
we operate. We are also seeking to enhance our position as a preferred supplier to U.S. power producers, acting
as a reliable and ethical partner. We plan to focus on organic growth by continuing to develop our existing
reserve base, and we plan to evaluate acquisitions that represent a good fit with our existing operations.
Economic expansion and the high cost of competing fuels translated into strong coal demand throughout
2005. We estimate that coal-fuel electric generation increased 2.5% during 2005. In addition to increasing
utilization at existing coal-fired power plants, U.S. power generators are moving forward with plans to build
new coal plants. Already, projects have been announced that we believe could boost the installed coal-based
generating units by approximately 80 gigawatts, or 25%, which could ultimately increase coal demand by as
much as 300 million tons annually. In addition, interest in converting coal into transportation fuels and
synthetic natural gas has increased from prior years.
Meanwhile, coal production during 2005 struggled to keep pace with increased demand, with
consumption outstripping supply for the third consecutive year, according to our estimates. We estimate that
utility coal stockpiles ended 2005 at their lowest year-end levels in decades at approximately 33 days of supply,
or 37% below the 15-year average. We believe stockpile levels are particularly low in the midwestern
United States, where coal fuel costs have boosted wholesale power sales and rail disruptions have constrained
coal deliveries. We believe that strong coal demand and continuing supply constraints will result in a multi-year
effort to restore utility stockpiles to targeted levels, particularly in the midwestern United States traditionally
served by coal producers operating in the Powder River Basin.
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Rail service disruptions experienced throughout the industry during 2004 continued for much of 2005
and resulted in missed shipments in all of our operating regions, including some of our highest margin coal in
Central Appalachia. Severe weather and the resulting maintenance efforts exacerbated the railroad disruptions
already existing as a result of inadequate staffing at the railroads, equipment shortages and an overall increase in
rail shipments. We expect continued challenges during 2006 due to rail shortages, and we continue to work
with our customers and the railroads in an effort to minimize the impact of future disruptions.
Overall, 2005 was one of the most eventful years in the history of our company. We believe our
accomplishments during 2005, particularly those during the last quarter, have strengthened our strategic,
operational and financial position within the U.S. coal industry.
Results of Operation
Recent Developments
On October 27, 2005, we conducted a precautionary evacuation of our West Elk mine after we detected
elevated readings of combustion-related gases in an area of the mine where we had completed mining activities
but had not yet removed all remaining longwall equipment. We have successfully controlled the combustionrelated gases, re-entered and rehabilitated the mine, and we have taken actions to commence longwall mining
which we expect to begin late in the first quarter. We estimate that the financial impact of idling the mine and
fighting the fire during the fourth quarter of 2005 was $33.3 million in reduced operating profit. We will
continue to be negatively impacted during the first quarter of 2006 until the longwall is back in production
and the mine is operating at full capacity.
On December 30, 2005, we completed a reserve swap with Peabody Energy and sold to Peabody a rail
spur, rail loadout and idle office complex located in the Powder River Basin for a purchase price of
$84.6 million, resulting in a gain of $46.5 million. In the reserve swap, we exchanged 60 million tons of coal
reserves near the former North Rochelle mine for a similar block of 60 million tons of coal reserves more
strategically positioned relative to our Black Thunder mining complex. We believe the reserve exchange will
provide us with a more efficient mine plan.
On December 31, 2005, we accepted for conversion 2,724,418 shares of preferred stock, representing
approximately 95% of the preferred stock issued and outstanding on that date, pursuant to the terms of a
conversion offer. As a result of the conversion offer, we issued an aggregate of 6,534,517 shares of common
stock pursuant to the conversion terms of the preferred stock and an aggregate premium of 119,602 shares of
common stock. We recorded the issuance of the aggregate premium as a preferred stock dividend of
$9.5 million. As of March 1, 2006, 150,508 shares of preferred stock remain outstanding.
On December 31, 2005, we sold all of the stock of three subsidiaries and their four associated mining
operations and coal reserves in Central Appalachia to Magnum Coal Company. The three subsidiaries include
Hobet Mining, Apogee Coal Company and Catenary Coal Company, which include the Hobet 21, Arch of
West Virginia, Samples and Campbells Creek mining operations. Included in the sale were a total of
455.0 million tons of reserves. For the year ended December 31, 2005, these subsidiaries sold 12.7 million tons
of coal, had revenues of $509.8 million and incurred a loss from operations of $8.3 million, for the year ended
December 31, 2004, these subsidiaries sold 14.0 million tons of coal, had revenues of $475.1 million and
incurred a loss from operations of $3.8 million, and for the year ended December 31, 2003, these subsidiaries
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sold 14.4 million tons of coal, had revenues of $424.3 million and incurred a loss from operations of
$65.6 million. As a result of the sale, Magnum acquired all of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries
including various employee liabilities of idle union properties whose former employees were signatory to a
United Mine Workers’ Association contract. We recognized a gain of $7.5 million as a result of the transaction.
On February 10, 2006, we established a $100 million accounts receivable securitization program. Under
the program, undivided interests in a pool of eligible trade receivables are sold, without recourse, to a
multi-seller, asset-backed commercial paper conduit. Purchases by the conduit are financed with the sale of
highly-rated commercial paper. We may use the proceeds from the sale of accounts receivable in the program as
an alternative to other forms of debt.
On February 23, 2005, our board of directors elected Steven F. Leer, our president and chief executive
officer, as chairman of the board of directors, effective April 28, 2006. Mr. Leer will continue to act as
president and chief executive officer until April 28, 2006, at which time Mr. Leer will assume the
responsibilities of chairman of the board and chief executive officer. In addition, the board of directors elected
John W. Eaves, our executive vice president and chief operating officer, as president, effective April 28, 2006.
The board of directors also increased the size of the board of directors to eleven and elected Mr. Eaves to fill
the newly-created vacancy, effective immediately.
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Items Affecting Comparability of Reported Results
The comparison of our operating results for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 is
affected by the following significant items:
Year Ended December 31,
2005
2004
2003
(Amounts in millions)

Operating income:
Gain on sale of Powder River Basin assets *********************** $ 46.5

$ —

$

—

Gain on sale of Central Appalachian operations ******************

7.5

—

—

Reduced operating profit from West Elk thermal event*************

(33.3)

—

—

Arbitration and legal settlements ******************************

(16.0)

—

—

Gain on land, equipment and facility sales **********************

28.2

6.7

3.8

Mark-to-market adjustments on sulfur dioxide and coal derivatives ***

(19.7)

—

—

Long-term incentive compensation expense **********************

(19.5)

(5.5)

Establishment of charitable foundation *************************

(5.0)

—

—

Gain on sale of investment in Natural Resource Partners L.P. *******

—

91.3

42.7

Severance costs/reduction in workforce *************************

—

(2.1)

(2.6)

Net increase (decrease) in operating income******************** $(11.3)

(16.2)

$90.4

$ 27.7

(2.3)

0.9

13.4

Net increase (decrease) in pre-tax income ********************* $(13.6)

$91.3

$ 41.1

Other:
Gain (loss) from mark-to-market adjustments on interest rate swaps
that no longer qualify as hedges *****************************

Gain on sale of Powder River Basin assets. As discussed above under ‘‘Recent Developments,’’ on
December 30, 2005, we completed a reserve swap with Peabody Energy and sold to Peabody a rail spur, rail
loadout and an idle office complex, all of which is located in the Powder River Basin for a purchase price of
$84.6 million. As a result of the transaction, we recognized a gain of $46.5 million which we recorded as a
component of other operating income. Due to the similarity of the exchanged reserves, the reserves received
were recorded at the net book value of the reserves transferred.
Gain on sale of Central Appalachian assets. As discussed above under ‘‘Recent Developments,’’ on
December 31, 2005, we sold all of the stock of three subsidiaries and their associated mining operations and
coal reserves in Central Appalachia to Magnum Coal Company. In accordance with the terms of the
transaction, we agreed to pay $50.2 million to Magnum in 2006 which we have recorded in current liabilities
at December 31, 2005. We recorded a loss of $65.4 million related to firm purchase commitments to supply
below-market sales contracts that can no longer be sourced from our production as a result of the sale of these
operations to Magnum. We recorded the loss related to the below-market legacy sales contracts as an accrued
expense at December 31, 2005. The net book value of the subsidiaries sold was a net liability of
$123.1 million.
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Reduced operating profit from West Elk thermal event. As discussed above under ‘‘Recent Developments,’’
we performed a cautionary evacuation of our West Elk mine during the fourth quarter of 2005.
Arbitration and legal settlements. In December 2005, we settled a dispute with one of our landowners. For
more information concerning these proceedings, you should see ‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition — Contingencies’’ below. As a result of the settlement, we recognized an expense of
$16.0 million which we recorded as a component of other expenses.
Gain on land, equipment and facility sales. During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
we recognized gains on several land, equipment and facility sales, certain of which are noted below. We
recorded these gains as a component of other income. During 2005, we assigned our rights and obligations on
several parcels of land to a third party in a gain of $6.3 million, we recognized a gain of $7.3 million on the
sale a dragline and sold surface land resulting in a gain of $9.0 million. During 2004 and 2003, we recognized
gains from the sale of land associated with our idle properties which we recorded as a component of other
operating income.
Unrealized losses on sulfur dioxide and coal derivatives. We recorded certain expenses related to changes in
fair market value of sulfur dioxide and coal derivatives during the period as a component of other operating
income. For more information about these expenses, you should see ‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition — Liquidity and Capital Resources’’ below.
Establishment of charitable foundation. In December 2005, we contributed $5.0 million to fund the new
Arch Coal Foundation, which will support a range of charitable and community-oriented organizations and
programs.
Long-term incentive compensation expense. During 2004, we granted an award of 220,766 shares of
performance-contingent phantom stock that vest upon the achievement of a pre-determined average closing
price of our common stock for a period of 20 consecutive trading days during the five year period following
the date of grant. During the first quarter of 2005, the shares vested, and we paid the award in a combination
of shares of our common stock and cash. As a result, we recognized a $9.9 million expense. In 2005, we
granted another award of performance-contingent phantom stock of up to 252,600 units that vest upon the
achievement of a pre-determined average closing price of our common stock for a period of 20 consecutive
trading days and the attainment of certain EBITDA levels. During the fourth quarter of 2005, we determined
that based on the closing price of our common stock and the forecast EBITDA projections, it was appropriate
to accrue a ratable portion of the award over the projected period of attainment. We recognized $4.5 million of
expense related to this award. Of the aggregate amounts we recognized during 2005, we recorded $13.6 million
as a component of selling, general and administrative expense and $0.8 million as a component of cost of coal
sales. The remaining expense of $5.1 million during 2005 relates to other incentive compensation plans.
During 2004, we recorded an aggregate expense of $5.5 million related to awards we granted under our longterm incentive compensation plans. Awards under these plans included restricted stock units that vest ratably
over a three-year period and performance unit tied to our performance against pre-established targets, including
certain financial, safety and environmental performance targets during the three-year period ending
December 31, 2006. During the fourth quarter of 2003, our board of directors approved awards under a
four-year performance unit plan that began in 2000. We recorded an aggregate expense of $16.2 million in
2003 related to those awards.
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Gain on sale of investment in Natural Resource Partners L.P. During 2004, we sold our remaining limited
partnership units of Natural Resource Partners L.P. resulting in proceeds of approximately $111.4 million and a
gain of $91.3 million. During 2003, we sold our general partner interest and subordinated units resulting in
proceeds of $115.0 million and a gain of $42.7 million.
Severance costs/reduction in workforce. During 2004, Canyon Fuel, for which we accounted under the
equity method through July 31, 2004, began the process of idling its Skyline Mine. Canyon Fuel completed
the idling process in May 2004. In connection with this process, Canyon Fuel incurred severance costs of
$3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. We reflected our share of these costs totaling $2.1 million
as a component of income from equity investments.
During the year ended December 31, 2003, we instituted cost reduction efforts throughout our
operations. These cost reduction efforts included the termination of approximately 100 employees at our
corporate office and Central Appalachia mining operations. Of the expense recognized, we recorded
$1.6 million as a component of cost of coal sales and the remainder as a component of selling, general and
administrative expenses.
Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps that no longer qualified as hedges. We entered into several interest
rate swap agreements to hedge the variable rate interest payments due under Arch Western’s term loans.
Subsequent to the repayment of those term loans, the swaps no longer qualified for hedge accounting under
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, ‘‘Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,’’ which we refer to as FAS 133. As such, we recognized income related to favorable changes in the
market value of the swap agreements as a component of other non-operating income. During the year ended
December 31, 2003, we recognized income of $13.4 million related to the unrealized gains on these swap
agreements.
Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004
The following discussion summarizes our operating results for the year ended December 31, 2005 and
compares those results to our operating results for the year ended December 31, 2004.
Revenues. The following table summarizes the number of tons we sold during the year ended
December 31, 2005 and the sales associated with those tons and compares those results to the comparable
information for the year ended December 31, 2004:
Year Ended December 31,
Increase (Decrease)
2005
2004
$
%
(Amounts in thousands, except per ton data)

Coal sales *******************************

$2,508,773

$1,907,168

$601,605

31.5%

Tons sold********************************

140,202

123,060

17,142

13.9%

2.39

15.4%

Coal sales realization per ton sold ************

$
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17.89

$

15.50

$

The following table shows the number of tons sold by operating segment during the year ended
December 31, 2005 and compares those amounts to the comparable information for the year ended
December 31, 2004:
Tons Sold
2005
2004
(Amounts in thousands)

% of Total
2005
2004

Powder River Basin ********************************

91,471

81,857

65.2%

66.5%

Central Appalachia *********************************

30,532

30,008

21.8%

24.4%

Western Bituminous Region**************************

18,199

11,195

13.0%

9.1%

Total ****************************************** 140,202

123,060

100.0% 100.0%

Coal sales. The increase in our coal sales resulted from a combination of increased volumes, higher
pricing, and the acquisitions of Triton in the Powder River Basin on August 20, 2004 and the remaining 35%
interest in Canyon Fuel in the Western Bituminous region on July 31, 2004.
Our volume in the Powder River Basin increased 11.7% during 2005 compared to 2004. Our volume in
Central Appalachia remained relatively flat, increasing 1.7% in 2005 compared to 2004. In the Western
Bituminous region, our volume increased 62.6% during the same period. In addition to an overall increase in
demand, volumes in the Powder River Basin and the Western Bituminous region also benefited from the
acquisitions described above.
Our per ton realizations increased due primarily to higher contract prices in all three segments. In the
Powder River Basin, our per ton realization increased 16.3% due to increased base pricing and above-market
pricing on certain contracts acquired in our Triton acquisition as well as higher sulfur dioxide quality premiums
resulting from higher sulfur dioxide emission allowance prices. Our per ton realization in the Central
Appalachia Basin increased 17.7% as both contract and spot market prices were higher than in 2004.
Additionally, we received higher sales prices on our metallurgical coal sales in 2005 compared to 2004. The
Western Bituminous region’s per ton realization increased 24.7%. In addition to higher contract pricing, per
ton realization in the Western Bituminous region was also affected by our acquisition of the remaining 35%
interest in Canyon Fuel during the third quarter of 2004.
On a consolidated basis, the increase in per ton realization was partially offset by the change in mix of
sales volumes among our operating regions. As reflected in the table above, Central Appalachia volumes (which
have the highest average realization) were relatively flat in 2005 while volumes from lower realization regions
(the Powder River Basin and Western Bituminous region) increased from 2004.
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Operating costs and expenses. The following table summarizes our operating costs and expenses for the
year ended December 31, 2005 and compares those results to the comparable information for the year ended
December 31, 2004:
Year Ended December 31,
Increase (Decrease)
2005
2004
$
%
(Amounts in thousands)

Cost of coal sales **************************

$2,174,007

$1,638,646

$535,361

32.7%

Depreciation, depletion and amortization *******

212,301

166,322

45,979

27.6%

Selling, general and administrative expenses *****

91,568

57,975

33,593

57.9%

Other expenses ****************************

80,983

35,758

45,225

126.5%

$2,558,859

$1,898,701

$660,158

34.8%

Cost of coal sales. The increase in cost of coal sales is primarily due to the acquisitions of Triton in the
Powder River Basin on August 20, 2004 and the remaining 35% interest in Canyon Fuel in the Western
Bituminous region on July 31, 2004, along with an increase in sales-sensitive costs resulting from the increase
in revenue discussed above. In addition to the acquisitions of Triton and Canyon Fuel during the third quarter
of 2004, our costs of coal sales were affected by the following:
) Production taxes and coal royalties, which we incur as a percentage of coal sales realization, increased
$100.3 million during 2005 compared to 2004.
) During 2005, our Central Appalachia operations incurred higher costs related to additional processing
necessary for coal sold in metallurgical markets and to the advancement of our Mingo Logan mine into
less favorable geological conditions.
) The cost of purchased coal increased $120.5 million, reflecting a combination of increased purchase
volumes and higher spot market prices that were prevalent during 2005 compared to 2004. During
2005, we utilized purchased coal to fulfill steam coal sales commitments in order to direct more of our
produced coal into the metallurgical markets and to make up for production shortfalls from our Central
Appalachia operations.
) Repairs and maintenance costs increased $46.7 million during 2005 compared to 2004 due to increased
repair and maintenance activity in 2005 resulting from the acquisitions in 2004 described above.
) Costs for diesel fuel, explosives and utilities increased $29.4 million, $12.6 million and $6.4 million,
respectively, in 2005 compared to 2004 as a result of higher commodity pricing and increased usage
resulting from the acquisitions in 2004 described above.
) Costs for operating supplies increased $38.5 million due partially to increased steel prices during 2005
compared to 2004 and increased usage resulting from the acquisitions in 2004 described above.
Depreciation, depletion and amortization. The increase in depreciation, depletion and amortization is due
primarily to the property additions resulting from the acquisitions made during the third quarter of 2004 and
to higher capital expenditures during 2005.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased during
2005 due primarily to $14.9 million expense we recognized for the performance-contingent phantom stock
awards to certain employees. In addition, when comparing 2005 to 2004, costs increased as a result of higher
contract services including legal and professional fees ($5.2 million), employee severance expense ($1.3 million),
the establishment of a charitable foundation during the fourth quarter of 2005 ($5.0 million) and executive
deferred compensation expense ($4.6 million).
Other expenses. Other expenses increased as a result of the settlement with a landowner noted in
‘‘Items Affecting Comparability of Results’’ which resulted in a $16.0 million expense as well as an expense of
$19.7 million recognized to reflect the change in fair value of sulfur dioxide swaps, sulfur dioxide put options
and coal swaps which are derivatives but do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment.
Our operating costs (reflected below on a per-ton basis) are defined as including all mining costs, which
consist of all amounts classified as cost of coal sales (except pass-through transportation costs) and all
depreciation, depletion and amortization attributable to mining operations.
Year Ended
December 31,
2005
2004

Powder River Basin ********************************** $ 7.21

Increase (Decrease)
$
%

$ 6.19

$1.02

16.5%

Central Appalachia **********************************

43.24

34.84

8.40

24.1%

Western Bituminous Region ***************************

16.40

15.71

0.69

4.4%

Powder River Basin — On a per ton basis, operating costs increased in the Powder River Basin primarily
due to higher diesel fuel costs ($0.15 per ton), higher repairs and maintenance costs ($0.13 per ton), higher
depreciation, depletion and amortization costs ($0.20 per ton), and increased production taxes and coal
royalties ($0.41 per ton). Additionally, average costs were higher due to the integration of the North Rochelle
mine into our Black Thunder mine in the third quarter of 2004. These costs would have been largely offset by
increased productivity had rail service not adversely impacted volumes during the year.
Central Appalachia — Operating cost per ton increased due to increased costs for coal purchases ($4.30 per
ton), increased labor costs ($1.12 per ton), increased costs for operating supplies ($0.33 per ton), increased
diesel fuel ($0.35 per ton) and production taxes and coal royalties ($0.58 per ton) as well as the increased
preparation costs for metallurgical coal discussed above. Additionally, during 2005 our Mingo Logan mine has
moved into less favorable geological conditions than during 2004, resulting in higher costs.
Western Bituminous Region — Operating cost per ton increased primarily due to the West Elk thermal
event noted in ‘‘Items Affecting Comparability of Reported Results’’. As a result of the temporary idling of the
mine, we incurred higher expenses along with reduced production.
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Other operating income. The following table summarizes our other operating income for the year ended
December 31, 2005 and compares that information to the comparable information for the year ended
December 31, 2004:
Year Ended December 31,
Increase (Decrease)
2005
2004
$
%
(Amounts in thousands)

Income from equity investments ***************** $

—

$ 10,828

$(10,828)

(100.0)%

Gain on sale of Powder River Basin assets *********

46,547

—

46,547

100.0%

Gain on sale of Central Appalachian operations *****

7,528

—

7,528

100.0%

Gain on sale of investment in Natural Resource
Partners L.P. ******************************

—

91,268

(91,268)

(100.0)%

Other operating income************************

73,868

67,483

6,385

$127,943

$169,579

$(41,636)

9.5%
(24.6)%

Income from equity investments. Income from equity investments for 2004 consisted of $8.4 million from
our investment in Canyon Fuel and $2.4 million from our investment in Natural Resource Partners L.P. prior
to our sale of those limited partnership units in March 2004.
Gain on sale. You should see ‘‘Items Affecting Comparability of Reported Results’’ for more information
about the gains on the sale of our Powder River Basin assets, Central Appalachian operations and our
investment in Natural Resource Partners L.P.
Other operating income. Gains on sales of assets other than those noted above were $28.2 million in
2005, compared to $6.7 million in 2004. The significant items comprising the gain are discussed in
‘‘Items Affecting Comparability of Reported Results’’. This increase was partially offset by the elimination of
administrative fees from Canyon Fuel subsequent to our acquisition of the remaining 35% interest during the
third quarter of 2004 which resulted in $4.8 million of income in 2004, reduced bookout income, related to
the netting of coal sales and purchase contracts with the same counterparty, of $9.4 million compared to the
prior year and a $6.5 million decrease in 2005 compared to 2004 of previously-deferred gains from our sales of
limited partnership units in Natural Resource Partners L.P. in 2003 and 2004. These deferred gains are being
recognized over the terms of our leases with Natural Resource Partners L.P.
Net interest expense. The following table summarizes our net interest expense for the year ended
December 31, 2005 and compares that information to the comparable information for the year ended
December 31, 2004:
Increase (Decrease)
Year Ended December 31,
in Net Income
2005
2004
$
%
(Amounts in thousands)

Interest expense ********************************* $(72,409)
Interest income *********************************

9,289
$(63,120)
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$(62,634)
6,130
$(56,504)

$(9,775)

(15.6)%

3,159

51.5%

$(6,616)

(11.7)%

Interest expense. The increase in interest expense results from a higher amount of average borrowings in
2005 as compared to the same period in 2004. In addition, we recognized $1.4 million of interest expense
associated with state tax assessments.
Interest income. The increase in interest income resulted primarily from interest on short-term
investments.
Other non-operating income and expense. The following table summarizes our other non-operating income
and expense for the year ended December 31, 2005 and compares that information to the comparable
information for the year ended December 31, 2004:
Year Ended
Increase (Decrease)
December 31,
in Net Income
2005
2004
$
%
(Amounts in thousands)

Expenses resulting from early debt extinguishment and
termination of hedge accounting for interest rate swaps

$ (7,740)

Other non-operating income (expense)***************

(3,524)
$(11,264)

$(9,010)

$ 1,270

14.1%

1,044

(4,568)

(437.5)%

$(7,966)

$(3,298)

(41.4)%

Amounts reported as non-operating consist of income or expense resulting from our financing activities
other than interest. As described above, our results of operations include expenses of $7.7 million for 2005 and
$9.0 million for 2004 related to the termination of hedge accounting and resulting amortization of amounts
that had previously been deferred. Other non-operating income includes mark-to-market adjustments related to
certain swap activity that does not qualify for hedge accounting under FAS 133.
Income taxes. The following table summarizes our income tax benefit for the year ended December 31,
2005 and compares that information to the comparable information for the year ended December 31, 2004:
Year Ended
Increase
December 31,
(Decrease)
2005
2004
$
%
(Amounts in thousands)

Income tax benefit *********************************** $34,650

$130

$34,520

NA

Our effective tax rate is sensitive to changes in estimates of annual profitability and percentage depletion.
The increase in the income tax benefit in 2005 as compared to 2004 is primarily the result of the taxable
income from non-mining sources from the sale of the Natural Resource Partners L.P. limited partnership units
in the first quarter of 2004. The benefit for 2005 is the result of our taxable income and the effect of
percentage depletion on our results.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded at the maximum effective tax rate. Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 109, ‘‘Accounting for Income Taxes,’’ requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by
a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be
realized. We have historically been subject to alternative minimum tax, which we refer to as AMT, and it is
more likely than not that we will remain an AMT taxpayer in the foreseeable future. Valuation allowances are
established against deferred tax assets so as to value the asset to an amount that is realizable, as described in
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‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Critical
Accounting Policies.’’
Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003
The following discussion summarizes our operating results for the year ended December 31, 2004 and
compares those results to our operating results for the year ended December 31, 2003.
Revenues. The following table summarizes the number of tons we sold during the year ended
December 31, 2004 and the sales associated with those tons and compares those results to the comparable
information for the year ended December 31, 2003:
Year Ended December 31,
Increase (Decrease)
2004
2003
$
%
(Amounts in thousands, except per ton data)

Coal sales *******************************

$1,907,168

$1,435,488

$471,680

32.9%

Tons sold********************************

123,060

100,634

22,426

22.3%

1.24

8.7%

Coal sales realization per ton sold ************

$

15.50

$

14.26

$

The following table shows the number of tons sold by operating segment during the year ended
December 31, 2004 and compares those amounts to the comparable information for the year ended
December 31, 2003:
Tons Sold
% of Total
2004
2003
2004
2003
(Amounts in thousands)

Powder River Basin ********************************

81,857

64,050

66.5%

63.6%

Central Appalachia *********************************

30,008

29,667

24.4%

29.5%

Western Bituminous Region**************************

11,195

6,917

9.1%

6.9%

Total ****************************************** 123,060

100,634

100.0% 100.0%

Coal sales. The increase in coal sales resulted from the combination of increased volumes, higher pricing
and the acquisitions of Triton and the remaining 35% interest in Canyon Fuel during the third quarter of
2004.
Our volume in the Powder River Basin increased 27.8%. In the Central Appalachian region, our volume
increased 1.2%, and in the Western Bituminous region, our volume increased 61.9%. In addition to an overall
increase in demand, volumes in both the Powder River Basin and the Western Bituminous region also benefited
from the acquisitions described above.
Our per ton realizations increased due primarily to higher contract prices in all three segments. In the
Powder River Basin, our per ton realization increased 11.3% due to above-market pricing on certain contracts
acquired in the Triton acquisition. The Central Appalachia region experienced the largest per ton realization
increase (an increase of 21.3%), as both contract and spot market prices were higher than in 2003.
Additionally, a higher percentage of our sales were metallurgical coal sales in 2004 as compared to 2003. The
Western Bituminous region’s per ton realization increased 13.4%. In addition to higher contract pricing, per
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ton realization in the Western Bituminous region was also affected by our acquisition of the remaining 35%
interest in Canyon Fuel during the third quarter of 2004.
On a consolidated basis, the increase in per ton realization was partially offset by the change in mix of
sales volumes among our operating regions. As reflected in the table above, Central Appalachia volumes (which
have the highest average realization) remained relatively flat while volumes from lower realization regions (the
Powder River Basin and Western Bituminous region) increased from 2003.
Operating costs and expenses. The following table summarizes our operating costs and expenses for the
year ended December 31, 2004 and compares those results to the comparable information for the year ended
December 31, 2003:
Year Ended December 31,
Increase (Decrease)
2004
2003
$
%
(Amounts in thousands)

Cost of coal sales ***************************

$1,638,646

$1,280,608

$358,038

28.0%

Depreciation, depletion and amortization ********

166,322

158,464

7,858

5.0%

Selling, general and administrative expenses ******

57,975

60,159

(2,184)

(3.6)%

Other expenses *****************************

35,758

18,245

17,513

96.0%

$1,898,701

$1,517,476

$381,225

25.1%

Cost of coal sales. The increase in cost of coal sales is primarily due to the increase in revenues discussed
above. Our costs of coal sales were affected by the following:
) Production taxes and coal royalties, which we incur as a percentage of coal sales realization, increased
$71.8 million.
) Poor rail performance during 2004 resulted in missed shipments and disruptions in production.
) Our Central Appalachia operations incurred higher costs related to additional processing necessary to
sell coal in metallurgical markets.
) The cost of purchased coal increased $105.9 million, reflecting a combination of increased purchase
volumes and higher spot market prices that were prevalent during 2004. During 2004, we utilized
purchased coal to fulfill steam coal sales commitments in order to direct more of our produced coal
into the metallurgical markets.
) Costs for explosives increased $9.5 million, and diesel fuel increased $22.4 million as a result of higher
commodity prices.
) Costs for operating supplies increased $16.9 million due primarily to increased commodity and steel
prices during the year.
) Repairs and maintenance costs increased $21.3 million due partially to the acquisitions made during the
third quarter of 2004.
) During the first quarter of 2004, we reflected the effects of the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003, in accordance with the provisions of FASB Staff Position
No. FAS 106-2, ‘‘Accounting and Disclosure Requirements related to the Medicare Prescription Drug,
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Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003.’’ Incorporation of the provisions of the act resulted in a
$68.0 million reduction of our postretirement medical benefit obligation. Postretirement medical
expenses for fiscal year 2004 after incorporation of the provisions of the act resulted in $18.2 million
less expense than that previously anticipated (substantially all of which is recorded as a component of
cost of coal sales). The benefit for the year ending December 31, 2004 was partially offset by increased
costs resulting from changes to other actuarial assumptions that were incorporated at the beginning of
the year.
Depreciation, depletion and amortization. The increase in depreciation, depletion and amortization is due
primarily to the property additions resulting from the acquisitions made during the third quarter of 2004.
Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased due to a
four year performance unit plan award that began in 2000 and approved by our board of directors in 2003.
We recorded an aggregate expense of $16.2 million related to that award in 2003. During 2004, we recorded
an aggregate expense of $5.5 million related to awards we granted under our long-term incentive compensation
plans. Awards under these plans included restricted stock units that vest ratably over a three-year period and
performance units tied to our performance against pre-established targets, including certain financial, safety and
environmental performance targets during the three-year period ending December 31, 2006. Partially offsetting
the decrease were higher legal and professional fees ($2.1 million), franchise taxes ($2.9 million) and higher
expenses resulting from amounts expected to be earned under our annual incentive plans ($3.7 million).
Other expenses. The increase in other expenses is primarily a result of an increase in bookout costs related
to the netting of coal sales and purchase contracts with the same counterparty.
Our operating costs (reflected below on a per-ton basis) are defined as including all mining costs, which
consist of all amounts classified as cost of coal sales (except pass-through transportation costs) and all
depreciation, depletion and amortization attributable to mining operations.
Year Ended
December 31,
2004
2003

Increase (Decrease)
$
%

Powder River Basin ******************************** $ 6.19

$ 5.45

$0.74

13.6%

Central Appalachia********************************* $34.84

$30.87

$3.97

12.9%

Western Bituminous Region ************************* $15.71

$15.41

$0.30

1.9%

Powder River Basin — On a per-ton basis, operating costs increased in the Powder River Basin primarily
due to increased cost of purchased coal ($0.31 per ton), increased production taxes and coal royalties
($0.17 per ton) and to the higher explosives and diesel fuel costs discussed above. Additionally, average costs
were higher due to the integration of the North Rochelle mine into our Black Thunder mine.
Central Appalachia — Operating cost per ton increased due to increased costs for coal purchases ($2.52 per
ton), increased diesel fuel ($0.38 per ton) and production taxes and coal royalties ($0.49 per ton) as well as the
increased preparation costs for metallurgical coal discussed above. Additionally, poor rail performance at our
Central Appalachia operations resulted in disruptions in production. As many of our costs are fixed in nature,
the reduced volume did not result in reduced overall costs.
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Western Bituminous Region — Operating cost per ton increased primarily due to increased production taxes
and coal royalties ($0.27 per ton).
Other operating income. The following table summarizes our other operating income for the year ended
December 31, 2004 and compares that information to the comparable information for the year ended
December 31, 2003:
Year Ended December 31,
Increase (Decrease)
2004
2003
$
%
(Amounts in thousands)

Income from equity investments ****************** $ 10,828

$ 34,390

$(23,562)

(68.5)%

Gain on sale of investment in Natural Resource
Partners L.P. *******************************

91,268

42,743

48,525

113.5%

Other operating income*************************

67,483

45,226

22,257

49.2%

$169,579

$122,359

$ 47,220

38.6%

Income from equity investments. Income from equity investments for 2004 consisted of $8.4 million from
our investment in Canyon Fuel and $2.4 million from our investment in Natural Resource Partners L.P. prior
to the sale of those limited partnership units in March 2004. For 2003, income from equity investments
consisted of $19.7 million of income from our investment in Canyon Fuel and $14.7 million from our
investment in Natural Resource Partners L.P. The decline in income from our investment in Canyon Fuel
results from the consolidation of Canyon Fuel into our financial statements subsequent to the July 31, 2004
purchase date, lower production and sales levels at Canyon Fuel prior to the acquisition and additional costs
related to idling the Skyline Mine, including the severance costs noted above.
You should see ‘‘Items Affecting Comparability of Reported Results’’ for more information about the gains
on the sale of our Powder River Basin assets, Central Appalachian operations and our investment in Natural
Resource Partners L.P.
Other operating income. The increase in other operating income is primarily due to the recognition in
2004 of $13.9 million of previously-deferred gains from our sales of limited partnership units in Natural
Resource Partners L.P. in 2003 and 2004. These deferred gains are being recognized over the terms of our
leases with Natural Resource Partners L.P. The increase is also due to gains recognized on land sales of
$6.7 million in 2004 compared to $3.8 million in 2003.
Net interest expense. The following table summarizes our net interest expense for the year ended
December 31, 2004 and compares that information to the comparable information for the year ended
December 31, 2003:
Increase (Decrease)
Year Ended December 31,
in Net Income
2004
2003
$
%
(Amounts in thousands)

Interest expense *******************************
Interest income *******************************

$(62,634)
6,130
$(56,504)

II-15

$(50,133)
2,636
$(47,497)

$(12,501)
3,494
$ (9,007)

(24.9)%
132.5%
(19.0)%

The increase in interest expense results from a higher average interest rate in the first six months of 2004
as compared to the same period in 2003 as well as a higher amount of average borrowings from August
through December 2004 as compared to the prior year. In 2004, our outstanding borrowings consisted
primarily of fixed rate borrowings, while borrowings in the first half of 2003 were primarily variable rate
borrowings. Short-term interest rates in 2003 were lower than the fixed rate borrowing that made up the
majority of average debt balances in 2004.
The increase in interest income is partly due to interest on the federal income tax refunds discussed above.
The remaining increase results primarily from interest on short-term investments.
Other non-operating income and expense. The following table summarizes our other non-operating income
and expense for the year ended December 31, 2004 and compares that information to the comparable
information for the year ended December 31, 2003:
Year Ended
Increase (Decrease)
December 31,
in Net Income
2004
2003
$
%
(Amounts in thousands)

Expenses resulting from early debt extinguishment and
termination of hedge accounting for interest rate swaps

$(9,010)

$(8,955)

Other non-operating income***********************

1,044
$(7,966)

$

(55)

(0.6)%

13,211

(12,167)

(92.1)%

$ 4,256

$(12,222)

(287.2)%

Amounts reported as non-operating consist of income or expense resulting from our financing activities
other than interest. As described above, we recorded expenses of $8.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2004 and $4.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 related to the termination of hedge accounting
and resulting amortization of amounts that had previously been deferred. Additionally, we incurred expenses of
$0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 and $4.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2003
related to early debt extinguishment costs.
Other non-operating income in 2003 was primarily from mark-to-market adjustments on swaps as
described above. During 2003, we terminated these positions or entered into offsetting positions.
Income taxes. The following table summarizes our income tax benefit for the year ended December 31,
2004 and compares that information to the comparable information for the year ended December 31, 2003:
Year Ended
December 31,
Increase (Decrease)
2004
2003
$
%
(Amounts in thousands)

Income tax benefit ********************************* $130

$23,210

$(23,080)

(99.4)%

Our effective tax rate is sensitive to changes in estimates of annual profitability and percentage depletion.
The income tax benefit recorded in 2004 is due primarily to a $7.1 million benefit due to favorable tax
settlements and a $9.7 million reduction in income tax reserves associated with the completion of the 1999
through 2002 federal income tax audits. The change is also the result of the tax benefit from percentage
depletion offset by the tax impact from the sales of limited partnership units in Natural Resource Partners L.P.
throughout 2004.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our primary sources of cash include sales of our coal production to customers, sales of assets and debt
and equity offerings related to significant transactions. Excluding any significant mineral reserve acquisitions, we
generally satisfy our working capital requirements and fund capital expenditures and debt-service obligations
with cash generated from operations. Our ability to satisfy debt service obligations, to fund planned capital
expenditures, to make acquisitions and to pay dividends will depend upon our future operating performance,
which will be affected by prevailing economic conditions in the coal industry and financial, business and other
factors, some of which are beyond our control. We had no loans outstanding under our revolving credit
agreement as of December 31, 2005.
The following is a summary of cash provided by or used in each of the indicated types of activities during
the past three years:
2005

Year Ended December 31,
2004
2003
(Amounts in thousands)

Cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities ******************************** $ 254,607

$ 148,728

$162,361

Investing activities *********************************

(291,543)

(597,294)

6,832

Financing activities ********************************

(25,730)

517,192

75,791

Cash provided by operating activities increased during 2005 compared to 2004 primarily as a result of
improved performance at our operations in addition to a decreased investment in working capital. While trade
accounts receivable and inventory represented the largest use of funds, increasing by $86.8 million in 2005
compared to an increase of $44.0 million in 2004, those increases were offset by an increase in accounts
payable and accrued expenses of more than $108.5 million in 2005 compared to a decrease of $6.8 million in
2004. In addition, we received $14.7 million during the second quarter of 2005 related to payment of
receivables for settled audit years from the Internal Revenue Service.
Cash provided by operating activities declined in 2004 as compared to 2003 primarily as a result of
increased investment in working capital. Trade accounts receivable represented the largest use of funds,
increasing by more than $31.5 million (net of amounts acquired in business combinations) in 2004. The
increase in trade accounts receivables in 2004 resulted from higher sales levels during the period, as revenues
increased approximately 33% in 2004 as compared to 2003. Additionally, inventory increased by more than
$12.0 million (net of amounts acquired in business combinations) in 2004. Continued rail difficulties resulted
in missed shipments and caused the increase in inventory in 2004.
Cash used in investing activities in 2005 was $305.8 million lower than in 2004, due to acquisitions in
July 2004 of the 35% of the Canyon Fuel common stock not previously owned by us and the North Rochelle
operations from Triton in August 2004, offset by partially higher capital expenditures and payments to affiliates
and to purchase equity investments of $23.3 million in 2005. Offsetting uses of cash were proceeds from the
sales of land and equipment were $117.0 million, including $84.6 million related to the sale of the Powder
River Basin assets discussed in ‘‘Results of Operations’’, compared to $7.4 million in 2004. In 2004, proceeds
of $111.4 million were received from the sale of limited partnership units in Natural Resource Partners L.P.
II-17

Capital expenditures of $357.1 million in 2005 increased $64.5 million, fueled by increases in capital
spending at the Central Appalachia operations of approximately $150.1 million, offset by a decrease in
payments made on a federal coal lease known as Little Thunder discussed below. The increase in Central
Appalachia operations includes the development and construction of the Mountain Laurel mining complex,
where expenditures of $88.3 million in 2005 represented an increase of approximately $83.0 million over 2004.
We financed the Canyon Fuel acquisition with a $22.0 million five-year note and approximately $90.0 million
of cash on hand. We financed the Triton acquisition with borrowings under the revolving credit facility of
$22.0 million, a term loan in the amount of $100.0 million, and with cash on hand.
Cash provided by investing activities in 2003 reflects the receipt of $115.0 million from the sale of the
subordinated units and general partner interest of Natural Resource Partners L.P. and the receipt of
$52.5 million from the buyout of a coal supply contract with above-market pricing. These non-recurring cash
inflows offset our capital expenditures and advance royalty payments which totaled $165.0 million.
Capital expenditures are made to improve and replace existing mining equipment, expand existing mines,
develop new mines and improve the overall efficiency of mining operations. We anticipate that capital
expenditures during 2006 will range from $525 to $575 million. This estimate includes capital expenditures
related to development work at certain of our mining operations, including the Mountain Laurel complex in
West Virginia and the North Lease mine in Utah formerly known as Skyline and our second $122.2 million
installment for the Little Thunder coal lease. Also, this estimate assumes no other acquisitions, significant
expansions of our existing mining operations or additions to our reserve base. We anticipate that we will fund
these capital expenditures with available cash, existing credit facilities and cash generated from operations.
On September 22, 2004, the Bureau of Land Management accepted our bid of $611.0 million for a
5,084-acre federal coal lease known as Little Thunder, which is adjacent to our Black Thunder mine in the
Powder River Basin. According to the BLM, the lease contains approximately 719.0 million mineable tons of
compliance coal. We paid the first of five annual payments at the time of the bid. We will make the remaining
four annual lease payments in fiscal years 2006 through 2009.
Cash used in financing activities during 2005 consists primarily of net payments on our revolving credit
facility of $25.0 million, net payments on our long-term debt of $2.4 million and dividend payments of
$27.6 million, offset partially by $31.9 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock under our
employee stock incentive plan. Cash provided by financing activities in 2004 consists primarily of proceeds
from the issuance of senior notes of $261.9 million and proceeds from the issuance of common stock through
a public offering of $230.5 million described below. Additionally, financing activities in 2004 also include net
borrowings under our revolving credit facility of $25.0 million, proceeds of $37.0 million from the issuance of
common stock under our employee stock incentive plan and dividend payments of $24.0 million. Cash
provided by financing activities in 2003 reflects the proceeds from the issuance of the Arch Western Finance
senior notes (which were used to retire Arch Western’s existing bank debt) and the proceeds from the sale of
preferred stock described below.
On January 31, 2003, we completed a public offering of 2,875,000 shares of 5% Perpetual Cumulative
Convertible Preferred Stock. The net proceeds from the offering of approximately $139.0 million were used to
reduce indebtedness under our revolving credit facility and for working capital and general corporate purposes,
including potential acquisitions.
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On June 25, 2003, Arch Western Finance, LLC, a subsidiary of Arch Western, completed the offering of
$700 million of 63/4% senior notes due 2013. We used the proceeds of the offering primarily to repay
Arch Western’s existing term loans. Interest on the senior notes is payable on January 1 and July 1 each year
commencing January 1, 2004. The senior notes are guaranteed by Arch Western and certain of Arch Western’s
subsidiaries and are secured by a security interest in promissory notes we issued to Arch Western evidencing
cash loaned to us by Arch Western. The terms of the senior notes contain restrictive covenants that limit Arch
Western’s ability to, among other things, incur additional debt, sell or transfer assets, and make investments.
On October 22, 2004, two subsidiaries of Arch Western, as co-obligors, issued $250 million of
63/4% senior notes due 2013 at a price of 104.75% of par. The net proceeds of the offering were used to repay
and retire the outstanding indebtedness under Arch Western’s $100.0 million term loan maturing in 2007, to
repay indebtedness under our revolving credit facility and for general corporate purposes.
On October 28, 2004, we completed a public offering of 7,187,500 shares of our common stock,
including the underwriters’ full over-allotment option, at a price of $33.85 per share. We used the net proceeds
of the offering, totaling $230.5 million after the underwriters’ discount and expenses, to repay borrowings
under our revolving credit facility incurred to finance our acquisition of Triton Coal Company and the first
annual payment for the Little Thunder federal coal lease. We intend to use the remaining proceeds for general
corporate purposes, including the development of the Mountain Laurel longwall mine in Central Appalachia.
We filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 24, 2004 that allows us to offer and sell from time to time unsecured debt securities consisting of
notes, debentures, and other debt securities, common stock, preferred stock, warrants, and/or units totaling a
maximum of $1.0 billion. Related proceeds could be used for general corporate purposes including repayment
of other debt, capital expenditures, possible acquisitions and any other purposes that may be stated in any
prospectus supplement.
We believe that cash generated from operations and our borrowing capacity will be sufficient to meet
working capital requirements, anticipated capital expenditures and scheduled debt payments for at least the next
several years.
On December 22, 2004, we entered into a $700.0 million revolving credit facility that matures on
December 22, 2009. The rate of interest on borrowings under the credit facility is a floating rate based on
LIBOR. The credit facility is secured by substantially all of our assets as well as our ownership interests in
substantially all of our subsidiaries, except our ownership interests in Arch Western and its subsidiaries. The
credit facility replaced our existing $350.0 million revolving credit facility. At December 31, 2005, we had
$96.5 million in letters of credit outstanding which, when combined with no outstanding borrowings under the
revolver, resulted in $603.5 million of unused borrowings under the revolver. At December 31, 2005, financial
covenant requirements do not restrict the amount of unused capacity available to us for borrowing and letters
of credit.
Financial covenants contained in our revolving credit facility consist of a maximum leverage ratio, a
maximum senior secured leverage ratio and a minimum interest coverage ratio. The leverage ratio requires that
we not permit the ratio of total net debt (as defined in the facility) at the end of any calendar quarter to
EBITDA (as defined in the facility) for the four quarters then ended to exceed a specified amount. The interest
coverage ratio requires that we not permit the ratio of EBITDA (as defined) at the end of any calendar quarter
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to interest expense for the four quarters then ended to be less than a specified amount. The senior secured
leverage ratio requires that we not permit the ratio of total net senior secured debt (as defined) at the end of
any calendar quarter to EBITDA (as defined) for the four quarters then ended to exceed a specified amount.
We were in compliance with all financial covenants at December 31, 2005.
At December 31, 2005, debt amounted to $982.4 million, or 45% of capital employed, compared to
$1,011.1 million, or 48% of capital employed at December 31, 2004. Based on the level of consolidated
indebtedness and prevailing interest rates at December 31, 2005, debt service obligations, which include the
current maturities of debt and interest expense for 2006, are estimated to be $85.8 million.
We periodically establish uncommitted lines of credit with banks. These agreements generally provide for
short-term borrowings at market rates. At December 31, 2005, there were $20 million of such agreements in
effect, of which none were outstanding.
On February 10, 2006, we established a $100 million receivables securitization program which expires on
February 3, 2011. Pursuant to the program, we may sell, up to $100 million of eligible trade receivables, which
have been contributed to our wholly-owned, bankruptcy-remote subsidiary, to a multi-seller, asset-backed
commercial paper conduit, on a revolving basis and without recourse.
Under the terms of the program, eligible trade receivables consist of trade receivables generated by our
operating subsidiaries. Although the participants in the program bear the risk of non-payment of purchased
receivables, we have agreed to indemnify the participants with respect to various matters, and we may be
required to repurchase receivables which do not comply with the requirements of the program. The participants
under the program will be entitled to receive payments reflecting a specified discount on amounts funded
under the program, including drawings under letters of credit, calculated on the basis of the base rate or
commercial paper rate, as applicable. We will pay facility fees, program fees and letter of credit fees (based on
amounts of outstanding letters of credit) at rates that vary with our debt ratings.
Under the program, we are subject to certain affirmative, negative and financial covenants customary for
financings of this type, including restrictions related to, among other things, liens, payments, merger or
consolidation and amendments to the agreements underlying the receivables pool. The administrator may
terminate the program upon the occurrence of certain events that are customary for facilities of this type (with
customary grace periods, if applicable), including, among other things, breaches of covenants, inaccuracies of
representations and warranties, bankruptcy and insolvency events, changes in the rate of default or delinquency
of the receivables above specified levels, a change of control and material judgments. A termination event would
permit the administrator to terminate the program and enforce any and all rights, subject to cure provisions,
where, applicable. Additionally, the program contains cross-default provisions, which would allow the
administrator to terminate the program in the event of non-payment of other material indebtedness when due,
and any other event which results in the acceleration of the maturity of material indebtedness.
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to market risk associated with interest rates due to our existing level of indebtedness. At
December 31, 2005, substantially all of our outstanding debt bore interest at fixed rates.
We are exposed to price risk related to the value of sulfur dioxide emission allowances that are a
component of the quality adjustment provisions in many of our coal supply contracts. We have purchased put
options and entered into swap contracts to reduce volatility in the price of sulfur dioxide emission allowances.
These contracts serve to protect us from any possible downturn in the price of sulfur dioxide emission
allowances. The put option agreements grant us the right to sell a certain quantity of sulfur dioxide emission
allowances at a specified price on a specified date. The swap agreements essentially fix the price we receive for
sulfur dioxide emission allowances by allowing us to receive a fixed sulfur dioxide allowance price and pay a
floating sulfur dioxide allowance price.
We are also exposed to the risk of fluctuations in cash flows related to our purchase of diesel fuel. We
enter into forward physical purchase contracts and heating oil swaps and options to reduce volatility in the
price of diesel fuel for our operations. The swap agreements essentially fix the price paid for diesel fuel by
requiring us to pay a fixed heating oil price and receive a floating heating oil price. The call options protect
against increases in diesel fuel by granting us the right to participate in increases in heating oil prices. The
changes in the floating heating oil price highly correlate to changes in diesel fuel prices. Accordingly, the
derivatives qualify for hedge accounting and the asset of $8.7 million representing the fair value of the
derivatives is recorded through other comprehensive income.
In the past, we have utilized interest rate swap agreements to modify the interest characteristics of our
outstanding debt, including amounts due under the Arch Western term loans. The swap agreements essentially
convert variable-rate debt to fixed-rate debt. These agreements required the exchange of amounts based on
variable interest rates for amounts based on fixed interest rates over the life of the agreement. We terminated
these swaps in the fourth quarter of 2005.
The discussion below presents the sensitivity of the market value of our financial instruments to selected
changes in market rates and prices. The range of changes reflects our view of changes that are reasonably
possible over a one-year period. Market values are the present value of projected future cash flows based on the
market rates and prices chosen. The major accounting policies for these instruments are described in Note 1 to
our consolidated financial statements.
With respect to our sulfur dioxide emission allowance put option and swap positions, as well as our
heating oil swap positions, a change in price of the underlying products impacts our net financial instrument
position. At December 31, 2005, a $100 decrease in the price of sulfur dioxide emission allowances would
result in a $1.3 million increase in the fair value of the financial position of our sulfur dioxide emission
allowance put option and swap agreements. At December 31, 2005, a $0.05 per gallon increase in the price of
heating oil would result in a $1.6 million increase in the fair value of the financial position of our heating oil
swap agreements.
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Contractual Obligations
The following is a summary of our significant contractual obligations as of December 31, 2005:
Payments Due by Period
2007-2008
2009-2010
(Amounts in thousands)

2006

Long-term debt, including related interest *****

$ 10,649

Operating leases**************************

24,089

Royalty leases****************************

$

7,277

$

After 2010

4,347

$ 960,246

43,402

30,078

42,078

148,590

171,135

168,927

44,742

Unconditional purchase obligations***********

582,664

83,525

113

—

Total contractual obligations **************

$765,992

$305,339

$203,465

$1,047,066

Royalty leases represent non-cancelable royalty lease agreements as well as federal lease bonus payments due
under the Little Thunder lease. Remaining payments due under the Little Thunder lease will be paid in four
equal annual installments of $122.2 million in fiscal years 2006 through 2009. Unconditional purchase
obligations represent amounts committed for purchases of materials and supplies, payments for services,
purchased coal, and capital expenditures.
We currently anticipate making contributions of approximately $21.0 million to the pension plan in 2006.
We believe that our on-hand cash balance, cash generated from operations, and borrowing capacity under
our revolving credit facility and other debt facilities will be sufficient to meet these obligations and our
requirements for working capital and capital expenditures.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
In the normal course of business, we are a party to certain off-balance sheet arrangements. These
arrangements include guarantees, indemnifications, financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk, such as
bank letters of credit and performance or surety bonds. Liabilities related to these arrangements are not
reflected in our consolidated balance sheets, and we do not expect any material adverse effects on our financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows to result from these off-balance sheet arrangements.
We use a combination of surety bonds, corporate guarantees (i.e. self bonds) and letters of credit to secure
our financial obligations for reclamation, workers’ compensation, postretirement benefits, coal lease obligations
and other obligations as follows as of December 31, 2005 (dollars in millions):
Reclamation
Obligations

Lease
Obligations

Workers’
Compensation
Obligations

Retiree
Healthcare
Obligations

Self bonding **********

$229.9

$ —

$ —

$ —

Surety bonds **********

238.7

33.9

14.7

Letters of credit ********

11.3

—

45.1

Other

$

Total

—

$229.9

—

136.2

423.5

27.5

13.8

97.7

In accordance with the purchase and sale agreement with Magnum Coal, we have agreed to continue to
provide surety bonds and letters of credit for reclamation and workers’ compensation obligations of Magnum
related to the properties sold by us to them in order to facilitate an orderly transition. The purchase and sale
agreement requires Magnum to reimburse us for costs related to the surety bonds and letters of credit and to
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use commercially reasonable efforts after closing to replace the obligations. If the surety bonds and letters of
credit related to the reclamation obligations are not replaced by Magnum within two years of closing of the
transaction, then Magnum will post a letter of credit in favor of us in the amounts of the obligations. If letter
of credit related to the workers’ compensation obligation is not replaced within 360 days following the closing
of the transaction, Magnum shall post a letter of credit in favor of us in the amounts of the obligation. Of the
surety bonds related to reclamation obligations, $92.8 million relate to properties sold to Magnum while
$10.5 million of letters of credit related to the retiree healthcare obligation relates to the properties sold to
Magnum.
In addition, we have agreed to guarantee the performance of Magnum with respect to three coal sales
contracts and several property leases we sold to Magnum. If Magnum is unable to perform with respect to the
coal sales contracts, we would be required to purchase coal on the open market or supply the contract from our
existing operations. If we purchased all of the coal for these contracts at today’s market prices, we would incur
a loss of approximately $654.0 million related to the contracts. If Magnum is unable to perform with respect to
the property leases, we would be responsible for future minimum royalty payments of approximately
$12.4 million. We believe it is remote we would be liable for any obligation related to these guarantees.
In connection with our June 1, 1998 acquisition of Atlantic Richfield Company’s coal operations, we
entered into an agreement under which we agreed to indemnify Atlantic Richfield against specified tax liabilities
in the event that these liabilities arise prior to June 1, 2013 as a result of certain actions taken, including the
sale or other disposition of certain properties of Arch Western, the repurchase of certain equity interests in Arch
Western by Arch Western, or the reduction under certain circumstances of indebtedness incurred by Arch
Western in connection with the acquisition. Atlantic Richfield was acquired by BP p.l.c. in 2000. If such
indemnification obligation were to arise, it could potentially have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition.
In addition, tax reporting applied to this transaction by the other member of Arch Western is under
review by the IRS. We do not believe it is probable that we will be impacted by the outcome of this review. If
the outcome of this review results in adjustments, we may be required to adjust our deferred income taxes
associated with our investment in Arch Western. Given the uncertainty of an adverse outcome impacting our
deferred income tax position as well as offsetting tax positions we may be able to take, we are not able to
determine a range of the potential outcomes related to this issue. Any change that impacts us related to the
IRS review of the other member of this transaction potentially could have a material adverse impact on our
financial statements.
You should also see Note 20 to our consolidated financial statements for more information about our
guarantee and indemnification obligations.
Contingencies
Reclamation. The Federal Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977 and similar state statutes
require that mine property be restored in accordance with specified standards and an approved reclamation
plan. We accrue for the costs of reclamation in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 143, ‘‘Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,’’ which we refer to as FAS 143,
adopted as of January 1, 2003. These costs relate to reclaiming the pit and support acreage at surface mines
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and sealing portals at deep mines. Other costs of reclamation common to surface and underground mining are
related to reclaiming refuse and slurry ponds, eliminating sedimentation and drainage control structures, and
dismantling or demolishing equipment or buildings used in mining operations. The establishment of the asset
retirement obligation liability is based upon permit requirements and requires various estimates and
assumptions, principally associated with costs and productivities.
We review our entire environmental liability periodically and make necessary adjustments, including
permit changes and revisions to costs and productivities to reflect current experience. Our management believes
it is making adequate provisions for all expected reclamation and other associated costs.
Permit Litigation Matters. A group of local and national environmental organizations filed suit against the
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in the U.S. District Court in Huntington, West Virginia on October 23, 2003.
In its complaint, Ohio River Valley Environmental Coalition, et al v. Bulen, et al, the plaintiffs allege that the
Corps has violated its statutory duties arising under the Clean Water Act, the Administrative Procedure Act and
the National Environmental Policy Act in issuing the Nationwide 21 general permit. The plaintiffs allege that
the procedural requirements of the three federal statutes identified in their complaint have been violated, and
that the Corps may not utilize the mechanism of a nationwide permit to authorize valley fills. If the plaintiffs
prevail in this litigation, it may delay our receipt of these permits.
On July 8, 2004, the District Court entered a final order enjoining the Corps from authorizing new valley
fills using the mechanism of its nationwide permit. The District Court modified its earlier decision on
August 13, 2004, when it directed the Corps to suspend all permits for fills that had not commenced
construction as of July 8, 2004.
Three permits issued at two of our operating subsidiaries were affected by the Court’s order. Although the
two operating subsidiaries were prohibited from constructing the fills previously authorized, the Court’s order
did allow them to permit the fill construction using the mechanism of an individual section 404 Clean Water
Act permit. We do not believe that obtaining an individual permit will adversely impact either of the operating
subsidiaries.
The Corps and five intervening trade associations, three of which we are a member, filed an appeal with
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit in this matter on September 16, 2004. The matter was
briefed and argued before the Fourth Circuit on September 19, 2005. On November 23, 2005, the Fourth
Circuit reversed the District Court’s decision but remanded the case for decision on the Clean Water Act, the
Administrative Procedure Act and the National Environmental Policy Act claims not addressed by the District
Court in its initial decision. The plaintiffs filed a petition for rehearing by the Fourth Circuit. On February 15,
2006, the Fourth Circuit rejected the plantiff’s request for rehearing. The Fourth Circuit’s ruling technically reinstates its nationwide permit in the Southern District of West Virginia.
While the outcome of this litigation is subject to uncertainties, based on our preliminary evaluation of the
issues and the potential impact on us, we believe this matter will be resolved without a material adverse effect
on our financial condition or results of operations or liquidity.
West Virginia Flooding Litigation. We and three of our subsidiaries have been served, among others, in
seventeen separate complaints filed and served in Wyoming, McDowell, Fayette, Kanawha, Raleigh, Boone and
Mercer Counties, West Virginia. These cases collectively include approximately 3,100 plaintiffs who are seeking
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to recover from more than 180 defendants for property damage and personal injuries arising out of flooding
that occurred in southern West Virginia on or about July 8, 2001. The plaintiffs have sued coal, timber, oil
and gas, and land companies under the theory that mining, construction of haul roads and removal of timber
caused natural surface waters to be diverted in an unnatural way, thereby causing damage to the plaintiffs. The
West Virginia Supreme Court has ruled that these cases, along with thirty-seven other flood damages cases not
involving our subsidiaries, be handled pursuant to the Court’s Mass Litigation rules. As a result of this ruling,
the cases have been transferred to the Circuit Court of Raleigh County in West Virginia to be handled by a
panel consisting of three circuit court judges, which certified certain legal issues back to the West Virginia
Supreme Court. The West Virginia Supreme Court responded to the questions certified, and discovery is
underway. Trials, by watershed, are expected to begin this year and will proceed in phases.
While the outcome of this litigation is subject to uncertainties, based on our preliminary evaluation of the
issues and the potential impact on us, we believe this matter will be resolved without a material adverse effect
on our financial condition or results of operations or liquidity.
Ark Land Company v. Crown Industries. In response to a declaratory judgment action filed by Ark Land
Company, a subsidiary of ours, in Mingo County, West Virginia, against Crown Industries involving the
interpretation of a severance deed under which Ark Land controls the coal and mining rights on property in
Mingo County, West Virginia, Crown Industries filed a counterclaim against Ark Land and a third party
complaint against us and two of our other subsidiaries seeking damages for trespass, nuisance and property
damage arising out of the exercise of rights under the severance deed on the property by our subsidiaries. The
defendant alleged that our subsidiaries had insufficient rights to haul certain foreign coals across the property
without payment of certain wheelage or other fees to the defendant. In addition, the defendant alleged that we
and our subsidiaries violated West Virginia’s Standards for Management of Waste Oil and the West Virginia
Surface Coal Mining and Reclamation Act. This case went to trial on October 4, 2005. Crown Industries’
counterclaim against Ark Land was dismissed along with its cross claim against one of our subsidiaries and its
claims for trespass, nuisance and wheelage. On October 12, 2005, the jury entered a verdict in favor of Crown
Industries on its remaining claims, assessing damages against us and our subsidiary in the amount of
$2.5 million. The jury found in our favor on our indemnity claim against our subsidiary’s contractor, and
awarded us $1.25 million on that claim. Crown Industries also was awarded its reasonable attorneys’ fees,
which had not yet been determined. We have reached a settlement in principle with Crown Industries.
Shonk Land Company v. Ark Land Company. Shonk Land Company leases certain West Virginia real
estate to our subsidiary Ark Land Company in exchange for royalties on coal mined from it. Shonk Land
Company filed a lawsuit in the Circuit Court for Kanawha County, West Virginia, claiming, among other
things, that Ark Land Company misrepresented certain facts involving a lease amendment and that it
miscalculated and underpaid royalties under the lease. Shonk Land Company sought damages of approximately
$14.5 million. Ark Land disputed its claims and filed a counterclaim for overpayment of royalties in the
approximate amount of $260,000. The court directed the parties to arbitrate their dispute in accordance with
the terms of their lease. The arbitration began on October 31, 2005, but the parties reached a settlement
before the arbitrators decided the case.
We are a party to numerous other claims and lawsuits and are subject to numerous other contingencies
with respect to various matters. We provide for costs related to contingencies, including environmental, legal
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and indemnification matters, when a loss is probable and the amount is reasonably determinable. After
conferring with counsel, it is the opinion of management that the ultimate resolution of these claims, to the
extent not previously provided for, will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
condition, results of operations or liquidity.
Critical Accounting Policies
We prepare our financial statements in accordance with accounting principles that are generally accepted
in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses as well as the disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience and
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Additionally, these estimates and
judgments are discussed with our Audit Committee on a periodic basis. Actual results may differ from the
estimates used under different assumptions or conditions. Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements
provides a description of all significant accounting policies. We believe that of these significant accounting
policies, the following may involve a higher degree of judgment or complexity:
Asset Retirement Obligations
Our asset retirement obligations arise from the federal Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of
1977 and similar state statutes, which require that mine property be restored in accordance with specified
standards and an approved reclamation plan. Significant reclamation activities include reclaiming refuse and
slurry ponds, reclaiming the pit and support acreage at surface mines, and sealing portals at deep mines. We
account for the costs of our reclamation activities in accordance with the provisions of FAS 143. We determine
the future cash flows necessary to satisfy our reclamation obligations on a mine-by-mine basis based upon
current permit requirements and various estimates and assumptions, including estimates of disturbed acreage,
cost estimates, and assumptions regarding productivity. We determine estimates of disturbed acreage based on
approved mining plans and related engineering data. We base our cost estimates on historical internal or thirdparty costs depending on how we expect to perform the work. We base productivity assumptions on historical
experience with the equipment that we expect to utilize in the reclamation activities. In accordance with the
provisions of FAS 143, we determine the fair value of our asset retirement obligations. In order to determine
fair value, we must also estimate a discount rate and third-party margin. Each estimate is discussed in further
detail below:
) Discount rate — FAS 143 requires that asset retirement obligations be recorded at fair value. In
accordance with the provisions of FAS 143, we utilize discounted cash flow techniques to estimate the
fair value of our obligations. We base our discount rate on the rates of treasury bonds with maturities
similar to expected mine lives, adjusted for our credit standing.
) Third-party margin — FAS 143 requires the measurement of an obligation to be based upon the amount
a third-party would demand to assume the obligation. Because we plan to perform a significant amount
of the reclamation activities with internal resources, we add a third-party margin to the estimated costs
of these activities. We estimate this margin based on our historical experience with contractors
performing certain types of reclamation activities. The inclusion of this margin results in a recorded
obligation that exceeds our estimated cost to perform the reclamation activities with internal resources.
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If our cost estimates are accurate, we record the excess of the recorded obligation over the cost incurred
to perform the work as a gain at the time that we complete the reclamation work.
On at least an annual basis, we review our entire reclamation liability and make necessary adjustments for
permit changes as granted by state authorities, additional costs resulting from accelerated mine closures, and
revisions to cost estimates and productivity assumptions, to reflect current experience. At December 31, 2005,
we had recorded asset retirement obligation liabilities of $177.4 million, including amounts reported as current.
While the precise amount of these future costs cannot be determined with certainty, as of December 31, 2005,
we estimate that the aggregate undiscounted cost of final mine closure is approximately $385.2 million.
Derivative Financial Instruments
Derivative financial instruments are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, which we refer to as
FAS 133. FAS 133 requires all derivative financial instruments to be reported on the balance sheet at fair value.
Changes in fair value are recognized either in earnings or equity, depending on whether the transaction
qualifies for hedge accounting, and if so, the nature of the underlying exposure being hedged and how effective
the derivatives are at offsetting price movements in the underlying exposure.
We formally document all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as our risk
management objectives for undertaking various hedge transactions. We evaluate the effectiveness of our hedging
relationships both at the hedge inception and on an ongoing basis. Any ineffectiveness is recorded in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.
Employee Benefit Plans
We have non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering certain of our salaried and non-union
hourly employees. Benefits are generally based on the employee’s age and compensation. We fund the plans in
an amount not less than the minimum statutory funding requirements nor more than the maximum amount
that can be deducted for federal income tax purposes. We contributed $20.0 million in cash and stock to the
plan during the year ended December 31, 2005 and $21.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2004.
We account for our defined benefit plans in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 87, ‘‘Employer’s Accounting for Pensions,’’ which requires amounts recognized in the financial statements
to be determined on an actuarial basis.
The calculation of our net periodic benefit costs (pension expense) and benefit obligation (pension
liability) associated with our defined benefit pension plans requires the use of a number of assumptions that we
deem to be ‘‘critical accounting estimates.’’ Changes in these assumptions can result in different pension
expense and liability amounts, and actual experience can differ from the assumptions.
) The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is an assumption reflecting the average rate of
earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for the benefits included in the
projected benefit obligation. We establish the expected long-term rate of return at the beginning of each
fiscal year based upon historical returns and projected returns on the underlying mix of invested assets.
The pension plan’s investment targets are 65% equity, 30% fixed income securities and 5% cash.
Investments are rebalanced on a periodic basis to stay within these targeted guidelines. The long-term
II-27

rate of return assumption used to determine pension expense was 8.5% for each of the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004. These long-term rate of return assumptions are less than the plan’s
actual life-to-date returns. Any difference between the actual experience and the assumed experience is
deferred as an unrecognized actuarial gain or loss and amortized into the future. The impact of lowering
the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets from 8.5% to 8.0% for 2005 would have been an
increase in expense of approximately $0.9 million.
) The discount rate represents our estimate of the interest rate at which pension benefits could be
effectively settled. Assumed discount rates are used in the measurement of the projected, accumulated
and vested benefit obligations and the service and interest cost components of the net periodic pension
cost. In estimating that rate, Statement No. 87 requires rates of return on high quality, fixed income
investments. We utilize a bond portfolio model that includes bonds that are rated ‘‘AA’’ or higher with
maturities that match the expected benefit payments under the plan. The discount rates used to
determine pension expense was 6.0% for 2005 and 6.5% for 2004. The impact of lowering the
discount rate from 6.0% to 5.5% in 2005 would have been an increase in expense of approximately
$1.7 million.
The differences generated in changes in assumed discount rates and returns on plan assets are amortized
into earnings over a five-year period.
For the measurement of our year-end pension obligation for 2005 (and pension expense for 2006), we
decreased our long-term rate of return assumption from 8.5% to 8.25% and changed our discount rate to
5.8%.
We also currently provide certain postretirement medical/life insurance coverage for eligible employees.
Generally, covered employees who terminate employment after meeting eligibility requirements are eligible for
postretirement coverage for themselves and their dependents. The salaried employee postretirement medical/life
plans are contributory, with retiree contributions adjusted periodically, and contain other cost-sharing features
such as deductibles and coinsurance. The postretirement medical plan for retirees who were members of the
United Mine Workers of America is not contributory. Our current funding policy is to fund the cost of all
postretirement medical/life insurance benefits as they are paid. We account for our other postretirement benefits
in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 106, ‘‘Employer’s Accounting for
Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions,’’ which requires amounts recognized in the financial statements
to be determined on an actuarial basis.
The disposition of the Central Appalachia operations to Magnum constituted a settlement of our
postretirement benefit obligation for which we recognized a loss of $59.2 million. The only remaining
participants in the postretirement benefit plan have their benefits capped at current levels.
Various actuarial assumptions are required to determine the amounts reported as obligations and costs
related to the postretirement benefit plan. These assumptions include the discount rate and the future medical
cost trend rate.
) The discount rate assumption reflects the rates available on high-quality fixed-income debt instruments
at year-end and is calculated in the same manner as discussed above for the pension plan. The discount
rate used to calculate the postretirement benefit expense was 6.0% for 2005 and 6.5% for 2004. Had
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the discount rate been lowered from 6.0% to 5.5% in 2005, we would have incurred additional expense
of $1.7 million.
) Future medical trend rate represents the rate at which medical costs are expected to increase over the life
of the plan. The health care cost trend rate is determined based upon our historical changes in health
care costs as well as external data regarding such costs. We have implemented many effective programs
that have resulted in actual increases in medical costs to fall far below the double-digit increases
experienced by most companies in recent years. The postretirement expense in 2005 was based on an
assumed medical inflationary rate of 8.0%, trending down in half percent increments to 5%, which
represents the ultimate inflationary rate for the remainder of the plan life. This assumption was based
on our then current three-year historical average of per capita increases in health care costs. If we had
utilized a medical trend rate that is 1% higher, we would have incurred $4.0 million of additional
expense in 2005.
For the measurement of our year-end other postretirement obligation for 2005 and postretirement expense
for 2006, we changed our discount rate to 5.8%. Because postretirement costs for remaining participants are
capped at current levels, future changes in health care costs have no future effect on the plan benefits.
Income Taxes
We record deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates for the effect of temporary differences
between the book and tax bases of assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is recorded to reflect the amount
of future tax benefits that management believes are not likely to be realized. In determining the appropriate
valuation allowance, we take into account the level of expected future taxable income and available tax planning
strategies. If future taxable income was lower than expected or if expected tax planning strategies were not
available as anticipated, we may record additional valuation allowance through income tax expense in the period
such determination was made.
Accounting Standards Issued and Not Yet Adopted
In November 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 151, Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4. This statement amends the
guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, ‘‘Inventory Pricing,’’ to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of
idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage). Provisions of this statement are
effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. We do not expect the adoption of this statement to
have a material impact on our financial statements.
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, which we refer to as FAS 123R. FAS 123R requires
all public companies to measure compensation cost in the income statement for all share-based payments
(including employee stock options) at fair value for interim and annual periods. On April 14, 2005, the
Securities and Exchange Commission delayed the implementation of FAS 123R from its original
implementation date by six months for most registrants, requiring all public companies to adopt FAS 123R no
later than the beginning of the first fiscal year beginning after June 15, 2005. We adopted FAS 123R on
January 1, 2006 using the modified-prospective method. Under this method, companies are required to
recognize compensation cost for share-based payments to employees based on their grant-date fair value from
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the beginning of the fiscal period in which the recognition provisions are first applied. Measurement and
recognition of compensation cost for awards that were granted prior to, but not vested as of, the date
FAS 123R is adopted would be based on the same estimate of the grant-date fair value and the same
recognition method used previously under FAS 123. FAS 123R also requires the benefits of tax deductions in
excess of recognized compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash
flow as required under current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net
financing cash flows in periods after adoption. We do not expect the effect of the adoption of FAS 123R to be
significant.
On March 30, 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ratified the consensus reached by the
Emerging Issues Task Force on issue No. 04-6, Accounting for Stripping Costs in the Mining Industry. This
issue applies to stripping costs incurred in the production phase of a mine for the removal of overburden or
waste materials for the purpose of obtaining access to coal that will be extracted. Under the issue, stripping
costs incurred during the production phase of the mine are variable production costs that are included in the
cost of inventory produced and extracted during the period the stripping costs are incurred. Historically, we
have associated stripping costs at our surface mining operations with the cost of tons of coal uncovered and
have classified tons uncovered but not yet extracted as coal inventory. The guidance in this issue is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005 for which the cumulative effect of adoption should be
recognized as an adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings during the period. We adopted the
change on January 1, 2006 and, accordingly, recognized an adjustment to the beginning balance of retained
earnings of $40.7 million.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Arch Coal, Inc.
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting, that Arch Coal, Inc. maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO
criteria). Arch Coal Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the
company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, management’s assessment that Arch Coal, Inc. maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO
criteria. Also, in our opinion Arch Coal, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Arch Coal, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 of Arch Coal, Inc. and our report dated
March 1, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP
St. Louis, Missouri
March 1, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Arch Coal, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Arch Coal, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Arch Coal, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the
consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of Arch Coal, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 1, 2006
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP
St. Louis, Missouri
March 1, 2006

II-33

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria set forth in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on our evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting is effective as of December 31, 2005.
Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm, as stated in their report, which is included herein.

Steven F. Leer
President and Chief
Executive Officer

Robert J. Messey
Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT
The management of Arch Coal, Inc. is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements and related financial information in this annual report. The financial statements are prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and necessarily include some
amounts that are based on management’s informed estimates and judgments, with appropriate consideration
given to materiality.
The Company maintains a system of internal accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance
that financial records are reliable for purposes of preparing financial statements and that assets are properly
accounted for and safeguarded. The concept of reasonable assurance is based on the recognition that the cost of
a system of internal accounting controls should not exceed the value of the benefits derived. The Company has
a professional staff of internal auditors who monitor compliance with and assess the effectiveness of the system
of internal accounting controls.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, composed of directors who are free from relationships
that may impair their independence from Arch Coal, Inc., meets regularly with management, the internal
auditors, and the independent auditors to discuss matters relating to financial reporting, internal accounting
control, and the nature, extent and results of the audit effort. The independent auditors and internal auditors
have full and free access to the Audit Committee, with and without management present.

Steven F. Leer
President and Chief
Executive Officer

Robert J. Messey
Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
Year Ended December 31,
2005
2004
2003
(In thousands of dollars except per share
data)

REVENUES
Coal sales ****************************************************** $2,508,773
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of coal sales ************************************************ 2,174,007
Depreciation, depletion and amortization *****************************
212,301
Selling, general and administrative expenses ***************************
91,568
Other expenses**************************************************
80,983
OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Gain on sale of units of Natural Resource Partners, LP ******************
Gain on sale of Powder River Basin assets ****************************
Gain on sale of Central Appalachian operations ************************
Income from equity investments ************************************
Other operating income*******************************************

$1,907,168

$1,435,488

1,638,646
166,322
57,975
35,758

1,280,608
158,464
60,159
18,245

2,558,859

1,898,701

1,517,476

—
46,547
7,528
—
73,868

91,268
—
—
10,828
67,483

42,743
—
—
34,390
45,226

127,943

169,579

122,359

Income from operations*********************************************

77,857

178,046

40,371

Interest expense, net:
Interest expense *************************************************
Interest income *************************************************

(72,409)
9,289

(62,634)
6,130

(50,133)
2,636

(63,120)

(56,504)

(47,497)

Other non-operating income (expense):
Expenses resulting from early debt extinguishment and termination of hedge
accounting for interest rate swaps *********************************
Other non-operating income (expense) *******************************

(7,740)
(3,524)

(9,010)
1,044

(8,955)
13,211

Income (loss) before income taxes and cumulative effect of accounting change**
Benefit from income taxes *******************************************

(11,264)
3,473
(34,650)

(7,966)
113,576
(130)

4,256
(2,870)
(23,210)

Income before cumulative effect of accounting change *********************
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes **********************

38,123
—

113,706
—

20,340
(3,654)

NET INCOME*************************************************** $ 38,123
Preferred stock dividends ********************************************
(15,579)

$ 113,706
(7,187)

$

16,686
(6,589)

Net income available to common shareholders *************************** $

22,544

$ 106,519

$

10,097

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
Basic earnings per common share before cumulative effect of accounting change $
Cumulative effect of accounting change ********************************

0.35
—

$

1.91
—

$

0.26
(0.07)

Basic earnings per common share ************************************* $

0.35

$

1.91

$

0.19

Diluted earnings per common share before cumulative effect of accounting
change ******************************************************** $
Cumulative effect of accounting change ********************************

0.35
—

$

1.78
—

$

0.26
(0.07)

Diluted earnings per common share *********************************** $

0.35

$

1.78

$

0.19

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
2005
2004
(In thousands of dollars
except share data)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents *************************************************
Trade accounts receivable **************************************************
Other receivables*********************************************************
Inventories *************************************************************
Prepaid royalties *********************************************************
Deferred income taxes ****************************************************
Other *****************************************************************
Total current assets *****************************************************
Property, plant and equipment
Coal lands and mineral rights **********************************************
Plant and equipment *****************************************************
Deferred mine development ************************************************
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization************************
Property, plant and equipment, net ****************************************
Other assets
Prepaid royalties *********************************************************
Goodwill ***************************************************************
Deferred income taxes ****************************************************
Other *****************************************************************
Total other assets ******************************************************
Total assets ***********************************************************
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable ********************************************************
Accrued expenses ********************************************************
Current portion of debt ***************************************************
Total current liabilities **************************************************
Long-term debt************************************************************
Accrued postretirement benefits other than pension *******************************
Asset retirement obligations **************************************************
Accrued workers’ compensation ***********************************************
Other noncurrent liabilities **************************************************
Total liabilities ********************************************************
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, $50 liquidation preference, authorized
10,000,000 shares, issued and outstanding 150,508 and 2,875,000 shares, respectively
Common stock, $.01 par value, authorized 100,000,000 shares, issued 71,370,684 and
62,857,658 shares, respectively ********************************************
Paid-in capital ***********************************************************
Retained deficit**********************************************************
Unearned compensation ***************************************************
Less treasury stock, at cost, 84,200 and 357,200 shares, respectively ****************
Accumulated other comprehensive loss****************************************
Total stockholders’ equity ************************************************
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity*************************************

$

260,501
179,220
40,384
130,720
2,000
88,461
28,278
729,564

1,475,429
1,270,775
417,879
3,164,083
(1,334,457)
1,829,626

323,167
180,902
34,407
119,893
12,995
33,933
25,560
730,857

1,725,339
1,423,550
408,657
3,557,546
(1,524,346)
2,033,200

106,393
40,032
223,856
121,969
492,250
$ 3,051,440

87,285
37,381
241,226
126,586
492,478
$ 3,256,535

$

$

256,883
245,656
10,649
513,188
971,755
41,326
166,728
53,803
120,399
1,867,199

2
719
1,367,470
(164,181)
(9,947)
(1,190)
(8,632)
1,184,241
$ 3,051,440 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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$

148,014
217,216
9,824
375,054
1,001,323
380,424
179,965
82,446
157,497
2,176,709

29
631
1,280,513
(166,273)
(1,830)
(5,047)
(28,197)
1,079,826
3,256,535

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Three Years Ended December 31, 2005
Preferred Common
Stock
Stock

BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2003************
Comprehensive income
Net income **************************
Minimum pension liability adjustment *****
Unrealized losses on derivatives ***********
Net amount reclassified to income ********
Total comprehensive income ***********
Dividends
Common ($0.23 per share) **************
Preferred ($2.29 per share)***************
Issuance of 2,875,000 shares of perpetual
cumulative convertible preferred stock******
Issuance of 770,609 shares of common stock
under the stock incentive plan, including
income tax benefits ********************
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2003 ********
Comprehensive income
Net income **************************
Minimum pension liability adjustment *****
Unrealized gains on available-for- sale
securities ***************************
Net amount reclassified to income ********
Total comprehensive income ***********
Dividends
Common ($0.2975 per share) ************
Preferred ($2.50 per share)***************
Issuance of 7,187,500 shares of common stock
pursuant to public offering **************
Issuance of 500,000 shares of common stock as
contribution to pension plan *************
Issuance of 149,190 shares of common stock
under the stock incentive plan — restricted
stock units ***************************
Expense recognized on restricted stock units ***
Issuance of 1,658,179 shares of common stock
under the stock incentive plan — stock
options, including income tax benefits *****
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2004 ********
Comprehensive income
Net income ****************************
Minimum pension liability adjustment *****
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale
securities ***************************
Unrealized losses on derivatives ***********
Net amount reclassified to income ********
Total comprehensive income ***********
Dividends
Common ($0.32 per share) **************
Preferred ($2.50 per share)***************
Preferred stock conversion *****************
Issuance of 273,000 shares of treasury stock as
contribution to pension plan *************
Issuance of 1,518,861 shares of common stock
under the stock incentive plan — stock
options, including income tax benefits *****
Expense recognized on stock incentive plans ***
Issuance of 340,046 shares of common stock
under the stock incentive plans ***********
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2005 ********

$—

$527

Accumulated
Retained
Treasury
Other
Paid-In
Earnings
Unearned
Stock at Comprehensive
Capital
(Deficit) Compensation
Cost
Loss
(In thousands of dollars except share and per share data)

$ 835,763 $(253,943) $

—

$(5,047) $(42,437) $ 534,863

16,686
3,403
(5,940)
4,951

(12,090)
(6,589)
29

29

13,718
988,476

139,024

(255,936)

—

(5,047)

(40,023)

13,727
688,035

1,221

113,706
1,221

113,706
2,081
8,524

(16,856)
(7,187)

29

72

230,455

230,527

5

15,435

15,440

1

4,246

17
631

41,901
1,280,513

(4,247)
2,417

(166,273)

(1,830)

—
2,417

(5,047)

(28,197)
(2,751)
8,498
22,646
(8,828)

$ 2

2,081
8,524
125,532
(16,856)
(7,187)

38,123

(27)

16,686
3,403
(5,940)
4,951
19,100
(12,090)
(6,589)

138,995
9
536

Total

66

9,487

3

12,872

15

43,564
140

4
$719

(20,452)
(6,053)
(9,526)

41,918
1,079,826
38,123
(2,751)
8,498
22,646
(8,828)
57,688
(20,452)
(6,053)
—

3,857

12,781

16,732
43,579
12,921

20,894
(20,898)
—
$1,367,470 $(164,181) $ (9,947) $(1,190) $ (8,632) $1,184,241

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31,
2005
2004
2003
(In thousands of dollars)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income ************************************************* $ 38,123 $ 113,706 $ 16,686
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization ************************
212,301
166,322
158,464
Prepaid royalties expensed ************************************
14,252
13,889
13,153
Accretion on asset retirement obligations ************************
15,129
12,681
12,999
Gain on sale of units of Natural Resource Partners, LP *************
—
(91,268)
(42,743)
Net gain on disposition of property, plant and equipment **********
(82,168)
(6,668)
(3,782)
Income from equity investments *******************************
—
(10,828)
(34,390)
Net distributions from equity investments ***********************
—
17,678
49,686
Cumulative effect of accounting change *************************
—
—
3,654
Other non-operating expense (income) **************************
11,264
7,966
(4,256)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (see Note 22) ************
13,248
(67,406)
(375)
Other ****************************************************
32,458
(7,344)
(6,735)
Cash provided by operating activities *************************

254,607

148,728

162,361

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures ****************************************
Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired *******************
Proceeds from disposition of property, plant and equipment *********
Proceeds from sale of units of Natural Resource Partners, LP ********
Additions to prepaid royalties *********************************
Advances to affiliates /purchases of investments********************
Proceeds from coal supply agreements **************************

(357,142)
—
117,048
—
(28,164)
(23,285)
—

(292,605)
(387,751)
7,428
111,447
(33,813)
(2,000)
—

(132,427)
—
4,282
115,000
(32,571)
—
52,548

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities ******************

(291,543)

(597,294)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net borrowings (payments) on revolver and lines of credit **********
Net payments on long-term debt ******************************
Proceeds from issuance of senior notes **************************
Debt financing costs ****************************************
Dividends paid ********************************************
Proceeds from issuance of preferred stock ************************
Proceeds from sale of common stock ***************************

(25,000)
(2,376)
—
(2,662)
(27,639)
—
31,947

25,000
(302)
261,875
(12,806)
(24,043)
—
267,468

(65,971)
(675,000)
700,000
(18,508)
(17,481)
139,024
13,727

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities******************

(25,730)

517,192

75,791

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents *****************
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year *******************

(62,666)
323,167

68,626
254,541

244,984
9,557

6,832

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year************************ $ 260,501 $ 323,167 $ 254,541
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the year for interest ************************** $ 69,839 $ 53,558 $ 30,014
Cash paid (received) during the year for income taxes ************** $ (5,518) $ 13,350 $ (6,407)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In Thousands of Dollars Except Per Share Data)
1.

Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Arch Coal, Inc. and its subsidiaries and
controlled entities (the ‘‘Company’’). The Company’s primary business is the production of steam and
metallurgical coal from surface and underground mines throughout the United States, for sale to utility,
industrial and export markets. The Company’s mines are located in southern West Virginia, eastern Kentucky,
Virginia, southern Wyoming, Colorado and Utah. All subsidiaries (except as noted below) are wholly-owned.
Intercompany transactions and accounts have been eliminated in consolidation.
The Company owns a 99% ownership interest in a joint venture named Arch Western Resources, LLC
(‘‘Arch Western’’) which operates coal mines in Wyoming, Colorado and Utah. The Company also acts as the
managing member of Arch Western.
As of and for the period ended July 31, 2004, the membership interests in the Utah coal operations,
Canyon Fuel Company, LLC (‘‘Canyon Fuel’’), were owned 65% by Arch Western and 35% by a subsidiary of
ITOCHU Corporation. Through July 31, 2004, the Company’s 65% ownership of Canyon Fuel was
accounted for on the equity method in the Consolidated Financial Statements as a result of certain supermajority voting rights in the joint venture agreement. Income from Canyon Fuel through July 31, 2004 is
reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Income as income from equity investments (see additional
discussion in Note 5, ‘‘Investments’’). On July 31, 2004, the Company acquired the remaining 35% of Canyon
Fuel. See Note 2, ‘‘Business Combinations’’ for further discussion.
On December 31, 2005, the Company entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the ‘‘Purchase
Agreement’’) with Magnum Coal Company (‘‘Magnum’’). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Company
sold the stock of four of its active Central Appalachian mining operations. See further discussion in Note 3,
‘‘Dispositions.’’
Accounting Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost. Cash equivalents consist of highly-liquid investments with an
original maturity of three months or less when purchased.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
Allowance for Uncollectible Receivables
The Company maintains allowances to reflect its trade accounts receivable and other receivables which are
not expected to be collected, based on past collection history, the economic environment and specified risks
identified in the receivables portfolio. Receivables are considered past due if the full payment is not received by
the contractual due date. Allowances recorded at December 31, 2005 and 2004 were $1.8 million and
$3.0 million, respectively.
Inventories
Inventories consist of the following:
December 31,
2005
2004

Coal ********************************************************* $ 73,284
Supplies, net of allowance ****************************************

$ 76,009

57,436

43,884

$130,720

$119,893

Coal and supplies inventories are valued at the lower of average cost or market. Coal inventory costs
include labor, supplies, equipment costs and operating overhead. The Company has recorded a valuation
allowance for slow-moving and obsolete supplies inventories of $16.1 million and $23.0 million at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Investments
Investments and ownership interests are accounted for under the equity method of accounting if the
Company has the ability to exercise significant influence, but not control, over the entity. The Company
reflects its share of the entity’s income in its Consolidated Statements of Income. Marketable equity securities
held by the Company that do not qualify for equity method accounting are classified as available-for-sale and
are recorded at their fair value through other comprehensive income.
Prepaid Royalties
Rights to leased coal lands are often acquired through royalty payments. Where royalty payments represent
prepayments recoupable against production, they are recorded as a prepaid asset, and amounts expected to be
recouped within one year are classified as a current asset. As mining occurs on these leases, the prepayment is
charged to cost of coal sales.
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Coal Supply Agreements
Acquisition costs allocated to coal supply agreements (sales contracts) are capitalized and amortized on the
basis of coal to be shipped over the term of the contract. Value is allocated to coal supply agreements based on
discounted cash flows attributable to the difference between the above or below-market contract price and the
then-prevailing market price. The net book value of the Company’s above-market coal supply agreements was
$6.3 million and $11.1 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. These amounts are recorded in
other assets in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The net book value of all below-market coal
supply agreements was $16.5 million and $29.2 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. This
amount is recorded in other noncurrent liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Amortization expense on all above-market coal supply agreements was $8.0 million, $3.8 million and
$16.6 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Amortization income on all below-market coal supply
agreements was $16.0 million and $4.1 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Based on
expected shipments related to these contracts, the Company expects to record annual amortization expense on
the above-market coal supply agreements and annual amortization income on the below-market coal supply
agreements in each of the next five years as reflected in the table below.
Above-Market
Contracts

Below-Market
Contracts

2006 ******************************************************

$1,731

$12,810

2007 ******************************************************

1,168

2,754

2008 ******************************************************

420

595

2009 ******************************************************

420

310

2010 ******************************************************

420

—

During 2003, the Company agreed to terms with a large customer seeking to buy out of the remaining
term of an above-market coal supply contract. The buy-out resulted in the receipt of $52.5 million in cash.
The Company wrote off the remaining contract value of $37.5 million and recorded a deferred gain of
approximately $15.0 million related to this transaction. The deferred gain was recognized ratably over the
remaining term of the contract. On December 31, 2005, this contract was sold as part of the Magnum
transaction, and the Company recognized the remaining deferred gain of $12.0 million. See additional
discussion of the Magnum transaction in Note 3, ‘‘Dispositions.’’
Exploration Costs
Costs related to locating coal deposits and evaluating the economic viability of such deposits are expensed
as incurred.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Interest costs applicable to major asset additions are capitalized
during the construction period. Expenditures which extend the useful lives of existing plant and equipment or
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increase the productivity of the asset are capitalized. The cost of maintenance and repairs that do not extend
the useful life or increase the productivity of the asset are expensed as incurred. Plant and equipment are
depreciated principally on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which generally
range from three to 30 years except for preparation plants and loadouts. Preparation plants and loadouts are
depreciated using the units-of-production method over the estimated recoverable reserves, subject to a minimum
level of depreciation.
If facts and circumstances suggest that a long-lived asset may be impaired, the carrying value is reviewed
for recoverability. If this review indicates that the carrying amount of the asset will not be recoverable through
projected undiscounted cash flows related to the asset over its remaining life, then an impairment loss is
recognized by reducing the carrying value of the asset to its fair value.
Deferred Mine Development
Costs of developing new mines or significantly expanding the capacity of existing mines are capitalized and
amortized using the units-of-production method over the estimated recoverable reserves that are associated with
the property being benefited. Additionally, the asset retirement obligation asset has been recorded as a
component of deferred mine development.
Coal Lands and Mineral Rights
A significant portion of the Company’s coal reserves are controlled through leasing arrangements. Amounts
paid to acquire such reserves are capitalized and depleted over the life of those reserves that are proven and
probable. Depletion of coal lease rights is computed using the units-of-production method, and the rights are
assumed to have no residual value. The leases are generally long-term in nature (original terms range from 10
to 50 years), and substantially all of the leases contain provisions that allow for automatic extension of the lease
term as long as mining continues. The net book value of the Company’s leased coal interests was
$908.7 million and $1,169.7 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
The Company has entered into various non-cancelable royalty lease agreements and federal lease bonus
payments under which future minimum payments are due. On September 22, 2004, the Company was the
successful bidder in a federal auction of certain mining rights in the 5,084-acre Little Thunder tract in the
Powder River Basin of Wyoming. The Company’s lease bonus bid amounted to $611.0 million for the tract
that is to be paid in five equal installments of $122.2 million. The first $122.2 million installment was paid in
2004 with the remaining four annual payments to be paid in fiscal years 2006 through 2009. These payments
are capitalized as the cost of the underlying mineral reserves.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related costs over the value assigned to the net
tangible and identifiable intangible assets of businesses acquired. In accordance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (‘‘Statement No. 142’’), goodwill is not
amortized but is tested for impairment annually, or if certain circumstances indicate a possible impairment may
exist. Impairment testing is performed at a reporting unit level. An impairment loss generally would be
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recognized when the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, with
the fair value of the reporting unit determined using a discounted cash flow analysis.
Revenue Recognition
Coal sales revenues include sales to customers of coal produced at Company operations and coal purchased
from other companies. The Company recognizes revenue from coal sales at the time risk of loss passes to the
customer at the Company’s mine locations at contracted amounts. Transportation costs are included in cost of
sales and amounts billed by the Company to its customers for transportation are included in coal sales.
Other Operating Income
Other operating income reflects income from sources other than coal sales, including administration and
production fees from Canyon Fuel (these fees ceased as of the July 31, 2004 acquisition by the Company of
the remaining 35% interest in Canyon Fuel), royalties earned from properties leased to third parties, and gains
and losses from dispositions of long-term assets. These amounts are recognized as services are performed or
otherwise earned.
Asset Retirement Obligations
The Company’s legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets are recognized at fair
value at the time the obligations are incurred. Obligations are incurred at the time development of a mine
commences for underground and surface mines or construction begins for support facilities, refuse areas and
slurry ponds. The liability is determined using discounted cash flow techniques and is accreted to its present
value at the end of each period. Accretion on the asset retirement obligation begins at the time the liability is
incurred. Upon initial recognition of a liability, a corresponding amount is capitalized as part of the carrying
amount of the related long-lived asset. Amortization of the related asset is recorded on a units-of-production
basis over the mine’s estimated recoverable reserves. See additional discussion in Note 11, ‘‘Asset Retirement
Obligations.’’
Derivative Financial Instruments
Derivative financial instruments are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (‘‘Statement No. 133’’), as
amended. Statement No. 133 requires all derivative financial instruments to be reported on the balance sheet at
fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized either in earnings or equity, depending on whether the
transaction qualifies for hedge accounting, and if so, the nature of the underlying exposure being hedged and
how effective the derivatives are at offsetting price movements in the underlying exposure.
The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as
well as its risk management objectives for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Company evaluates the
effectiveness of its hedging relationships both at the hedge inception and on an ongoing basis. Any
ineffectiveness is recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Ineffectiveness recorded in the Company’s
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Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $1.0 million,
$0.2 million and $0.4 million, respectively.
The Company is exposed to price risk related to the value of sulfur dioxide emission allowances that are a
component of the quality adjustment provisions in many of its coal supply contracts. The Company has
purchased put options and entered into swap contracts to reduce volatility in the price of sulfur dioxide
emission allowances. These contracts serve to protect the Company from any downturn in the price of sulfur
dioxide allowances. The put option agreements grant the Company the right to sell allowances at specified
prices on specific dates. The swap agreements essentially fix the price the Company receives for allowances by
allowing the Company to receive a fixed price, while paying a floating price. These contracts do not qualify for
hedge accounting, and accordingly, all adjustments to record the positions at fair value are recorded in income.
Other operating expenses on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income reflect unrealized losses and
gains related to these contracts of $(17.5) million for the year ended December 31, 2005.
The Company is also exposed to the risk of fluctuations in cash flows related to its purchase of diesel fuel.
The Company enters into forward physical purchase contracts and heating oil swaps and call options to reduce
volatility in the price of diesel fuel for its operations. As of December 31, 2005, approximately 79% of the
Company’s anticipated 2006 fuel usage has been fixed with heating oil swaps and call options. The changes in
the heating oil price highly correlate to changes in diesel fuel prices, accordingly, the derivatives qualify for
hedge accounting and the fair value of the derivatives is recorded with an adjustment to other comprehensive
income.
The Company has utilized interest-rate swap agreements to modify the interest characteristics of
outstanding Company debt. The swap agreements essentially convert variable-rate debt to fixed-rate debt. These
agreements required the exchange of amounts based on variable interest rates for amounts based on fixed
interest rates over the life of the agreement. The Company accrues amounts to be paid or received under
interest-rate swap agreements over the lives of the agreements.
The Company had designated certain interest rate swaps as hedges of the variable rate interest payments
due under the Arch Western term loans. Historical unrealized losses related to these swaps through June 25,
2003 were deferred as a component of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss. Subsequent to the repayment
of the term loans on June 25, 2003, these deferred amounts are amortized as additional expense over the
contractual terms of the swap agreements. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the
Company recognized $(2.3) million, $0.9 million and $13.4 million, respectively, of unrealized gains (losses)
related to these swaps. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company recognized
$7.7 million, $8.3 million and $4.3 million of expense, respectively, related to the amortization of the balance
in other comprehensive income. In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company terminated these swaps.
Income Taxes
Deferred income taxes are based on temporary differences between the financial statement and tax basis of
assets and liabilities existing at each balance sheet date using enacted tax rates for years during which taxes are
expected to be paid or recovered.
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Stock-Based Compensation
These financial statements include the disclosure requirements of Financial Accounting Standards Board
Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (‘‘Statement No. 123’’), as amended by Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and
Disclosure (‘‘Statement No. 148’’). With respect to accounting for its stock options, as permitted under
Statement No. 123, the Company has retained the intrinsic value method prescribed by Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25 (‘‘APB 25’’), Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations. Had
compensation expense for stock option grants been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates
consistent with the method of Statement No. 123, the Company’s net income and earnings per common share
would have been changed to the pro forma amounts as indicated in the following table:
2005

Year Ended December 31
2004
2003

Net income available to common shareholders, as reported ***** $ 22,544

$106,519

$10,097

12,768

1,837

—

(16,894)

(7,302)

Add:
Stock-based employee compensation included in reported net
income, net of related tax effects *********************
Deduct:
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined
under fair value based method for all awards, net of related
tax effects****************************************

Pro forma net income available to common shareholders ****** $ 18,418

(9,239)

$101,054

$

858

$

$

0.19

Earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share — as reported ********************* $

0.35

Basic earnings per share — pro forma**********************

0.29

1.81

0.02

Diluted earnings per share — as reported *******************

0.35

1.78

0.19

Diluted earnings per share — pro forma********************

0.28

1.70

0.02

1.91

Accounting Standards Issued and Not Yet Adopted
In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151, Inventory
Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4 (‘‘Statement No. 151’’). Statement No. 151 amends the
guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, ‘‘Inventory Pricing,’’ to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of
idle facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage). Provisions of this statement are
effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company does not expect the adoption of this
statement to have a material impact on its financial statements.
In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004),
Share-Based Payment (‘‘Statement No. 123R’’), which requires all public companies to measure compensation
cost in the income statement for all share-based payments (including employee stock options) at fair value for
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interim and annual periods. On April 14, 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission (‘‘SEC’’) delayed the
implementation of Statement No. 123R from its original implementation date by six months for most
registrants, requiring all public companies to adopt Statement No. 123R no later than the beginning of the first
fiscal year beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company will adopt Statement No. 123R on January 1, 2006
using the modified-prospective method. Under this method, companies are required to recognize compensation
cost for share-based payments to employees based on their grant-date fair value from the beginning of the fiscal
period in which the recognition provisions are first applied. Measurement and recognition of compensation cost
for awards that were granted prior to, but not vested as of, the date Statement No. 123(R) is adopted would be
based on the same estimate of the grant-date fair value and the same recognition method used previously under
Statement No. 123. Statement No. 123R also requires the benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized
compensation cost to be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as required
under current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net financing cash
flows in periods after adoption. The Company does not expect the effect of the adoption of Statement
No. 123R to be significant.
On March 30, 2005, the FASB ratified the consensus reached by the Emerging Issues Task Force
(‘‘EITF’’) on Issue No. 04-6, Accounting for Stripping Costs in the Mining Industry. This issue applies to
stripping costs incurred in the production phase of a mine for the removal of overburden or waste materials for
the purpose of obtaining access to coal that will be extracted. Under the EITF, stripping costs incurred during
the production phase of the mine are variable production costs that are included in the cost of inventory
produced and extracted during the period the stripping costs are incurred. Historically, the Company has
associated stripping costs at its surface mining operations with the cost of tons of coal uncovered and has
classified tons uncovered but not yet extracted as coal inventory (pit inventory). Pit inventory, reported as coal
inventory, was $40.7 million at December 31, 2005. The guidance in this EITF consensus is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2005 for which the cumulative effect of adoption should be recognized as
an adjustment to the beginning balance of retained earnings during the period. The Company adopted the
change on January 1, 2006.
Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the prior years’ financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the
classifications in the current year’s financial statements with no effect on previously-reported net income or
stockholders’ equity.
2.

Business Combinations
Canyon Fuel 35% Acquisition

On July 31, 2004, the Company purchased the 35% interest in Canyon Fuel that it did not own from
ITOCHU Corporation. The purchase price, including related costs and fees, of $112.2 million was funded
with cash of $90.2 million and a five-year, $22.0 million non-interest bearing note. Net of cash acquired, the
fair value of the transaction totaled $97.4 million. As a result of the acquisition, the Company owns
substantially all of the ownership interests of Canyon Fuel and no longer accounts for its investment in Canyon
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Fuel on the equity method but consolidates Canyon Fuel in its financial statements. The results of operations
of the Canyon Fuel mines are included in the Company’s Western Bituminous segment.
The purchase accounting allocation related to the acquisition has been recorded in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements as of, and for the period subsequent to, July 31, 2004. The following table
summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition
(dollars in thousands):
Accounts receivable ******************************************************** $

7,432

Materials and supplies ******************************************************

3,751

Coal inventory************************************************************

7,434

Other current assets********************************************************

6,466

Property, plant, equipment and mine development *******************************

125,881

Accounts payable and accrued expenses ****************************************

(10,379)

Coal supply agreements*****************************************************

(33,378)

Other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net**************************************

(9,823)

Total purchase price, net of cash received of $11.0 million ************************* $ 97,384
Amounts allocated to coal supply agreements noted in the table above represent the liability established for
the net below-market coal supply agreements to be amortized over the remaining terms of the contracts. The
liability is classified as an other noncurrent liability on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. See
Note 1, ‘‘Accounting Policies’’ for amortization related to coal supply agreements.
Triton Acquisition
On August 20, 2004, the Company acquired (1) Vulcan Coal Holdings, L.L.C., which owns all of the
common equity of Triton Coal Company, LLC (‘‘Triton’’), and (2) all of the preferred units of Triton for a
purchase price of $382.1 million, including transaction costs and working capital adjustments. In 2003, Triton
was the nation’s sixth largest coal producer and operated two mines in the Powder River Basin: North Rochelle
and Buckskin. Following the consummation of the transaction, the Company completed an agreement to sell
Buckskin to Kiewit Mining Acquisition Company (‘‘Kiewit’’). The net sales price for this second transaction
was $73.1 million. The total purchase price, including related costs and fees, was funded with cash on hand,
including the proceeds from the Buckskin sale, $22.0 million in borrowings under the Company’s existing
revolving credit facility and a $100.0 million term loan at its Arch Western Resources subsidiary. Upon
acquisition, the Company integrated the North Rochelle mine with its existing Black Thunder mine in the
Powder River Basin.
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The purchase accounting allocations related to the acquisition have been recorded in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements as of, and for the periods subsequent to, August 20, 2004. The following
table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition (dollars in thousands):
Accounts receivable ******************************************************** $ 14,233
Materials and supplies ******************************************************

4,161

Coal inventory************************************************************

4,875

Other current assets********************************************************

2,200

Property, plant, equipment and mine development *******************************

325,194

Coal supply agreements*****************************************************

8,486

Goodwill ****************************************************************

40,032

Accounts payable and accrued expenses ****************************************

(72,326)

Other noncurrent assets and liabilities, net**************************************

(22,135)

Total purchase price, net of cash received of $0.4 million ************************** $304,720
Amounts allocated to coal supply agreements noted in the table above represent the value attributed to the
net above-market coal supply agreements to be amortized over the remaining terms of the contracts. See
Note 1, ‘‘Accounting Policies’’ for amortization related to coal supply agreements.
The goodwill amount above arose due to the delay in time between the execution of the acquisition
agreement and the date of closing because of the Federal Trade Commission’s lawsuit to block the acquisition
and is attributable to the loss of value from the tons mined during this period. Of the amount allocated to
goodwill above, $34.4 million was deductible for income tax purposes.
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Pro Forma Financial Information
The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the combined results of operations of
the Company, the remaining Canyon Fuel interest acquired from ITOCHU Corporation and the North
Rochelle operations acquired from Triton on a pro forma basis, as though the purchases had occurred as of the
beginning of each period presented. The pro forma financial information does not necessarily reflect the results
of operations that would have occurred had the Company and the operations acquired from Canyon Fuel and
Triton constituted a single entity during those periods:
Year Ended December 31,
2004
2003
(In thousands, except
per share data)

Revenues:
As reported *********************************************** $1,907,168
Pro forma ************************************************

$1,435,488

2,156,958

1,876,205

As reported ***********************************************

113,706

20,340

Pro forma ************************************************

103,933

13,747

As reported ***********************************************

106,519

10,097

Pro forma ************************************************

96,746

1,058

As reported ***********************************************

1.91

0.19

Pro forma ************************************************

1.73

0.02

As reported ***********************************************

1.78

0.19

Pro forma ************************************************

1.63

0.02

Income before accounting changes:

Net income available to common shareholders:

Basic earnings per share:

Diluted earnings per share:

3.

Dispositions

On December 31, 2005, the Company sold all of the stock of three subsidiaries and their four associated
mining operations and coal reserves in Central Appalachia to Magnum. The three subsidiaries include Hobet
Mining, Apogee Coal Company and Catenary Coal Company, which include the Hobet 21, Arch of West
Virginia, Samples and Campbells Creek mining operations. Included in the sale were a total of 455.0 million
tons of reserves. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, collectively, these subsidiaries sold
12.7 million, 14.0 million and 14.4 million tons of coal, had revenues of $509.8 million, $475.1 million and
$424.3 million and had incurred losses from operations of $8.3 million, $3.8 million and $65.6 million,
respectively. As a result of the sale, Magnum acquired all of the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries
including various employee liabilities of idle union properties whose former employees were signatory to a
United Mine Workers of America (‘‘UMWA’’) contract.
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In accordance with the terms of the transaction, the Company agreed to pay $50.2 million to Magnum in
2006 which has been recorded in current liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31,
2005. The Company recorded a loss of $65.4 million related to firm purchase commitments to supply belowmarket sales contracts that can no longer be sourced from its production as a result of the sale of these
operations to Magnum. The loss related to the below-market legacy sales contracts was recorded as an accrued
expense on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2005. The net book value of the subsidiaries
sold was a net liability of $123.1 million, consisting of the following:
Assets
Current assets ************************************************************ $ 87,300
Property, plant, equipment *************************************************

309,100

Other assets *************************************************************

3,800

Total assets ************************************************************

400,200

Liabilities
Current liabilities *********************************************************

(77,700)

Accrued postretirement benefits other than pension ******************************

(367,800)

Accrued workers’ compensation **********************************************

(15,400)

Reclamation and mine closure ***********************************************

(31,200)

Other noncurrent liabilities *************************************************

(31,200)

Total liabilities *********************************************************

523,300

Net liabilities ************************************************************ $ 123,100
The transaction resulted in a net gain to the Company of $7.5 million.
In accordance with the purchase and sale agreement with Magnum, the Company has agreed to various
guarantees which are described in Note 20, ‘‘Guarantees.’’
On December 30, 2005, the Company completed a reserve swap with Peabody Energy Corp. (‘‘Peabody’’)
and sold to Peabody a rail spur, rail loadout and an idle office complex located in the Powder River Basin for a
purchase price of $84.6 million. In the reserve swap, the Company exchanged 60.0 million tons of coal reserves
for a similar block of 60.0 million tons of coal reserves with Peabody in order to facilitate more efficient mine
plans for both companies. Due to the similarity of the exchanged reserves, the reserves received were recorded
at the net book value of the reserves transferred. In conjunction with the transactions, the Company will
continue to lease the rail spur and loadout and office facilities through 2008 while it mines adjacent reserves.
The Company recognized a gain of $46.5 million on the transaction, after the deferral of $7.0 million of the
gain, equal to the present value of the lease payments. The deferred gain will be recognized over the term of
the lease. See further discussion in Note 18, ‘‘Leases.’’
During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, gains on other dispositions of plant,
property and equipment were $28.2 million, $6.7 million and $3.8 million, respectively,
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During 2005, in addition to the transactions discussed above, the Company recognized a gain of
$9.0 million on the sale of surface land rights at its Central Appalachian operations in West Virginia, a gain of
$6.3 million on the assignment of its rights and obligations on several parcels of land and a gain of
$7.3 million on the sale of a dragline.
During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company sold its rights and obligations on a parcel of
land to a third party resulting in a gain of $5.8 million.
4.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Other comprehensive income items under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, Reporting
Comprehensive Income, are transactions recorded in stockholders’ equity during the year, excluding net income
and transactions with stockholders. Following are the items included in other comprehensive income (loss), net
of a 39% tax rate:
Financial
Derivatives

Minimum
Pension
Liability
Adjustments

Balance January 1, 2003 **************

$(23,170)

$(19,267)

2003 activity ***********************

(989)

Balance December 31, 2003 ***********

Available-forSale Securities

$

—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

$(42,437)

3,403

—

2,414

(24,159)

(15,864)

—

(40,023)

2004 activity ***********************

8,524

1,221

2,081

11,826

Balance December 31, 2004 ***********

(15,635)

(14,643)

2,081

(28,197)

2005 activity ***********************

13,818

(2,751)

8,498

19,565

Balance December 31, 2005 ***********

$ (1,817)

$(17,394)

$10,579

$ (8,632)

As discussed in Note 1, unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting as cash
flow hedges are recorded in other comprehensive income.
The unrealized gains and losses on recording the Company’s ‘‘available-for-sale’’ securities at fair value is
recorded through other comprehensive income.
5.

Investments

The Company holds a 17.5% general partnership interest in Dominion Terminal Associates (‘‘DTA’’),
which is accounted for on the equity method. DTA operates a ground storage-to-vessel coal transloading facility
in Newport News, Virginia used by the partners to transload coal. Financing for the facility was provided
through $132.8 million of tax-exempt bonds issued by Peninsula Ports Authority of Virginia (‘‘PPAV’’). DTA
leases the facility from PPAV for amounts sufficient to meet debt-service requirements. The Company retired its
17.5% share, or $23.2 million, of the bonds in the fourth quarter of 2005. Under the terms of a throughput
and handling agreement with DTA, each partner is charged its share of cash operating and debt-service costs in
exchange for the right to use the facility’s loading capacity and is required to make periodic cash advances to
DTA to fund such costs. The Company’s portion of DTA’s costs was $3.4 million, $2.7 million and
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$2.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. At December 31, 2005 and
2004, the Company had an investment in DTA of $8.5 million and a liability to fund DTA of $13.9 million,
respectively.
Through July 31, 2004, the Company’s income from its equity-method investment in Canyon Fuel
represented 65% of Canyon Fuel’s net income after adjusting for the effect of purchase adjustments related to
its investment in Canyon Fuel. The Company’s investment in Canyon Fuel reflects purchase adjustments
primarily related to the reduction in amounts assigned to sales contracts, mineral reserves and other property,
plant and equipment. The purchase adjustments are amortized consistently with the underlying assets of the
joint venture. The Company purchased the remaining 35% interest in Canyon Fuel on July 31, 2004. The
Company’s income from its investment in Canyon Fuel for the seven months ended July 31, 2004 and the
year ended December 31, 2003 was $8.4 million and $19.7 million, respectively. These costs are included in
operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Effective January 1, 2003, Canyon Fuel adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 143,
Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations (‘‘Statement No. 143’’) and recorded a cumulative effect loss of
$2.4 million. The Company’s 65% share of this amount was offset by purchase adjustments of $0.5 million.
These amounts are included in the cumulative effect of accounting change reported in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Income.
On December 22, 2003, the Company sold its 4.8 million subordinated units and its general partner
interest in Natural Resource Partners L.P. (‘‘NRP’’) for a purchase price of $115.0 million. This sale resulted in
a gain of $70.6 million, of which $42.7 million was recognized in 2003 and the remainder was deferred, as
discussed below. During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company sold its remaining limited
partnership units of NRP, representing approximately 12.5% of NRP’s outstanding partnership interests, in
three separate transactions occurring in March, June and October. These sales resulted in proceeds of
approximately $111.4 million and gains of $91.3 million. The Company’s income from the equity investment
in NRP was $2.4 million and $14.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company had deferred gains from its sales of NRP units totaling
$8.2 million and $21.8 million, respectively, which are included as ‘‘Other noncurrent liabilities’’ in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Certain leases with NRP related to the Company’s operations sold
as part of the Magnum transaction. The recognition of the gain of $5.8 million associated with these leases is
included in the gain on the transaction with Magnum. The remaining deferred gains will be recognized over
the remaining term of the Company’s leases with NRP, as follows: $2.7 million in 2006, $2.2 million in 2007,
and a total of $3.3 million from 2008 through 2012.
The fair value of investments in stock and other equity interests not accounted for under the equity
method of accounting totaled $23,847 and $7,197 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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6.

Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses included in current liabilities consist of the following:
December 31,
2005
2004

Payroll and related benefits *************************************** $ 33,739

7.

$ 32,358

Taxes other than income taxes *************************************

59,828

76,246

Postretirement benefits other than pension ***************************

3,062

29,685

Workers’ compensation*******************************************

9,900

12,774

Interest *******************************************************

32,749

35,102

Asset retirement obligations ***************************************

10,680

19,632

Losses on purchase commitments (see Note 3) ************************

65,383

—

Due to Magnum (see Note 3) *************************************

16,000

—

Other accrued expenses ******************************************

14,315

11,419

$245,656

$217,216

December 31,
2004

2003

$ 7,583

$ 4,668

—

—

(13,703)

7,583

4,668

Federal ******************************************

(22,843)

(5,412)

(24,438)

State ********************************************

1,896

(2,301)

(3,440)

(20,947)

(7,713)

(27,878)

$(34,650)

$ (130)

$(23,210)

Income Taxes
Significant components of the benefit from income taxes are as follows:
2005

Current:
Federal ****************************************** $(13,703)
State ********************************************
Total current ***********************************

—

Deferred:

Total deferred***********************************
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A reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax expense (benefit) on the Company’s pretax income
(loss) to the actual benefit for income taxes follows:
2005

Income tax expense (benefit) at statutory rate ************* $ 1,216

December 31,
2004

2003

$ 39,760

$ (1,005)

Percentage depletion allowance *************************

(34,752)

(22,807)

(16,211)

State taxes, net of effect of federal taxes ******************

(3,805)

1,729

(2,123)

Change in valuation allowance, affecting provision**********

(6,138)

(265)

3,543

Termination of interest rate swaps***********************

5,049

180

2,062

Reversal of reserve for capital loss ***********************

—

—

(5,850)

Favorable tax settlement ******************************

—

(16,861)

(1,464)

Other, net *****************************************

3,780

(1,866)

(2,162)

(130)

$(23,210)

$(34,650)

$

During 2005, compensatory stock options were exercised resulting in a tax benefit of $11.6 million that
was recorded to paid-in capital.
During 2004, the IRS completed an audit and review of tax returns and claims for tax years 1999 through
2002 resulting in a favorable tax settlement, which includes a $9.7 million reduction in prior years’ tax reserves.
Also, compensatory stock options were exercised resulting in a tax benefit of $5.0 million that was recorded to
paid-in capital.
During 2003, the Company reversed a $5.8 million tax reserve, which was established in prior years, for
capital loss deductions which the Company deemed had no value at that time. Capital losses are only
deductible to the extent that a company has capital gains. Capital gains generated during 2003 and projected to
be generated in future years will fully absorb the capital loss. Also during the year, the Company reversed a
$1.5 million tax reserve as a result of filing amended state income tax returns based on prior year IRS audit
changes.
Management believes that the Company has adequately provided for any income taxes and interest which
may ultimately be paid with respect to all open tax years.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities that result from carryforwards
and temporary differences between the financial statement basis and tax basis of assets and liabilities are
summarized as follows:
December 31,
2005
2004

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards ******************************** $ 187,122

$ 74,226

Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards *********************

99,782

99,582

Plant and equipment *****************************************

88,213

19,143

Losses on purchase commitments *******************************

60,499

—

Reclamation and mine closure**********************************

32,563

42,776

Workers’ compensation ***************************************

21,704

32,453

Advance royalties ********************************************

16,961

13,303

Postretirement benefits other than pension ************************

12,942

152,622

Tax-based intangibles *****************************************

11,574

13,880

Other comprehensive income **********************************

1,688

16,412

Other *****************************************************

43,289

42,696

Gross deferred tax assets ************************************

576,337

507,093

(163,163)

(163,005)

413,174

344,088

Investment in tax partnerships**********************************

54,808

38,251

Deferred development ****************************************

16,197

669

Pit inventory ***********************************************

15,842

12,920

Other *****************************************************

14,010

17,089

Total deferred tax liabilities **********************************

100,857

68,929

Net deferred tax asset*************************************

312,317

275,159

Less current asset ******************************************

88,461

33,933

Long-term deferred tax asset ******************************* $ 223,856

$ 241,226

Valuation allowance ******************************************
Total deferred tax assets *************************************
Deferred tax liabilities:

The Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards for regular income tax purposes of
$435.3 million which will expire in the years 2007 to 2023. The Company has an alternative minimum tax
credit carryforward of $83.2 million, which may carry forward indefinitely to offset future regular tax in excess
of alternative minimum tax.
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The Company has recorded a valuation allowance for a portion of its deferred tax assets that management
believes, more likely than not, will not be realized. These deferred tax assets include a portion of the net
operating losses, alternative minimum tax credits and certain deductible temporary differences that will likely
not be realized at the maximum effective tax rate. The amount of the valuation allowance relating to stock
option exercises for which the future benefit will be recorded in Paid-in Capital is $8.5 million.
8.

Debt and Financing Arrangements
Debt consists of the following:
December 31,
2005
2004

Indebtedness to banks under revolving credit agreement, expiring
December 22, 2009****************************************** $

—

$

25,000

6.75% senior notes ($950.0 million face value) due July 1, 2013 ********

960,246

961,613

Promissory note***********************************************

14,676

17,523

Other *******************************************************

7,482

7,011

982,404

1,011,147

10,649

9,824

Long-term debt *********************************************** $971,755

$1,001,323

Less current portion *******************************************

On December 22, 2004, the Company entered into a $700.0 million revolving credit facility that matures
on December 22, 2009. The rate of interest on borrowings under the credit facility is a floating rate based on
LIBOR. The Company’s credit facility is secured by substantially all of its assets as well as its ownership
interests in substantially all of its subsidiaries, except its ownership interests in Arch Western and its
subsidiaries. The credit facility replaced the Company’s existing $350.0 million revolving credit facility. At
December 31, 2005, the Company had $96.5 million in letters of credit outstanding, resulting in
$603.5 million of unused borrowings under the revolver. Financial covenant requirements may restrict the
amount of unused capacity available to the Company for borrowings and letters of credit. As of December 31,
2005, the Company was not restricted by financial covenants.
On October 22, 2004, the Company issued $250.0 million of 6.75% Senior Notes due 2013 at a price of
104.75% of par. Interest on the notes is payable on January 1 and July 1 of each year, beginning on January 1,
2005. The senior notes were issued under an indenture dated June 25, 2003, under which the Company
previously issued $700.0 million of 6.75% Senior Notes due 2013. The senior notes are guaranteed by Arch
Western and certain of Arch Western’s subsidiaries and are secured by a security interest in loans made to Arch
Coal by Arch Western. The terms of the senior notes contain restrictive covenants that limit Arch Western’s
ability to, among other things, incur additional debt, sell or transfer assets, and make certain investments.
On July 31, 2004, the Company issued a five-year, $22.0 million non-interest bearing note to help fund
the acquisition of the remainder of Canyon Fuel’s common stock. At its issuance, the note was discounted to
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its present value using a rate of 7.0%. The promissory note is payable in quarterly installments of $1.0 million
through July 2008 and $1.5 million from October 2008 through July 2009.
The Company also periodically establishes uncommitted lines of credit with banks. These agreements
generally provide for short-term borrowings at market rates. At December 31, 2005, there were $20.0 million
of such agreements in effect, under which no loans were outstanding.
Aggregate contractual maturities of debt are $10.6 million in 2006, $3.3 million in 2007, $4.0 million in
2008, $4.3 million in 2009 and $960.2 million thereafter.
Terms of the Company’s credit facilities and leases contain financial and other covenants that limit the
ability of the Company to, among other things, effect acquisitions or dispositions and borrow additional funds
and require the Company to, among other things, maintain various financial ratios and comply with various
other financial covenants. In addition, the covenants require the pledging of assets to collateralize the
Company’s revolving credit facility. The assets pledged include equity interests in wholly-owned subsidiaries,
certain real property interests, accounts receivable and inventory of the Company. Failure by the Company to
comply with such covenants could result in an event of default, which, if not cured or waived, could have a
material adverse effect on the Company. The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants at
December 31, 2005.
9.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The following methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating its fair value disclosures
for financial instruments:
Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amounts approximate fair value.
Debt: At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the fair value of the Company’s senior notes and other longterm debt, including amounts classified as current, was $1,001.6 million and $1,000.6 million, respectively.
Derivatives.
As of December 31, 2005, the Company held heating oil swaps totaling 22.8 million gallons at a fixed
price of $1.45 and heating oil call options totaling 9.3 million gallons at call prices from $1.70 to $2.05. The
fair value of the heating oil swaps and calls of $8.7 million is reflected as a current asset in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2005.
As of December 31, 2005 the Company held swaps for 12,000 sulfur dioxide allowances with
6,000 expiring in 2006 and 2007 at a price of $815 and $825 in 2006 and 2007, respectively. The Company
had put options for 48,000 sulfur dioxide allowances at prices from $600 to $1,200. The fair value of the
sulfur dioxide swaps and puts is reflected as a current liability of $11.9 million and a current asset of
$0.2 million, respectively, in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2005.
The Company terminated its outstanding interest rate swaps in the fourth quarter of 2005. The fair value
of these swaps was $12.4 million at December 31, 2004.
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10.

Accrued Workers’ Compensation

The Company is liable under the federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1969, as subsequently amended,
to provide for pneumoconiosis (black lung) benefits to eligible employees, former employees, and dependents.
The Company is also liable under various states’ statutes for black lung benefits. The Company currently
provides for federal and state claims principally through a self-insurance program. Charges are being made to
operations as determined by independent actuaries, at the present value of the actuarially computed present and
future liabilities for such benefits over the employees’ applicable years of service.
In addition, the Company is liable for workers’ compensation benefits for traumatic injuries that are
accrued as injuries are incurred. Traumatic claims are either covered through self-insured programs or through
state-sponsored workers’ compensation programs.
Workers’ compensation expense consists of the following components:
2005

2004

2003

$ 1,447

$ 1,491
2,942

Self-insured black lung benefits:
Service cost ****************************************** $ 1,159
Interest cost ******************************************

1,852

2,660

Net amortization **************************************

(3,793)

(1,080)

Total black lung disease***********************************

(782)

(247)

3,027

4,186

20,196

18,725

14,008

Total provision****************************************** $19,414

$21,752

$18,194

Payments for worker’s compensation benefits ****************** $29,952

$21,068

$17,072

Traumatic injury claims and assessments********************

Discount rate*******************************************

5.80%

6.00%

6.50%

Cost escalation rate **************************************

3.00%

4.00%

4.00%

Net amortization represents the systematic recognition of actuarial gains or losses over a five-year period.
Summarized below is information about the amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets for
workers’ compensation benefits:
December 31,
2005
2004

Black lung costs ************************************************** $26,670

$51,793

Traumatic and other workers’ compensation claims **********************

37,033

43,427

Total obligations **************************************************

63,703

95,220

Less amount included in accrued expenses *****************************

9,900

12,774

Noncurrent obligations********************************************* $53,803

$82,446
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The reconciliation of changes in the benefit obligation of the black lung liability is as follows:
December 31,
2005
2004

Beginning of year obligation **************************************** $ 47,641

$46,722

Service cost ***************************************************

1,159

1,447

Interest cost ***************************************************

1,852

2,660

Actuarial gain *************************************************

(16,247)

(1,122)

Divestitures ***************************************************

(14,136)

Benefit and administrative payments *******************************

(3,362)

(2,066)

Net obligation at end of year ***************************************

16,907

47,641

Unrecognized gain**********************************************

9,763

4,152

Accrued cost **************************************************** $ 26,670

$51,793

—

There were no receivables related to benefits contractually recoverable from others at December 31, 2005.
Receivables related to benefits contractually recoverable from others of $0.4 million at December 31, 2004 are
recorded in other long-term assets.
11.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company’s asset retirement obligations arise from the federal Surface Mining Control and
Reclamation Act of 1977 and similar state statutes, which require that mine property be restored in accordance
with specified standards and an approved reclamation plan. The required reclamation activities to be performed
are outlined in the Company’s mining permits. These activities include reclaiming the pit and support acreage
at surface mines, sealing portals at underground mines, and reclaiming refuse areas and slurry ponds.
The Company reviews its asset retirement obligation at least annually and makes necessary adjustments for
permit changes as granted by state authorities and for revisions of estimates of amount and timing of costs. For
ongoing operations, adjustments to the liability result in an adjustment to the corresponding asset. For idle
operations, adjustments to the liability are recognized as income or expense in the period the adjustment is
recorded.
Effective January 1, 2003, the Company began accounting for its reclamation obligations in accordance
with Statement No. 143. The cumulative effect of this change on periods prior to January 1, 2003 resulted in
a charge to income of $3.7 million (net of income taxes of $2.3 million), or $0.07 per share, which is included
in the Company’s results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2003.

II-60

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
The following table describes the changes to the Company’s asset retirement obligation for the years ended
December 31:
2005

Balance at January 1 (including current portion) ********************** $199,597

$162,731

Accretion expense ***********************************************

14,950

12,681

Additions/(reductions) resulting from property additions/(disposals) *******

(33,339)

37,784

Adjustments to the liability from changes in estimates ******************

4,191

(1,571)

Liabilities settled ************************************************

(7,991)

(12,028)

Balance at December 31******************************************

177,408

199,597

Current portion included in accrued expenses*************************

(10,680)

(19,632)

Long-term liability ********************************************** $166,728
12.

2004

$179,965

Employee Benefit Plans

Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans
The Company has non-contributory defined benefit pension plans covering certain of its salaried and nonunion hourly employees. Benefits are generally based on the employee’s age and compensation. The Company
funds the plans in an amount not less than the minimum statutory funding requirements nor more than the
maximum amount that can be deducted for federal income tax purposes.
The Company also currently provides certain postretirement medical/life insurance coverage for eligible
employees. Generally, covered employees who terminate employment after meeting eligibility requirements are
eligible for postretirement coverage for themselves and their dependents. The salaried employee postretirement
medical/life plans are contributory, with retiree contributions adjusted periodically, and contain other costsharing features such as deductibles and coinsurance. The postretirement medical plan for retirees who were
members of the UMWA is not contributory. The Company’s current funding policy is to fund the cost of all
postretirement medical/life insurance benefits as they are paid.
During 2005, the postretirement benefit plans were amended to improve benefits to participants. As
discussed in Note 3, ‘‘Dispositions,’’ on December 31, 2005, the Company sold three of its subsidiaries with
operations in Central Appalachia, along with the related postretirement benefit obligations. The only remaining
participants in the postretirement benefit plan have their benefits capped at current levels. This disposition
constituted a settlement of the Company’s postretirement benefit obligation and a loss of $59.2 million was
recognized.
The Company uses a December 31 measurement date for its pension and postretirement benefit plans.
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Obligations and Funded Status. Summaries of the changes in the benefit obligations, plan assets and
funded status of the plans are as follows:
Other Postretirement
Benefits
2005
2004

Pension Benefits
2005
2004

CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
Benefit obligations at January 1 ********************

$218,063

$182,946

$535,870

$ 531,933

Service cost ************************************

11,072

8,861

5,592

4,145

Interest cost ************************************

12,655

11,781

31,866

29,695

Plan amendments *******************************

242

139

20,010

—

Acquisitions/(divestitures) *************************

—

23,380

(455,294)

10,748

(15,288)

(32,963)

(29,585)

Benefits paid ***********************************

(16,228)

Transfer from Canyon Fuel Pension Plan *************

—

57

Other-primarily actuarial (gain) loss *****************

8,831

6,187

Benefit obligations at December 31 ***************** $234,635

$218,063

$ 65,034

$ 535,870

$

$

—

—

(40,047)

(11,066)

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS
Value of plan assets at January 1 *******************

$191,109

$151,126

Actual return on plan assets ***********************

15,060

17,974

—

—

Acquisitions ************************************

—

15,599

—

—

Employer contributions***************************

20,034

21,641

32,963

29,585

Benefits paid ***********************************

(16,228)

(15,288)

(32,963)

(29,585)

Transfer from Canyon Fuel Pension Plan *************

—

—

57

—

Value of plan assets at December 31 **************** $209,975

$191,109

$

$ (26,954)

$ (65,034)

—

—

—
$

—

NET AMOUNT RECOGNIZED
Funded status of the plans ************************ $ (24,660)
Unrecognized actuarial loss ************************
Unrecognized prior service cost (gain) ***************

37,567
(330)

Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost ********************** $ 12,577
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Other Postretirement
Benefits
2005
2004

Pension Benefits
2005
2004

BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS
Accrued benefit liabilities *************************

$ (17,193)

$ (17,628)

$ (44,388)

$(410,109)

Intangible asset (other assets) **********************

766

592

—

—

Minimum pension liability adjustment (accumulated
other comprehensive income) ********************

29,004

23,879

—

—

Net asset (liability) recognized ********************* $ 12,577

$ 6,843

$ (44,388)

$(410,109)

Current ***************************************

$

$

—

$ (3,062)

$ (29,685)

Long-term *************************************

$ 12,577

$ 6,843

$ (41,326)

$(380,424)

—

Other Postretirement Benefits
The postretirement plan amendment relates to the enhancement of benefits to employees discussed above,
which also resulted in the increase in the unrecognized prior service cost.
The actuarial gain in 2005 resulted from changes in certain actuarial assumptions, including changes in
the cost claims curve. The actuarial gain in 2004 resulted from impact of the Medicare Prescription Drug,
Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 implementation discussed below.
Pension Benefits
The accumulated benefit obligation for all pension plans was $227.0 million and $208.7 million at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Transfers from the Canyon Fuel Company Pension Plan represent transfers of the actuarially determined
benefit obligation and the related plan assets for employees who were transferred from Canyon Fuel to the
Company in 2004 as a result of the acquisition of Canyon Fuel discussed in Note 2, ‘‘Business Combinations.’’
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Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost. The following table details the components of pension and other
postretirement benefit costs.
2005

Pension Benefits
2004

2003

Service cost *********************

$ 11,072

$ 8,861

$ 8,188

Interest cost ********************

12,655

11,781

11,293

Expected return on plan assets* *****

(15,944)

(14,539)

(13,687)

Other amortization and deferral*****

7,393

4,802

Settlements *********************

—

Net benefit cost ***************

$ 15,176

Year Ended
December 31,

Other Postretirement Benefits
2005
2004
2003

$

5,592

$ 4,145

$ 3,637

31,866

29,695

31,126

—

—

—

1,435

25,882

16,685

21,315

—

—

59,195

—

—

$ 10,905

$ 7,229

$122,535

$50,525

$56,078

* The Company does not fund its other postretirement liabilities.
Assumptions. The following table provides the assumptions used to determine the actuarial present value
of projected benefit obligations at December 31.
Pension
Benefits
2005
2004

Other
Postretirement
Benefits
2005
2004

Weighted average assumptions:
Discount rate ******************************************* 5.80% 6.00% 5.80% 6.00%
Rate of compensation increase ****************************** 3.50% 3.50% N/A

N/A

The following table provides the assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for years ended
December 31.
Pension Benefits
2005
2004
2003

Other Postretirement
Benefits
2005
2004
2003

Weighted average assumptions:
Discount rate ******************************

6.00% 6.50% 7.00% 6.00% 6.50% 7.00%

Rate of compensation increase ***************** 3.50% 3.75% 4.25% N/A

N/A

N/A

Expected return on plan assets ***************** 8.50% 8.50% 9.00% N/A

N/A

N/A

The Company establishes the expected long-term rate of return at the beginning of each fiscal year based
upon historical returns and projected returns on the underlying mix of invested assets. The Company utilizes
modern portfolio theory modeling techniques in the development of its return assumptions. This technique
projects rates of returns that can be generated through various asset allocations that lie within the risk tolerance
set forth by members of the Company’s pension committee (the ‘‘Pension Committee’’). The risk assessment
provides a link between a pension’s risk capacity, management’s willingness to accept investment risk and the
asset allocation process, which ultimately leads to the return generated by the invested assets. For the
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determination of net periodic benefit cost in 2006, the Company will utilize an expected rate of return of
8.25%.
The following table provides information regarding the assumed health care cost trend rates at
December 31.
2005

2004

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year******************************

N/A

8.00%

Ultimate trend rate *****************************************************

N/A

5.00%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate ******************************

N/A

2011

Because postretirement costs for remaining participants are capped at current levels, future changes in
health care costs have no future effect on the plan benefits.
Increasing the assumed health care cost trend rate by one percentage point each year would have increased
the net periodic postretirement benefit cost for 2005 by $4.0 million, or 3%.
Plan Assets. The Company’s pension plan weighted average asset allocations by asset category are as
follows:
Plan Assets at
December 31,
2005
2004

Equity securities********************************************************

71%

67%

Debt securities *********************************************************

23%

28%

Cash and equivalents****************************************************

6%

5%

Total ****************************************************************

100%

100%

The Pension Committee is responsible for overseeing the investment of pension plan assets. The Pension
Committee is responsible for determining and monitoring appropriate asset allocations and for selecting or
replacing investment managers, trustees and custodians. The pension plan’s current investment targets are 65%
equity, 30% fixed income securities and 5% cash. The Pension Committee reviews the actual asset allocation in
light of these targets on a periodic basis and rebalances among investments as necessary. The Pension
Committee evaluates the performance of investment managers as compared to the performance of specified
benchmarks and peers and monitors the investment managers to ensure adherence to their stated investment
style and to the plan’s investment guidelines.
Cash Flows. The Company is not required to make any contributions to its pension plans in 2006. The
Company currently anticipates making contributions of approximately $21.0 million to the pension plan in
2006.

II-65

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
The following represents expected future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as
appropriate:
Pension
Benefits

2006 ******************************************************* $ 19,668

Other
Postretirement
Benefits

$ 3,653

2007 *******************************************************

20,272

3,803

2008 *******************************************************

21,245

3,962

2009 *******************************************************

21,659

4,234

2010 *******************************************************

21,796

4,615

Years 2011-2015 **********************************************

110,970

33,154

$215,610

$53,421

Impact of Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003. On December 8,
2003, the President signed into law the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of
2003 (the ‘‘Act’’). The Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare (‘‘Medicare Part D’’) as well
as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at least
actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D. The Company has included the effects of the Act in its financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2004 in accordance with FASB Staff Position No. FAS 106-2,
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization
Act of 2003 (‘‘FSP 106-2’’). Incorporation of the provisions of the Act resulted in a reduction of the
Company’s postretirement benefit obligation of $68.0 million. The effect of the Act on postretirement medical
expense for fiscal year 2004 and 2005 was a decrease of approximately $18.0 million (substantially all of which
is recorded as a component of cost of coal sales). The benefits were partially offset by increased costs resulting
from changes to other actuarial assumptions that were incorporated at the beginning of the year.
Multi-employer Pension and Benefit Plans
The Company made no payments in 2005, 2004 and 2003 into a multi-employer defined benefit pension
plan trust established for the benefit of union employees under the labor contract with the UMWA. Payments
are based on hours worked and are expensed as hours are incurred. Under the Multi-employer Pension Plan
Amendments Act of 1980, a contributor to a multi-employer pension plan may be liable, under certain
circumstances, for its proportionate share of the plan’s unfunded vested benefits (withdrawal liability). The
Company is not aware of any circumstances that would require it to reflect its share of unfunded vested
pension benefits in its financial statements. During 2005, approximately 13% of the Company’s workforce was
represented by the UMWA under a collective bargaining agreement that is effective through December 31,
2006. With the sale of the Central Appalachian operations discussed in Note 3, ‘‘Dispositions,’’ the Company
no longer has employees represented by the UMWA.
The Coal Industry Retiree Health Benefit Act of 1992 (‘‘Benefit Act’’) provides for the funding of medical
and death benefits for certain retired members of the UMWA through premiums to be paid by assigned
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operators (former employers), transfers in 1993 and 1994 from an overfunded pension trust established for the
benefit of retired UMWA members, and transfers from the Abandoned Mine Lands Fund (funded by a federal
tax on coal production) commencing in 1995. The Company treats its obligation under the Benefit Act as a
participation in a multi-employer plan and records expense as premiums are paid. The Company recorded
expense of $3.4 million, $6.0 million and $5.1 million in the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003
for premiums pursuant to the Benefit Act.
Other Plans
The Company sponsors savings plans which were established to assist eligible employees in providing for
their future retirement needs. The Company’s expense representing its contributions to the plans were
$12.4 million, $8.8 million and $8.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively.
13.

Capital Stock

On November 24, 2004, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC. The
registration statement allows the Company to offer, from time to time, an aggregate of up to $1.0 billion in
debt securities, preferred stock, depositary shares, purchase contracts, purchase units, common stock and related
rights and warrants.
Common Stock
On October 28, 2004, the Company completed a public offering of 7,187,500 common shares at
$33.85 per share. The proceeds from the offering, net of the underwriters’ discount and related expenses, were
$230.5 million. Net proceeds from the offering were used primarily to repay borrowings under the Company’s
revolving credit facility incurred to finance the acquisition of Triton and the first annual payment under the
Little Thunder lease, and the remaining net proceeds will be used for general corporate purposes, including the
development of the Mountain Laurel mine complex in the Central Appalachia Basin.
Preferred Stock
On December 1, 2005, the Company issued a tender offer to induce conversion of its 5% Perpetual
Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock (‘‘Preferred Stock’’) to common shares (the ‘‘Conversion Offer’’). The
Conversion Offer expired on December 30, 2005. On December 31, 2005, the Company accepted for
conversion 2,724,418 shares of Preferred Stock to be converted to 6,654,119 shares of common stock,
including a conversion premium of 0.0439 shares. The Company recognized a dividend on the Preferred Stock
in the amount of $9.5 million, representing the difference in the fair market value of the shares issued in
conversion and those convertible pursuant to the original conversion terms.
On January 31, 2003, the Company completed a public offering of 2,875,000 shares of Preferred Stock.
The net proceeds realized by the Company from the offering of $139.0 million were used to reduce
indebtedness under the Company’s revolving credit facility, and for working capital and general corporate
purposes. Dividends on the Preferred Stock are cumulative and payable quarterly at the annual rate of 5% of
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the liquidation preference. Each share of the Preferred Stock is initially convertible, under certain conditions,
into 2.3985 shares of the Company’s common stock. The Preferred Stock is redeemable, at the Company’s
option, on or after January 31, 2008 if certain conditions are met. The holders of the Preferred Stock are not
entitled to voting rights on matters submitted to the Company’s common shareholders. However, if the
Company fails to pay the equivalent of six quarterly dividends, the holders of the Preferred Stock will be
entitled to elect two directors to the Company’s Board of Directors.
Stock Repurchase Plan
Pursuant to a stock repurchase plan, the Company may repurchase up to 6.0 million of its shares of
common stock. At December 31, 2005, 5.6 million shares of common stock were available for repurchase
under the plan. The repurchased shares are being held in the Company’s treasury, which the Company
accounts for using the average cost method. Future repurchases under the plan will be made at management’s
discretion and will depend on market conditions and other factors. During 2005, 273,000 treasury shares were
contributed to the pension plans.
14.

Stockholder Rights Plan

Under a stockholder rights plan, preferred share purchase rights (‘‘Preferred Purchase Rights’’) entitle their
holders to purchase one one-hundredth of a share of a series of junior participating preferred stock at an
exercise price of $42. The Preferred Purchase Rights are exercisable only when a person or group (an
‘‘Acquiring Person’’) acquires 20% or more of the Company’s common stock or if a tender or exchange offer is
announced which would result in ownership by a person or group of 20% or more of the Company’s common
stock. In certain circumstances, the Preferred Purchase Rights allow the holder (except for the Acquiring Person)
to purchase the Company’s common stock or voting stock of the Acquiring Person at a discount. The Board of
Directors has the option to allow some or all holders (except for the Acquiring Person) to exchange their rights
for Company common stock. The rights will expire on March 20, 2010, subject to earlier redemption or
exchange by the Company as described in the plan.
15.

Stock Incentive Plan and Other Incentive Plans

The Company’s Stock Incentive Plan (the ‘‘Company Incentive Plan’’) reserved 9,000,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock for awards to officers and other selected key management employees of the
Company. The Company Incentive Plan provides the Board of Directors with the flexibility to grant stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance stock or units,
merit awards, phantom stock awards and rights to acquire stock through purchase under a stock purchase
program (‘‘Awards’’). Awards the Board of Directors elects to pay out in cash do not count against the
9,000,000 shares authorized in the Company Incentive Plan.
As of December 31, 2005, stock options, performance units, restricted stock units and price contingent
stock awards were the types of awards granted. Each is discussed more fully below.
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Stock Options
Stock options are generally subject to vesting provisions of at least one year from the date of grant and are
granted at a price equal to 100% of the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. Information
regarding stock options under the Company Incentive Plan follows for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003 (options in thousands):
2005
Weighted
Common
Average
Shares
Price

2004
Weighted
Common
Average
Shares
Price

2003
Weighted
Common
Average
Shares
Price

Options outstanding at January 1*********

2,965

$20.85

4,622

$21.29

5,485

$20.85

Granted *****************************

32

$38.80

6

$33.61

114

$19.23

Exercised ****************************

(1,519)

$21.19

(1,658)

$22.15

(771)

$17.54

Canceled ****************************

(20)

$24.86

(5)

$21.46

(206)

$22.60

Options outstanding at December 31******

1,458

$20.80

2,965

$20.85

4,622

$21.29

Options exercisable at December 31 *******

971

$20.54

1,783

$21.15

2,692

$21.94

Options available for grant at December 31

2,397

2,677

2,981

The Company applies APB 25 and related interpretations in accounting for the Company Incentive Plan.
Accordingly, no compensation expense has been recognized for the fixed stock option portion of the Company
Incentive Plan. The after-tax fair value of options granted in 2005, 2004 and 2003 was determined to be $0.4
million, $0.1 million and $0.7 million, respectively, which for purposes of the pro forma disclosure in Note 1,
‘‘Accounting Policies,’’ is recognized as compensation expense over the options’ vesting period. The fair value of
the options was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the weighted average
assumptions noted below. Substantially all stock options granted vest ratably over three years, with the majority
vesting in 2006.
2005

Weighted average fair value per share of options granted ************* $16.90

2004

2003

$15.38

$8.33

Assumptions (weighted average):
Risk-free interest rate***************************************

3.70%

3.65%

2.84%

Expected dividend yield ************************************

0.9%

1.0%

1.5%

Expected volatility *****************************************

51.1%

52.7%

53.5%

Expected life (in years) *************************************

5.0

5.0

5.0
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The table below shows pertinent information on options outstanding at December 31, 2005 (options in
thousands):

Range of
Exercise prices

Number
Outstanding

Options Outstanding
Weighted Average
Weighted
Remaining
Average
Contractual Life
Exercise
(Years)
Price

Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Number
Exercise
Exercisable
Price

8.50-$10.69 ***********************

93

3.21

$10.58

93

$10.58

$ 16.09-$21.95 ***********************

592

6.08

18.75

355

19.16

$ 22.00-$22.82 ***********************

524

6.31

22.59

306

22.60

$ 22.875-$22.90 **********************

161

1.26

22.89

161

22.89

$ 23.45-$35.30 ***********************

86

4.37

30.42

56

27.81

$ 67.51 *****************************

2

9.79

67.51

—

—

1,458

5.35

$20.80

971

$20.54

$

Performance Units
Performance stock or unit awards can be earned by the recipient if the Company meets certain preestablished performance measures. Until earned, the performance awards are nontransferable, and when earned,
performance awards are payable in cash, stock, or restricted stock as determined by the Company’s Board of
Directors. In January 2004, the Company granted performance unit awards that are earned if the Company
meets certain financial, safety and environmental targets during the three years ending December 31, 2006.
Amounts accrued during 2005 and 2004 for these awards totaled $3.3 million and $3.1 million, respectively.
During the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors approved awards under a four-year
performance unit plan that began in 2000 totaling $19.6 million (including $1.9 million awarded to employees
of Canyon Fuel), which was paid in cash in the first quarter of 2004.
Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Unit Awards
The restricted stock and restricted stock units require no payment from the employee. Compensation
expense is based on the fair value on the grant date and is recorded ratably over the vesting period of three
years. During the vesting period, the employee receives compensation equal to dividends declared on common
shares.
During 2005 and 2004, restricted stock and restricted stock unit grants, net of cancellations, totaled
55,195 and 149,190 shares, respectively at a weighted average fair value of $57.81 and $28.47 per share,
respectively. Expenses of $2.2 million and $2.4 million were recorded during 2005 and 2004, respectively.
On December 18, 2002, the Company granted a restricted stock unit award of 50,000 shares. The fair
value of the shares on the date of grant was $21.11 per share. The units will vest in their entirety on
January 31, 2008. The Company will recognize compensation expense in the amount of the total fair value of
the grant ratably over the vesting period of the award.
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Price Contingent Stock Awards
In the third quarter 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a performance-contingent
phantom stock plan for 11 of its executives. The plan allows for participants to earn up to 252,600 units to be
paid out in both cash and stock upon simultaneous attainment of certain levels of stock price and EBITDA, as
defined by the Company. The Company recognized $4.5 million of expense related to this plan in the fourth
quarter of 2005, as the Company’s projections indicate that targets will be met in 2006 and a projected payout
of $15.0 million will be made.
On January 14, 2004, the Company granted an award of 220,766 shares of performance-contingent
phantom stock that vested in the event the Company’s stock price reached an average pre-established price over
a period of 20 consecutive trading days within five years following the date of grant. On March 3, 2005, the
price contingency discussed above was met, and the award was paid in a combination of Company stock
($7.3 million) and cash ($2.6 million). As such, the Company recognized a $9.9 million charge as a
component of selling, general and administrative expense ($9.1 million) and cost of coal sales ($0.8 million) in
the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income.
16.

Risk Concentrations

Credit Risk and Major Customers
The Company places its cash equivalents in investment-grade short-term investments and limits the
amount of credit exposure to any one commercial issuer.
The Company markets its coal principally to electric utilities in the United States. Sales to customers in
foreign countries were $166.0 million and $134.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.
As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, accounts receivable from electric utilities located in the United States
totaled $146.6 million and $127.7 million, respectively, or 82% and 71% of total trade receivables for 2005
and 2004, respectively. Generally, credit is extended based on an evaluation of the customer’s financial
condition, and collateral is not generally required. Credit losses are provided for in the financial statements and
historically have been minimal.
The Company is committed under long-term contracts to supply coal that meets certain quality
requirements at specified prices. These prices are generally adjusted based on indices. Quantities sold under
some of these contracts may vary from year to year within certain limits at the option of the customer. The
Company and its operating subsidiaries sold approximately 140.2 million tons of coal in 2005. Approximately
70% of this tonnage (representing 69% of the Company’s revenue) was sold under long-term contracts
(contracts having a term of greater than one year). Prices for coal sold under long-term contracts ranged from
$5.78 to $86.42 per ton. Long-term contracts ranged in remaining life from one to 12 years. Some of these
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contracts include pricing which is above current market prices. Sales (including spot sales) to major customers
were as follows (in thousands):
2005

TVA*********************************************** $306,896

2004

2003

$147,338

$ 80,510

AEP ***********************************************

221,334

173,528

222,580

Progress Energy **************************************

199,514

228,203

165,514

Transportation
The Company depends upon barge, rail, truck and belt transportation systems to deliver coal to its
customers. Disruption of these transportation services due to weather-related problems, mechanical difficulties,
strikes, lockouts, bottlenecks, and other events could temporarily impair the Company’s ability to supply coal
to its customers, resulting in decreased shipments. Disruptions in rail service in 2004 and 2005 resulted in
missed shipments and production interruptions. The Company has no long-term contracts with transportation
providers to ensure consistent and reliable service.
17.

Earnings (Loss) per Share
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share:
Numerator
(Income)

2005
Denominator
(Shares)

Per Share
Amount

63,652

$ 0.59

Basic EPS:
Net income**************************************** $ 38,123
Preferred stock dividends *****************************

(15,579)

(0.24)

Basic income available to common shareholders ********* $ 22,544

$ 0.35

Effect of dilutive securities:
Effect of common stock equivalents arising from stock
options and restricted stock grants********************

—

957

Effect of common stock equivalents arising from convertible
preferred stock ***********************************

18

361

Diluted income available to common shareholders ********* $ 22,562

64,970

Diluted EPS:
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Numerator
(Income)

2004
Denominator
(Shares)

Per Share
Amount

55,901

$ 2.04

Basic EPS:
Net income *************************************** $113,706
Preferred stock dividends *****************************

(7,187)

(0.13)

Basic income available to common shareholders ********* $106,519

$ 1.91

Effect of dilutive securities:
Effect of common stock equivalents arising from stock
options and restricted stock grants *******************

—

937

Effect of common stock equivalents arising from convertible
preferred stock ***********************************

7,187

6,896

Diluted income available to common shareholders********* $113,706

63,734

$ 1.78

Numerator
(Income)

2003
Denominator
(Shares)

Per Share
Amount

$ 20,340

52,511

$ 0.39

Diluted EPS:

Basic EPS:
Net income before cumulative effect of accounting change **
Cumulative effect of accounting change *****************

(3,654)

(0.07)

Preferred stock dividends *****************************

(6,589)

(0.13)

Basic income available to common shareholders ********* $ 10,097

$ 0.19

Effect of dilutive securities:
Effect of common stock equivalents arising from stock
options *****************************************

—

374

$ 20,340

52,885

Diluted EPS:
Net income before cumulative effect of accounting change **

$ 0.38

Cumulative effect of accounting change *****************

(3,654)

(0.07)

Preferred stock dividends *****************************

(6,589)

(0.12)

Diluted income available to common shareholders******* $ 10,097

$ 0.19

At December 31, 2005, 6,535,000 shares, representing the common stock conversion equivalent of the
preferred stock converted on December 31, 2005, and $15.6 million, representing the related dividends and
conversion inducement, were excluded from the diluted earnings per share calculation because their effect was
anti-dilutive.
At December 31, 2003, 0.2 million shares were not included in the diluted earnings per share calculation
since the exercise price was greater than the average market price. The effect of assumed conversion of the
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preferred stock was anti-dilutive and, therefore, not included in the diluted earnings per share calculation for
2003.
18.

Leases

The Company leases equipment, land and various other properties under non-cancelable long-term leases,
expiring at various dates. Certain leases contain options that would allow the Company to extend the lease or
purchase the leased asset at the end of the base lease term. Rental expense related to these operating leases
amounted to $31.8 million in 2005, $22.7 million in 2004 and $17.4 million in 2003. The Company has also
entered into various non-cancelable royalty lease agreements and federal lease bonus payments under which
future minimum payments are due.
Minimum payments due in future years under these agreements in effect at December 31, 2005 are as
follows (in thousands):
Operating
Leases

2006 ********************************************************* $ 24,089

Royalties

$ 26,390

2007 *********************************************************

22,504

24,997

2008 *********************************************************

20,898

23,938

2009 *********************************************************

16,600

23,673

2010 *********************************************************

13,478

23,054

Thereafter *****************************************************

42,078

44,742

$139,647

$166,794

On December 31, 2005, the Company sold its rail spur, rail loadout and idle office complex at its
Thunder Basin mining complex in Wyoming, which it will lease back while it mines adjacent reserves. The
Company will pay $0.2 million per month through September 2008, with an option to extend on a month-tomonth basis through September 2010. The Company deferred $7.0 million of the gain on the sale, equal to
the present value of the minimum lease payments, to be amortized over the term of the lease.
19.

Related Party Transactions

The Company received administration and production fees from Canyon Fuel for managing the Canyon
Fuel operations through July 31, 2004, when the Company purchased the 35% interest it did not previously
own. The fee arrangement was calculated annually and approved by the Canyon Fuel Management Board. The
production fee was calculated on a per-ton basis while the administration fee represented the costs incurred by
the Company’s employees related to Canyon Fuel administrative matters. The fees recognized as other operating
income by the Company and as expense by Canyon Fuel were $4.8 million and $8.5 million for the years
ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
From October 2002 through October 2004, the Company held an ownership interest in NRP. The
Company leases certain coal reserves from NRP and pays royalties to NRP for the right to mine those reserves.
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Terms of the leases require the Company to prepay royalties with those payments recoupable against
production. Amounts recognized as cost of coal sales for royalties paid to NRP during the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $15.4 million and $12.6 million, respectively.
20.

Guarantees

In accordance with the purchase and sale agreement with Magnum, the Company has agreed to continue
to provide surety bonds and letters of credit for reclamation and workers’ compensation obligations of Magnum
related to the properties sold in order to facilitate an orderly transition. The purchase and sale agreement
requires Magnum to reimburse the Company for costs related to the surety bonds and letters of credit and to
use commercially reasonable efforts after closing to replace the obligations. If the surety bonds and letters of
credit related to the reclamation obligations are not replaced by Magnum within two years of closing of the
transaction, then Magnum must post a letter of credit in favor of the Company in the amounts of the
obligations. If letters of credit related to the workers’ compensation obligation are not replaced within 360 days
following the closing of the transaction, Magnum shall post a letter of credit in favor of the Company in the
amounts of the obligation. Of the surety bonds related to reclamation obligations, $92.8 million relates to
properties sold to Magnum while $10.5 million of letters of credit related to the retiree healthcare obligation
relates to the properties sold to Magnum.
In addition, the Company has agreed to guarantee the performance of Magnum with respect to three coal
sales contracts and several property leases sold to Magnum. If Magnum is unable to perform with respect to the
coal sales contracts, the Company would be required to purchase coal on the open market or supply the
contract from its existing operations. If the Company purchased all of the coal for these contracts at market
prices effective at December 31, 2005, it would incur a loss of approximately $654.0 million related to the
contracts. If Magnum is unable to perform with respect to the property leases, the Company would be
responsible for future minimum royalty payments of approximately $12.4 million. The Company believes that
it is remote that the Company would be liable for any obligation related to these guarantees. However, if the
Company was to have to perform under these guarantees, it could potentially have a material adverse effect on
the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Company.
In connection with the Company’s acquisition of the coal operations of Atlantic Richfield Company
(‘‘ARCO’’) and the simultaneous combination of the acquired ARCO operations and the Company’s Wyoming
operations into the Arch Western joint venture, the Company agreed to indemnify another member of Arch
Western against certain tax liabilities in the event that such liabilities arise prior to June 1, 2013 as a result of
certain actions taken, including the sale or other disposition of certain properties of Arch Western, the
repurchase of certain equity interests in Arch Western by Arch Western or the reduction under certain
circumstances of indebtedness incurred by Arch Western in connection with the acquisition. If the Company
were to become liable, the maximum amount of potential future tax payments was $193.3 million at
December 31, 2005, of which none is recorded as a liability on the Company’s financial statements. Since the
indemnification is dependent upon the initiation of activities within the Company’s control and the Company
does not intend to initiate such activities, it is remote that the Company will become liable for any obligation
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related to this indemnification. However, if such indemnification obligation were to arise, it could potentially
have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial condition of the Company.
In addition, tax reporting applied to this transaction by the other member of Arch Western is under
review by the IRS. The Company does not believe it is probable that it will be impacted by the outcome of
this review. If the outcome of this review results in adjustments, the Company may be required to adjust its
deferred income taxes associated with its investment in Arch Western. Given the uncertainty of an adverse
outcome impacting the Company’s deferred income tax position as well as offsetting tax positions that the
Company may be able to take, the Company is not able to determine a range of the potential outcomes related
to this issue. Any change that impacts the Company related to the IRS review of the other member of this
transaction potentially could have a material adverse impact on its financial statements.
21.

Contingencies

The Company is a party to numerous claims and lawsuits with respect to various matters. The Company
provides for costs related to contingencies when a loss is probable and the amount is reasonably determinable.
After conferring with counsel, it is the opinion of management that the ultimate resolution of pending claims
will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial condition, results of operations or liquidity
of the Company.
In response to a declaratory judgment action filed by the Company’s subsidiary, Ark Land Company
(‘‘Ark Land’’), in Mingo County, West Virginia, against a landowner involving the interpretation of a severance
deed under which Ark Land controls the coal and mining rights on property in Mingo County, West Virginia,
the landowner filed a counterclaim against Ark Land and a third party complaint against the Company and
two of its other subsidiaries seeking damages for trespass, nuisance and property damage arising out of the
exercise of rights under the severance deed on the property by the Company’s subsidiaries. The defendant
alleged that the Company’s subsidiaries had insufficient rights to haul certain foreign coals across the property
without payment of certain wheelage or other fees to the defendant. In addition, the defendant alleged that the
Company and its subsidiaries violated West Virginia’s Standards for Management of Waste Oil and the West
Virginia Surface Coal Mining and Reclamation Act. This case went to trial on October 4, 2005. The
landowner’s counterclaim against Ark Land was dismissed along with its cross claim against one of the
Company’s subsidiaries and its claims for trespass, nuisance and wheelage. On October 12, 2005, the jury
entered a verdict in favor of the landowner on its remaining claims, assessing damages against the Company
and its subsidiary in the amount of $2.5 million. The jury found in the Company’s favor on its indemnity
claim against the Company’s subsidiary’s contractor, and awarded the Company $1.25 million on that claim.
The landowner also was awarded its reasonable attorneys’ fees, which have not yet been determined. The
Company has reached a settlement in principle with the landowner and the settlement is reflected in the
Company’s financial statements.
A landowner filed a lawsuit in the Circuit Court for Kanawha County, West Virginia, claiming, among
other things, that Ark Land, who leased West Virginia real estate from the landowner in exchange for royalties,
misrepresented certain facts involving a lease amendment and that it miscalculated and underpaid royalties
under the lease. The suit sought damages of approximately $14.5 million. Ark Land disputed its claims and
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filed a counterclaim for overpayment of royalties in the approximate amount of $260,000. The court directed
the parties to arbitrate their dispute in accordance with the terms of their lease. The arbitration began on
October 31, 2005, but the parties reached a settlement before the arbitrators decided the case. Under the terms
of the settlement, the Company agreed to pay the landowner $16.0 million in complete settlement of all claims
against the Company, which is reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Income in other expenses in the year
ended December 31, 2005.
22.

Cash Flow

The changes in operating assets and liabilities as shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows are
comprised of the following:
Year Ended December 31,
2005
2004
2003

Decrease (increase) in operating assets:
Receivables ***************************************** $(48,432)
Inventories *****************************************

$(31,570)

$ 18,805

(38,368)

(12,422)

(2,857)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses ******************

108,536

(6,780)

8,844

Income taxes ***************************************

(33,513)

(4,215)

(13,822)

Accrued postretirement benefits other than pension *********

28,660

18,019

27,558

Asset retirement obligations****************************

(8,631)

(7,555)

(20,606)

Accrued workers’ compensation ************************

(9,705)

(1,257)

(3,313)

Other *********************************************

14,701

(21,626)

(14,984)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities******************* $ 13,248

$(67,406)

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:

23.

$

(375)

Segment Information

The Company produces steam and metallurgical coal from surface and underground mines for sale to
utility, industrial and export markets. The Company operates only in the United States, with mines in the
major low-sulfur coal basins. The Company has three reportable business segments, which are based on the coal
basins in which the Company operates. Coal quality, coal seam height, transportation methods and regulatory
issues are generally consistent within a basin. Accordingly, market and contract pricing have developed by coal
basin. The Company manages its coal sales by coal basin, not by individual mine complex. Mine operations are
evaluated based on their per-ton operating costs (defined as including all mining costs but excluding passthrough transportation expenses). The Company’s reportable segments are Powder River Basin (PRB), Central
Appalachia (CAPP) and Western Bituminous (WBIT). The Company’s operations in the Powder River Basin
are located in Wyoming and include one operating surface mine and one idle surface mine. The Company’s
operations in Central Appalachia are located in southern West Virginia, eastern Kentucky and Virginia and
include 10 underground mines and five surface mines. The Company’s Western Bituminous operations are
located in southern Wyoming, Colorado and Utah and include four underground mines (one of which was
idled in May 2004) and two inactive surface mines in reclamation mode.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
Operating segment results for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 are presented below.
Results for the operating segments include all direct costs of mining. Corporate, Other and Eliminations includes
corporate overhead, land management, other support functions, and the elimination of intercompany transactions.
PRB

CAPP

WBIT

Coal sales ***********************

$ 756,874

$1,349,666

$ 402,233

Income (loss) from operations *******

132,174

Total assets **********************

1,333,289

Depreciation, depletion and
amortization *******************

Corporate,
Other and
Eliminations

Consolidated

$

$2,508,773

December 31, 2005
(15,830)

—

59,747

(98,234)

77,857

786,091

1,723,744

(791,684)

3,051,440

106,870

70,605

33,364

1,462

212,301

Capital expenditures***************

30,668

235,313

77,932

13,229

357,142

Operating cost per ton*************

7.21

43.24

16.40

PRB

CAPP

WBIT

Coal sales**********************

$ 582,421

$1,126,258

$ 198,489

Income from equity investments****

—

—

Income from operations **********

72,441

Total assets ********************

Corporate,
Other and
Eliminations

Consolidated

December 31, 2004
—

$1,907,168

8,410

2,418

10,828

39,196

18,145

48,264

178,046

1,154,317

2,088,224

1,663,764

Depreciation, depletion and
amortization *****************

78,074

62,761

24,113

1,374

166,322

Capital expenditures *************

55,035

84,450

23,276

129,844

292,605

Operating cost per ton ***********

6.19

34.84

15.71

PRB

CAPP

WBIT

$409,352

$ 917,981

$ 108,155

—

$

(1,649,770)

Corporate,
Other and
Eliminations

3,256,535

Consolidated

December 31, 2003
Coal sales ***********************

$

—

$1,435,488

19,707

14,683

34,390

22,951

4,174

40,371

Income from equity investments *****

—

Income (loss) from operations *******

57,118

Total assets **********************

975,796

1,964,384

1,087,508

Equity investments ****************

—

—

146,180

25,865

172,045

Depreciation, depletion and
amortization *******************

44,202

64,980

18,851

30,431

158,464

Capital expenditures***************

18,351

47,527

8,971

57,578

132,427

Operating cost per ton*************

5.45

30.87

15.41

(43,872)
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(1,640,039)

2,387,649

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
A reconciliation of segment income from operations to consolidated income (loss) before income taxes and
cumulative effect of accounting change follows:
2005

Income from operations ******************************** $ 77,857

2003

$178,046

$ 40,371

Interest expense***************************************

(72,409)

(62,634)

(50,133)

Interest income ***************************************

9,289

6,130

2,636

Other non-operating income (expense) ********************

(11,264)

(7,966)

4,256

Income (loss) before income taxes and cumulative effect of
accounting change*********************************** $ 3,473
24.

2004

$113,576

$ (2,870)

Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
Quarterly financial data for 2005 and 2004 is summarized below:
March 31
(a)(b)(c)

June 30
(b)

September 30
(a)(b)

December 31
(a)(b)(c)(d)

Coal sales*****************************

$600,464

$633,797

$654,716

$619,796

Gross profit ***************************

29,921

39,582

50,149

2,813

Income (loss) from operations*************

25,952

21,493

34,177

(3,765)

Net income (loss) available to common
shareholders *************************

4,778

1,677

17,129

(1,040)

Basic earnings (loss) per common share(h) ***

0.08

0.03

0.27

(0.02)

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share(h)

0.07

0.03

0.26

(0.02)

2005:

2004:
Coal sales****************************
Gross profit **************************
Income from operations ****************
Net income available to common
shareholders ************************
Basic earnings per common share(h)*******
Diluted earnings per common share(h)*****

March 31
(e)(f)

June 30
(e)(f)

September 30
(e)(f)

December 31
(a)(e)(f)(g)

$403,490
19,689
106,909

$422,778
23,449
24,870

$527,775
36,370
26,335

$553,125
22,692
19,932

68,186
1.27
1.14

9,311
0.17
0.17

8,979
0.16
0.16

20,043
0.33
0.32

(a) The Company recognized a gain of $6.3 million on the assignment of its rights and obligations on several
parcels of land in West Virginia and a gain of $7.3 million on a dragline sale in the first quarter of 2005,
and a gain of $9.0 million on the sale of surface land rights at its Central Appalachian operations in West
Virginia in the third quarter of 2005. In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company recognized a gain of
$46.5 million on the sale of a rail spur, rail loadout and an idle office complex, and a gain on the sale of
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
its Central Appalachian operations to Magnum of $7.5 million. During the fourth quarter of 2004, the
Company assigned its rights and obligations on a parcel of land to a third party resulting in a gain of
$5.8 million. The gains, other than those reflected separately, are reflected in other operating income.
(b) Unrealized losses on sulfur dioxide and coal swaps and options were $1.5 million, $0.5 million,
$5.5 million and $12.2 million during the four quarters of 2005, respectively.
(c) In the first and fourth quarters, the Company recognized charges under its performance-contingent
phantom stock plans of $9.9 million and $4.5 million, respectively, as a component of selling, general and
administrative expense ($9.1 million and $4.5 million, respectively) and cost of coal sales ($0.8 million
and $0), respectively.
(d) On October 27, 2005, the Company conducted a precautionary evacuation of its West Elk mine after the
Company detected elevated readings of combustion-related gases in an area of the mine where the
Company had completed mining activities but had not yet removed all remaining longwall equipment.
The Company has successfully controlled the combustion-related gases, reentered and rehabilitated the
mine and has taken actions to commence longwall mining which the Company expects to begin late in
the first quarter. The Company estimates that the financial impact of idling the mine and fighting the fire
during the fourth quarter was $33.3 million in reduced operating profit.
(e) The Company sold the remainder of its investment in Natural Resource Partners in June and October
2004. The Company recognized gains of $89.6 million, $0.3 million, $0.3 million and $1.1 million in
the four quarters of 2004, respectively.
(f)

During the year ended December 31, 2004, Canyon Fuel, which was accounted for under the equity
method through July 31, 2004, began the process of idling its Skyline Mine (the idling process was
completed in May 2004), and incurred severance costs of $3.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2004. The Company’s share of these costs totals $2.1 million and is reflected in income from equity
investments. The impact on the 2004 financial results was a charge of $1.2 million during the first quarter
and a charge of $0.9 million in the second quarter.

(g) During 2004, the Company filed a royalty rate reduction request with the Bureau of Land Management
(‘‘BLM’’) for its West Elk mine in Colorado. The BLM notified the Company that it would receive a
royalty rate reduction for a specified number of tons representing a retroactive portion for the year totaling
$2.7 million. The retroactive portion was recognized as a component of cost of coal sales in the
Consolidated Statement of Income.
(h) The sum of the quarterly earnings (loss) per common share amounts may not equal earnings (loss) per
common share for the full year because per share amounts are computed independently for each quarter
and for the year based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each
period.
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Schedule II

Arch Coal, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Balance at
Beginning of
Year

Additions
Charged to
Charged to Costs
Other
and Expenses
Accounts
(In thousands)

Deductions(1)

Balance at
End of Year

Year ended December 31, 2005
Reserves deducted from asset accounts
Other assets — other notes and
accounts receivable **************

$

3,001

$1,345

$ (944)(2) $ 1,625

$

1,777

Current assets — supplies and
inventory *********************

22,976

(630)

(5,780)(2)

1,231

15,335

Deferred income taxes *************

163,005

(6,138)

6,296 (4)

—

163,163

Year ended December 31, 2004
Reserves deducted from asset accounts
Other assets — other notes and
accounts receivable **************

1,469

570

962 (3)

—

3,001

Current assets — supplies and
inventory *********************

18,763

1,746

3,010 (3)

543

22,976

Deferred income taxes *************

161,113

2,157 (4)

—

163,005

3,740 (5)

(265)

Year ended December 31, 2003
Reserves deducted from asset accounts
Other assets — other notes and
accounts receivable **************

3,894

1,315

—

Current assets — supplies and
inventory *********************

17,515

1,583

—

335

18,763

Deferred income taxes *************

145,603

3,543

11,967 (6)

—

161,113

1,469

(1) Reserves utilized, unless otherwise indicated.
(2) Balance upon disposition of central Appalachian operations.
(3) Balance at acquisition date of subsidiaries.
(4) Amount represents the valuation allowance for tax benefits from the exercise of employee stock options.
The benefit, net of valuation allowance, was recorded as paid-in capital.
(5) Amount represents state net operating loss carryforwards identified in 2003 which were fully reserved.
(6) Amount includes $1.6 million that was recognized as income upon collection of the related receivable.
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Selected Financial Information
Year Ended December 31,
2005
2004
2003
2002
(1)(2)(3)(4)(5)(6) (8)(9)(10)(11) (8)(9)(10)(12) (13)(14)(15)
(7)(8)(10)
(In thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:
Coal sales revenue *******************
Income from operations **************
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of
accounting change*****************
Cumulative effect of accounting change **

$2,508,773
77,857

$1,907,168 $1,435,488 $1,473,558 $1,403,370
178,046
40,371
29,277
62,456

38,123
—

113,706
—

20,340
(3,654)

(2,562)
—

7,209
—

38,123
(15,579)

113,706
(7,187)

16,686
(6,589)

(2,562)
—

7,209
—

$

22,544

$ 106,519 $

10,097 $

(2,562) $

7,209

Net income (loss) *******************
Preferred stock dividends *************
Net income (loss) available to common
stockholders**********************

2001
(16)(17)(18)

Basic earnings (loss) per common share
before cumulative effect of accounting
change **************************
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share
before cumulative effect of accounting
change **************************
Basic earnings (loss) per common share **
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share

$

0.35

$

1.91 $

0.26 $

(0.05) $

0.15

$
$
$

0.35
0.35
0.35

$
$
$

1.78 $
1.91 $
1.78 $

0.26 $
0.19 $
0.19 $

(0.05) $
(0.05) $
(0.05) $

0.15
0.15
0.15

Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets ************************
Working capital *********************
Long-term debt, less current maturities **
Other long-term obligations ***********
Stockholders’ equity *****************

$3,051,440
216,376
971,755
382,256
1,184,241

$3,256,535 $2,387,649 $2,182,808 $2,203,559
355,803
237,007
37,799
49,813
1,001,323
700,022
740,242
767,355
800,332
722,954
653,789
625,819
1,079,826
688,035
534,863
570,742

$

$

Common Stock Data:
Dividends per share******************
Shares outstanding at year-end *********

0.32
71,371

Cash Flow Data:
Cash provided by operating activities ****
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Capital expenditures *****************
Dividend payments ******************

$ 254,607
212,301
357,142
27,639

Operating Data:
Tons sold **************************
Tons produced**********************
Tons purchased from third parties ******

140,202
129,685
11,226
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0.2975 $
62,858

0.23 $
53,205

0.23 $
52,434

0.23
52,353

$ 146,728 $ 162,361 $ 176,417 $ 145,661
166,322
158,464
174,752
177,504
292,605
132,427
137,089
123,414
24,043
17,481
12,045
11,565
123,060
115,861
12,572

100,634
93,966
6,602

106,691
99,641
8,060

109,455
104,471
5,569

(1) On December 30, 2005, we completed a reserve swap with Peabody Energy and sold to Peabody a rail
spur, rail loadout and an idle office complex, all of which is located in the Powder River Basin for a
purchase price of $84.6 million. As a result of the transaction, we recognized a gain of $46.5 million which
we recorded as a component of other operating income.
(2) On December 31, 2005, we accepted for conversion 2,724,418 shares of preferred stock, representing
approximately 95% of the issued and outstanding preferred stock, pursuant to the terms of a conversion
offer. As a result of the conversion offer, we issued an aggregate of 6,534,517 shares of common stock
pursuant to the conversion terms of the preferred stock and an aggregate premium of 119,602 shares of
common stock. We recognized a preferred stock dividend of $9.5 million as a result of the issuance of the
premium of 119,602 shares of common stock.
(3) On December 31, 2005, we sold all of the stock of three subsidiaries and their associated mining
operations and coal reserves in Central Appalachia to Magnum Coal Company. As a result of the
transaction, we recognized a gain of $7.5 million which we recorded as a component of other operating
income.
(4) In December 2005, we settled a dispute with one of our landowners. As a result of the settlement, we
recognized an expense of $16.0 million which we recorded as a component of other expenses.
(5) During the year ended December 31, 2005, we recognized gains from land, equipment and facility sales
of $28.2 million.
(6) During the year ended December 31, 2005, we recorded expenses of $19.7 million related to changes in
fair market value of sulfur dioxide and coal derivatives as a component of other operating income.
(7) On October 27, 2005, we conducted a precautionary evacuation of our West Elk mine after we detected
elevated readings of combustion-related gases in an area of the mine where we had completed mining
activities but had not yet removed final longwall equipment. We estimate that the financial impact of
idling the mine and fighting the fire during the fourth quarter of 2005 was $33.3 million in reduced
operating profit.
(8) As discussed in Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements, we recognized expenses under our longterm incentive compensation plans of $19.5 million in 2005, $5.5 million in 2004 and $16.2 million in
2003.
(9) During 2004 and 2003, we sold our investment in Natural Resource Partners in four separate transactions
occurring in December 2003 and March, June and October 2004. We recognized a gain of $42.7 million
in the fourth quarter of 2003 and an aggregate gain of $91.3 million during 2004.
(10) In connection with our repayment of Arch Western’s term loans in 2003, we recognized expenses of
$7.7 million in 2005, $8.3 million in 2004 and $4.3 million in 2003 related to the costs resulting from
the termination of hedge accounting for interest rate swaps. We also recognized expenses of $0.7 million
during 2004 and $4.7 million during 2003 related to early debt extinguishment costs. Additionally,
subsequent to the termination of hedge accounting for interest rate swaps, we recognized income of
$13.4 million in 2003 related to changes in the market value of the swaps.
(11) During 2004, we assigned our rights and obligations on a parcel of land to a third party resulting in a
gain of $5.8 million which we recorded as a component of other operating income.
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(12) On January 1, 2003, we adopted FAS 143 resulting in a cumulative effect of accounting change of
$3.7 million (net of tax).
(13) During the year ended December 31, 2002, we settled certain coal contracts with a customer that was
partially unwinding its coal supply position and desired to buy out of the remaining terms of those
contracts. The settlements resulted in a pre-tax gain of $5.6 million which we recorded as a component of
other revenues.
(14) We recognized a pre-tax gain of $4.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2002 as a result of a
workers’ compensation premium adjustment refund from the State of West Virginia. During 1998, we
entered into the West Virginia workers’ compensation plan at one of our subsidiary operations. The
subsidiary paid standard base rates until the West Virginia Division of Workers’ Compensation could
determine the actual rates based on claims experience. Upon review, the Division of Workers’
Compensation refunded $4.6 million in premiums which we recognized as an adjustment to cost of coal
sales.
(15) During 2002, we filed a royalty rate reduction request with the BLM for our West Elk mine in Colorado.
The BLM notified us that it would receive a royalty rate reduction for a specified number of tons
representing a retroactive portion for the year totaling $3.3 million. We recognized the retroactive portion
as a component of cost of coal sales. Additionally in 2002, Canyon Fuel was notified by the BLM that it
would receive a royalty rate reduction for certain tons mined at its Skyline mine. The rate reduction
applies to certain tons mined representing a retroactive refund of $1.1 million. We recorded the retroactive
amount as a component of income from equity investments.
(16) At the West Elk underground mine in Gunnison County, Colorado, following the detection of
combustion-related gases in a portion of the mine, we idled our operation on January 28, 2000. On
July 12, 2000, after controlling the combustion-related gases, we resumed production at the West Elk
mine and started to ramp up to normal levels of production. We recognized partial pre-tax insurance
settlements of $31.0 million during 2000 and a final pre-tax insurance settlement related to the event of
$9.4 million during 2001.
(17) The IRS issued a notice outlining the procedures for obtaining tax refunds on certain excise taxes paid by
the industry on export sales tonnage. The notice was the result of a 1998 federal court decision that
found such taxes to be unconstitutional. We recorded $12.7 million of pre-tax income related to these
excise tax recoveries during 2000. During 2001, we recorded an additional $4.6 million of pre-tax income
resulting from additional favorable developments associated with these tax refunds.
(18) We recognized a $7.4 million pre-tax gain during 2001 from a state tax credit covering prior periods.
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Corporate Governance and Stockholder Information
Common Stock
Our common stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol ‘‘ACI’’ and
also has unlisted trading privileges on the Chicago Stock Exchange. The following table sets forth for each
period indicated the dividends paid per common share, the high and low sale prices of our common stock and
the closing price of our common stock on the last trading day for each of the quarterly periods indicated.
March 31

June 30

2005
September 30

December 31

Dividends per common share *****************

$ 0.08

$ 0.08

$ 0.08

$ 0.08

High ************************************

$47.53

$55.76

$69.93

$82.20

Low *************************************

$33.19

$40.30

$50.28

$60.99

Close ************************************

$43.01

$54.57

$67.50

$79.50

March 31

June 30

2004
September 30

December 31

Dividends per common share *****************

$ 0.06

$ 0.08

$ 0.08

$ 0.08

High ************************************

$32.89

$36.99

$36.93

$39.00

Low *************************************

$26.20

$27.73

$30.10

$31.86

Close ************************************

$31.39

$36.59

$35.49

$35.54

On March 1, 2006, our common stock closed at $75.65 on the New York Stock Exchange. At that date,
there were 9,084 holders of record of our common stock.
Dividends
We paid dividends on our outstanding shares of common stock totaling $20.7 million, or $0.32 per share,
in 2005 and $16.9 million, or $0.2975 per share, in 2004. There is no assurance as to the amount or payment
of dividends in the future because they are dependent on our future earnings, capital requirements and financial
condition.
Code of Business Conduct
We have established a Code of Business Conduct which operates as our code of ethics and which applies
to all of our salaried employees, including our chief executive officer, chief financial officer and controller. The
Code of Business Conduct is published under ‘‘Corporate Governance’’ in the Investors section of our website
at archcoal.com.
Corporate Governance Guidelines
Our Board of Directors has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines which address various matters
pertaining to director selection and duties. The guidelines are published under ‘‘Corporate Governance’’ in the
Investors section of our website at archcoal.com.
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Committee Charters
Each of the Audit, Personnel & Compensation and Nominating & Corporate Governance Committees of
our Board of Directors has adopted and maintains a written charter. Each of these charters is published under
‘‘Corporate Governance’’ in the Investors section of our website at archcoal.com.
Stock Information
Questions by stockholders regarding stockholder records, stock transfers, stock certificates, dividends or
other stock inquiries (other than our Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase Plan) should be
directed to:
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane, Plaza Level
New York, New York 10038
(800) 360-4519
amstock.com
Requests for information about our Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase and Sale Plan
should be directed to:
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
P.O. Box 922
Wall Street Station
New York, New York 10269-0560
(877) 390-3073
amstock.com
Independent Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
190 Carondelet Plaza, Suite 1300
St. Louis, Missouri 63105
Certifications
The most recent certifications by our Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are filed as exhibits to our Form 10-K for 2005. We submitted
our most recent chief executive officer certification to the New York Stock Exchange on June 10, 2005.
Document Copies
Copies of the above documents and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2005 are available without charge. Requests for these documents, as well as inquires from stockholders and
security analysis, should be directed to:
Investor Relations
Arch Coal, Inc.
One CityPlace Drive, Suite 300
St. Louis, Missouri 63141
(314) 994-2717
archcoal.com
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures
We have disclosed certain financial measures in this annual report that do not conform to accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States, which we refer to as GAAP. Adjusted earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, which we refer to as adjusted EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA
excluding special items, operating income excluding special items, net income available to common shareholders
excluding special items and earnings per common share excluding special items are not measures of financial
performance in accordance with GAAP and exclude items which are significant in understanding and assessing
our results of operations and our financial condition. As a result, you should not read these financial measures
in isolation or as alternatives to net income, income from operations or earnings per common share, and you
should not consider these financial measures accurate measures of our profitability, liquidity or performance
under GAAP. We believe that these financial measures are useful measures of our ability to service and incur
debt based on our ongoing operations. Additionally, we believe industry analysts use analogous measures to
evaluate our operating performance. You should be aware that our presentation of these financial measures may
not be comparable to similarly-titled measures used by other companies. The following table shows our
calculation of adjusted EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA excluding special items, operating income excluding special
items, net income available to common shareholders excluding special items and earnings per common share
excluding special items:
Year Ended December 31,
2005
2004
2003
(Amounts in millions)
(Unaudited)

Adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA excluding special items:
Net income, as reported ********************************************* $ 38.1
Adjustments:
Interest expense, net **********************************************
63.1
Income tax benefit************************************************
(34.7)
Depreciation, depletion and amortization ****************************** 212.3
Depreciation, depletion and amortization — Canyon Fuel Company, LLC ***
—
Expenses from early extinguishment of debt and other non-operating expenses
11.3
Cumulative effect of accounting change *******************************
—
Adjusted EBITDA**********************************************
Special items:
Gain on sale of Powder River Basin assets *****************************
Gain on sale of Central Appalachian operations*************************
Reduced operating profit from West Elk thermal event *******************
Arbitration and legal settlements*************************************
Long-term incentive compensation expense ****************************
Establishment of charitable foundation********************************
Gain on sale of investment in Natural Resource Partners L.P. *************
Severance costs/reduction in workforce********************************

$ 16.7

56.5
(0.1)
166.3
10.4
8.0
—

47.5
(23.2)
158.5
21.4
(4.3)
3.7

290.1

354.8

220.3

(46.5)
(7.5)
33.3
16.0
14.4
5.0
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
(91.3)
2.1

—
—
—
—
17.3
—
(42.7)
2.6

Adjusted EBITDA excluding special items *************************** $304.8
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$113.7

$265.6

$197.5

Year Ended December 31,
2005
2004
2003
(Amounts in millions)
(Unaudited)

Operating income excluding special items:
Income from operations, as reported *********************************** $ 77.8
Special items:
Gain on sale of Powder River Basin assets *****************************
(46.5)
Gain on sale of Central Appalachian operations*************************
(7.5)
Reduced operating profit from West Elk thermal event *******************
33.3
Arbitration and legal settlements*************************************
16.0
Long-term incentive compensation expense ****************************
14.4
Establishment of charitable foundation********************************
5.0
Gain on sale of investment in Natural Resource Partners L.P. *************
—
Severance costs/reduction in workforce********************************
—
Operating income excluding special items *************************** $ 92.5
Net income available to common shareholders excluding special items and
earnings per common share excluding special items:
Net income, as reported ********************************************* $ 38.1
Special items:
Gain on sale of Powder River Basin assets *****************************
(46.5)
Gain on sale of Central Appalachian operations*************************
(7.5)
Reduced operating profit from West Elk thermal event *******************
33.3
Arbitration and legal settlements*************************************
16.0
Long-term incentive compensation expense ****************************
14.4
Establishment of charitable foundation********************************
5.0
Gain on sale of investment in Natural Resource Partners L.P. *************
—
Severance costs/reduction in workforce********************************
—
Other non-operating income****************************************
11.3
Cumulative effect of accounting change *******************************
—
Tax impact of excluded items ***************************************
(1.8)
Net income excluding special items ********************************
Preferred stock dividends applicable to the dilution calculation ***************

62.3
—

Net income available to common shareholders excluding special items ***** $ 62.3

$178.1
—
—
—
—
—
—
(91.3)
2.1

—
—
—
—
17.3
—
(42.7)
2.6

$ 88.9

$ 17.6

$113.7

$ 16.7

—
—
—
—
—
—
(91.3)
2.1
8.0
—
20.6

—
—
—
—
17.3
—
(42.7)
2.6
(4.3)
3.7
6.3

53.1
(7.2)

(0.4)
(6.6)

$ 45.9

Fully diluted shares outstanding ***************************************
Adjustments:
Impact of convertible preferred stock that would be dilutive ***************
Impact of convertible preferred stock that would not be dilutive ***********

65.0

63.7

6.5
—

—
(6.9)

Fully diluted shares outstanding after adjustments *********************

71.5

56.8

Earnings per common share excluding special items ******************* $ 0.87

$ 0.81
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$ 40.4

$ (7.0)
52.9
—
—
52.9
$ (0.13)

